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LISTING INFORMATION

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Stock Exchange”)
Stock Code: 1418

WEBSITE

www.sinomax.com/group

INVESTOR RELATIONS CONTACT

Email: i@sinomax.com
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
RA T 22

2022 2021
20226F 20214
Operating results (HK$'000) REEE (THET)
Revenue LN 3,151,960 4,259,882
Gross profit ER 622,744 716953
(Loss)/profit before tax BrigAT (8518) & F (49,210) 37,869
(Loss)/profit for the year R (18 /87 (37,185) 31,435
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to owners RABHERB ABEEA
of the Company (&518) /&7 (35,970) 15,305
Financial position (HK$'000) AR (F#T)
Total assets REE 2,237,942 2,828,870
Net current assets mEEETE 277,049 377,733
Unsecured bank borrowings RIRIRIBITIERR 522,259 588,273
Net assets BEFE 886,940 1,006,618
Net assets attributable to owners of the Company ARBHEEANEGEERE 895,201 992,819
Per share data (HK cents) SREE (Bl)
Dividend per share SREE
— Interim —HH# - -
~ Final — R - 04
~Total — 485t - 0.4
(Losses)/earnings per share Sk (B18) /&BF
— Basic —E&K (2.06) 0.87
- Diluted -8 (2.06) 0.87
Net assets value per share SREBEEZE 50.7 57.5
Share price as at 31 December R12B31 BNRE 6.9 235

6 Sinomax Group Limited 2022 Annual Report



FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

FAFSEEE
2022 2021
20226 20214
Key statistics TEHE
Gross profit margin (%) EMZE %) 19.8% 16.8%
Net (loss)/profit margin (%) F (B518) /&A= (%) (1.2%) 0.7%
Inventory turnover (days) FEBEXH (XH) 90.8 664
Debtors' turnover (days) BEBRANBEXH (K8 76.7 66.7
Creditors' turnover (days) BEREANEEXH (X&) 68.5 613
Payout ratio (%) TKEZE(%) N/A RiER 22.3%*
Dividend yield (%) P S 7 2R (%) N/A REH 1.7%
Return on total assets (%) BEELRE(%) (1.7%) 1.1%
Return on net assets (%) FEERIIRE (%) (4.2%) 3.1%
Gearing ratio (%) BEGBLEER®%) 58.9% 58.4%
Current ratio (%) TRENELZE(%) 125.3% 124.7%

* Payout ratio is equal to dividend divided by profit for the year

*

KERER R BIRUERER

BEEBEERAA

WINEFEERSE
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EEREH

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Sinomax Group
Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, collectively, the “Group”), | have great
pleasure of presenting to you our annual report for the financial year ended 31 December
2022 (the "Reporting Period").

Covid-19 continued to impact the community and business globally. Our factories in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"), the United States (the “US") and Vietnam did not
operate smoothly and the governments had implemented various measures to slow down the
spread of COVID-19 during 2022. The trade war between the US and the PRC and the anti-

dumping issues remained as barriers to our operations worldwide.

With COVID-19 prevailing for three years, more and more consumers had shifted their
purchasing pattern of bedding products from offline to online. The Group has invested more
resources in E-commerce sales channels to improve our brand recognition. Demands from our
customers, particularly in the US, for Mattress-in-a-Box, one of the Group's major products

sold through online channels, have been encouraging.

In April 2022, one of our US subsidiaries, Sinomax USA Inc., won the silver
medal for the 2022 Edison Award. The Edison Awards recognizes, honors
and fosters innovators and innovations that positively impact the world.
Specifically, Ecossentials® Sleep Kit — Biossentials™ Memory Foam with NEW
Sustainable Shift™ Packaging was nominated in the category of Sustainability

and medalled in the category of Environmental Impact.

In December 2022, Sinomax USA Inc. won the “Best Sustainable Supplier” and “Best Bedding;
Mattress Topper Supplier’ awards from industry news & media giant, Home Textiles Today. Our
industry experience and expertise coupled with cutting edge innovation, vertical integration

and domestic manufacturing capabilities have made us a favorable company within the industry.

Sinomax Group Limited 2022 Annual Report
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In the coming year, we anticipate that the impact from COVID-19 will gradually diminish. We
will remain cautiously optimistic and we will actively put in resources to explore businesses
with higher growth potential and reduce expenditure. We will make good use of our strengths
and explore opportunities in the growing “Mattress-in-a Box" market, and diversify our
customer base in order to maintain our position as one of the leading experts in visco-elastic

health and wellness products in the US and the retail markets in Hong Kong and the PRC.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to thank all staff members for
their dedication to the Group, and the shareholders, valued customers, suppliers, bankers and

other business partners for their continuous support.

Lam Chi Fan

Chairman

28 March 2023

Lam Chi Fan #E R
Chairman EZF
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ESEREH
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEwAS

Revenue by operating segment RISEDEREIDHIA

During the Reporting Period, revenue of the Group decreased by approximately HK$1,107.9 RBEH AEBBNBARLDE,107988
million or approximately 26.0% to approximately HK$3,152.0 million (FY202I: approximately 7530 4926.0%ZE £93,152.08 B & 7T (2021
HK$4,259.9 million). FEERE 9425998 BB TT) o

For the year ended 31 December

HENAALEE

2022 2021 Changes

20225 202145 =)

HK$'000 HK$'000 %

FHERT FHET %

China market PR 5 1,470,746 2,222,881 (33.8%)
North American market EEH5 1,214,227 1,573,442 (22.8%)
Europe and other overseas markets B e E 8 I 45 466,987 463,559 0.7%
Total “aEt 3,151,960 459,882 (26.0%)

Sales in the China market and the North American market decreased by approximately 33.8% BERANPEMERILETSHNHEEE
and 22.8%, respectively, for the Reporting Period, as compared to FY2021.The decrease was B0 BEEMRLE DB TBA33.8% K
mainly due to continual outbreak of the COVID-19 which had critically weakened both China 228% TEMNFERAREZMTMK B ER
and global consumption market. BRYE BERXETHENZKHEET S

In Europe and other overseas markets, we recorded an increase of sales of approximately TEMNREMBESNTE RMREBRSHBE

0.7% for the Reporting Period, as compared to FY2021.The increase was mainly due to the FRSHERER202 I M FEIEMNA0.7% o

increase in demand in Europe. ZHETERRMENE S BRESFH
5o

10 Sinomax Group Limited 2022 Annual Report



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Gross profit

The Group's gross profit (the "GP") decreased by approximately HK$94.2 million or
approximately 13.1% to approximately HK$622.7 million during the Reporting Period,
as compared to approximately HK$717.0 million for FY2021. Meanwhile, the GP margin
increased by 3.0% from approximately 16.8% to approximately 19.8% as compared to FY2021.
The increase in GP margin was due to the decrease in the purchase price of raw materials of

polyurethane foam and freight charges during the Reporting Period, as compared to FY2021.

Costs and expenses

Selling and distribution costs for the Reporting Period increased by approximately HK$4.3
million or 1.0% to approximately HK$424.5 million, as compared to approximately HK$420.2
million for FY2021.The increase was mainly due to the increase in advertising and marketing
expenses for E-commerce channel, in which the sales for direct-to-customers increased by

13% as compared to last year.

Administrative expenses for the Reporting Period decreased by approximately HK$10.5
million or 5.3% to approximately HK$188.7 million, as compared to approximately HK$199.2

million for FY2021.The decrease was mainly due to decrease in employee benefits expenses.

(Loss)/profit for the Reporting Period

Loss for the Reporting Period amounted to approximately HK$37.2 million as compared to

profit for the year amounting to approximately HK$3 1.4 million for FY2021.

This was primarily attributable to the continual outbreak of the COVID-19 which had critically

weakened both local and global consumption market and also the sales of the Group.

Income tax credit/(expenses)

Included in income tax credit/(expenses), there were payments of PRC withholding tax on
distributable profits from the Group's PRC subsidiaries of approximately HK$3.4 million
(FY2021: HK$0.7 million). The increase was mainly due to increase in distributable profits from

the Group's PRC subsidiaries.
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AR
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BEAREE A N13% 0

REHNTEEZR20IHBEENLD
199 2B B BTRLAI05BEBITHS.3%
EQNIs7TABR T o ZA L ETERARES
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEwAS

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had net current assets of approximately HK$277.0
million, as compared to approximately HK$377.7 million as at 3| December 2021. Net cash
from operating activities amounted to approximately HK$191.0 million for the Reporting
Period as compared to approximately HK$156.8 million for FY2021. Bank balance and cash as
at 31 December 2022 decreased by approximately HK$59.6 million or approximately 26.1%
to approximately HK$169.0 million as compared to approximately HK$228.5 million as at 31
December 2021.

Borrowings and pledge of assets

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had banking facilities amounting to approximately
HK$1,106.9 million of which approximately HK$527.5 million was utilised (FY2021: banking
facilities amounting to approximately HK$1,028.5 million of which approximately HK$624.0

million was utilised) (which included unsecured bank borrowings and bills payables).

Capital expenditure

The Group's capital expenditure for the Reporting Period amounted to approximately
HK$51.0 million (FY2021: HK$48.6 million) which was mainly for the purchase of the Group's

plant and machinery.

12 Sinomax Group Limited 2022 Annual Report
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEwAS

Financial ratios BAFSEER
As at As at
1 i
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
2002128318 2021 12831H
Current ratio () TRENEEEO 125.3% 124.7%
Quick ratio @ REN O 74.6% 78.7%
Gearing ratio @ BEBMBALEXO 58.9% 58.4%
Debt to equity ratio ¢ BB AR 39.8% 35.7%

0 Current ratio is equal to current assets divided by current liabilities.

O RBLERERBEERUABERHE -

@ Quick ratio is equal to current assets less inventories and divided by current liabilities. @ R ERRGEEAFEERURBEE
L
® Gearing ratio is derived by dividing interest-bearing debt incurred in the ordinary course of @ EESBEXBEEEERBRERELEN

business by total equity.

® Debt to equity ratio is calculated by dividing net debt by total equity. Net debt is defined to

include all borrowings net of cash and cash equivalents.

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE

The Group carries on business mainly in Hong Kong, the PRC, the US and Vietnam. The Group
is exposed to foreign exchange risk principally in Renminbi and Vietnamese Dong which
can be largely offset by its revenue and expenditure in the PRC and Vietnam. The Group
does not expect any appreciation or depreciation of Hong Kong Dollar against Renminbi
and Vietnamese Dong which could materially affect the Group's results of operations, and
therefore no hedging instrument has been employed. The Group will closely monitor the
trends of Renminbi and Vietnamese Dong and take appropriate measures to deal with the

foreign exchange exposure if necessary.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEwAS

TREASURY POLICY AND MARKET RISKS

The Group has a treasury policy that aims at better controlling its treasury operations and

lowering borrowing cost. Such treasury policy requires the Group to maintain an adequate

level of cash and cash equivalents and sufficient available banking facilities to finance the

Group's daily operations and to address short term funding needs. The Group reviews and

evaluates its treasury policy from time to time to ensure its adequacy and effectiveness.

PROSPECTS

The year 2022 has been another challenging year. Impact from COVID-19 and the continuance

of the US-China trade war both adversely affected the consumption market and sales of the

Group. However, in early 2023, the following development was noted:

14

The relaxation of most COVID-19 measures is expected to bring new business

opportunities to the Group;

Inflation in the US was high but there are signs of slow down;

The overstock position of some of our customers in the US has improved and the

number of new orders from them is increasing;

Purchase price of our raw materials and the logistic costs have decreased, and our gross
profit margin in the first two months of 2023 increased slightly comparing with the

same period in 2022; and

We have successfully developed new online sales projects in the US in 2023. We
expect that the demand for Mattress-in-a-Box, one of the Group's major products
sold through online channels, is strong. We are optimistic that the growth in sales of
Mattress-in-aBox will be encouraging and will generate more sales and profits for the

Group.

Sinomax Group Limited 2022 Annual Report
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

With factories in the PRC, the US and Vietnam, we are able to source raw materials from
countries with lower costs (including production, tariff and shipping costs), resutting in more
cost-efficient operations. It also provides the Group with the flexibility to supply globally to

meet various customers' demand.

We will closely monitor the customers” demand as well as the production costs and will
increase our investment in relevant equipment and resources as appropriate to cope with the
increasing demands in the US.We will continue to explore more opportunities in the growing
Mattress-in-a-Box market and to diversify our customer base in order to maintain our position
as one of the leading experts in visco-elastic health and wellness products in the US and the

retail markets in Hong Kong and the PRC.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Prospects” above, the Group does not have other

plans for material investments or capital assets.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the

Company's listed securities during the Reporting Period.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated 7 February 2023.

In February 2023, the Group was informed by one of its customers in the US, Serta Simmons
Bedding, LLC ("SSB"), that it has entered into a restructuring support agreement with key
financial stakeholders that will significantly reduce its debt and enable it to continue making
critical investments in its business and brands. To implement the restructuring contemplated
by the agreement, SSB and most of its US corporate entities have initiated a voluntary
prearranged court-supervised process (“Reorganisation Plan”) under Chapter | of the US
Bankruptcy Code in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of Texas
(the "SSB Filing").
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEmED R

In light of the Reorganisation Plan, the Board is of the view that the SSB Filing is unlikely to
have any significant impact on the Group's business or financial condition. The Company will
closely monitor the progress of the SSB Filing and take appropriate action to minimize the
negative impact on the Group, if any. The Company will make further announcement to inform
the shareholders and potential investors of any material developments of the matter as and

when appropriate.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2022, the employee headcount of the Group was 2,477 (FY2021:
3,258) and the total staff costs, including Directors’ remuneration and share option
expenses, amounted to approximately HK$482.7 million for the Reporting Period (FY2021:
approximately HK$542.2 million). The decrease in staff costs was primarily due to decrease in

headcount.

The Group offers competitive remuneration packages commensurate with industry practice
and provides various fringe benefits to employees including housing and travel allowances
depending on their grade and ranking within the Group. The Group also maintains medical
insurance for the benefit of its employees. The Group conducts induction training for all of its
new employees and on-going training from time to time during their employment. The nature
of training offered depends on their specific field of operation. The Group also operates an
employee incentive scheme pursuant to which rewards take the form of promotions, salary

raises and monetary bonuses, and a share option scheme.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Company who

held office during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report are as follows:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

LAM Chi Fan, aged 64

Mr. Lam is a co-founder of the Group, the Chairman of the Group and an executive Director:
Mr. Lam is also the chairman of the Company's nomination committee and a member of the
Company's remuneration committee. Mr. Lam was appointed to the Board in June 2012. Mr.
Lam is responsible for formulation of the overall business strategies of the Group. He is also
responsible for the business planning and management of the Group. Mr. Lam is also a director
of certain subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Lam has over 20 years' experience in the polyurethane
foam business. Prior to founding the Group in January 2000, he was a director of Luen Tai
Component Limited, a company engaging in the sales of foam products, from March 1991
to July 1996. He is a member of the [3th Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference
Jiashan, Zhejiang Province Committee, the vice president of the Shau Kei Wan District of the
Scout Association of Hong Kong, an affiliated supervisor of the Huangpu Customs of PRC
and the president of the Dongguan City Tang Xia Association of Enterprises with Foreign
Investment. Mr. Lam is the uncle of Mr. Cheung Tung, the President and an executive Director;
the father of Mr. Lam Sze Chiu, a senior management member of the Group; and a cousin of

Ms. Lam Fei Man, an executive Director.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
ESkEREEE

CHEUNG Tung, aged 47

Mr. Cheung is the President of the Company and an executive Director. Mr. Cheung joined
the Group in 2003 as the Chairman’s assistant, responsible for handling the information
technology infrastructure of the Group. He was appointed to the Board in June 2012. He is
currently responsible for the overall management and daily operations of the Group. He is also
a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Cheung assisted
in setting up C&T Solutions Limited, a company engaging in providing information technology
services, in March 2000. Mr. Cheung holds a bachelor's degree in computer engineering
from the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology and a master's degree in business
administration jointly issued by Northwestern University and the Hong Kong University of
Science and Technology. Mr. Cheung was granted the “Young Industrialist Award of Hong Kong
2014" by the Federation of Hong Kong Industries. Mr: Cheung is a nephew of Mr. Lam Chi Fan,
the Chairman and an executive Director; a nephew of Ms. Lam Fei Man, an executive Director;

and a cousin of Mr. Lam Sze Chiu, a senior management member of the Group.

CHEN Feng, aged 59

Mr. Chen is an executive Director He was appointed to the Board in June 2012. He
is responsible for the overall management of the export sales business and product
development of the Group. He is also the key executive in mapping the sales and marketing
strategies in the US through Sinomax USA Inc. (“Sinomax USA"). He is a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Group. Mr: Chen joined the Group in January 2000 as an export sales
manager and became the vice president of the Group in 2007. He assisted in setting up
Sinomax USA, a company engaging in export sales in the US, and has been the president and
director of Sinomax USA since its establishment in 2005. Mr. Chen holds a Master of Science
degree in industrial engineering from Louisiana State University and a Bachelor of Engineering
degree in safety engineering from Beijing College of Economics, now known as Capital
University of Economics and Business. Mr. Chen is a cousin of the mother of Ms. Lam Fei Man,

an executive Director.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

LAM Kam Cheung, aged 55

Mr Lam is an executive Director, chief financial officer and company secretary of the Company.
Mr: Lam joined the Group in May 2004 as the financial controller and was appointed to the
Board in June 2012. He was appointed as the chief financial officer of the Company in August
2013 and is responsible for the financial management of the Group. Mr. Lam has over 30 years'
experience in accounting and auditing. Prior to joining the Group, he was an executive director
and company secretary of Yeebo (International Holdings) Limited (stock code: 0259), a listed
public company in Hong Kong, from October 1995 to May 2004. Mr. Lam holds a bachelor’s
degree in business administration from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. He is a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and a member of the Hong

Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

LAM Fei Man, aged 48

Ms. Lam is an executive Director. She is responsible for the Group’s purchasing operations. She
is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group. Ms. Lam joined the Group in January
2000 and served as the assistant administration manager of Sinomax (Holding) Group Limited,
a predecessor company of Sinomax Enterprises Limited (“Sinomax Enterprises”), until January
2003. She was appointed to the Board in June 2012. Ms. Lam has over |8 years experience
in purchasing and logistics. She holds a bachelor's degree in commerce jointly issued by the
University of Canberra and the Hong Kong Baptist University. Ms. Lam is a cousin of Mr. Lam
Chi Fan, the Chairman of the Board and an executive Director; the daughter of a cousin of
Mr. Chen Feng, an executive Director; and an aunt of Mr. Cheung Tung, the President and an

executive Director.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
ESkEREEE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

WONG Chi Keung, aged 56

Mr. Wong is an independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the audit committee
and corporate governance committee and a member of the nomination committee of the
Company. Mr. Wong was appointed to the Board in 4 March 2014. M Wong is currently an
executive director and the chief financial officer of Win Hanverky Holdings Limited (stock
code: 3322), a listed public company in Hong Kong. He was previously the chief financial
officer of Besunyen Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 0926) from September 201 | to
September 2013 and China Dongxiang (Group) Co., Ltd. (stock code: 3818) from May 2007
to April 2010, all of which are listed public companies in Hong Kong. Between June 2002 and
June 2006, Mr. Wong was a senior finance manager of China Netcom Group Corporation
(Hong Kong) Limited (a company previously listed in Hong Kong (former stock code: 0906)
which subsequently merged with China Unicom (Hong Kong) Limited (stock code: 0762), a
listed public company in Hong Kong). Between July 1989 and December 1999, Mr. Wong was
employed by PricewaterhouseCoopers, an international public accounting firm, in Hong Kong
as an audit manager. Mr. Wong holds a bachelor's degree in business administration from the
Chinese University of Hong Kong and a master's degree in business administration from the
Australian Graduate School of Management, jointly issued by the University of New South
Wales and the University of Sydney. Mr. Wong is a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public

Accountants.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Professor LAM Sing Kwong, Simon, aged 64

Professor Lam is an independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the remuneration
committee and a member of the audit committee, the nomination committee and the
corporate governance committee of the Company. Professor Lam is the Professor of
Management and Strategy at the Faculty of Business and Economics, The University of Hong
Kong. He is also director of the Centre of Asian Entrepreneurship and Business Values and lan
Davies Endowed Professor in Ethics. Before joining the University of Hong Kong, Professor
Lam had worked as a management consultant and as a regional manager for a bank. He has
gained extensive experience in the area of corporate governance, strategy development
and corporate finance. Professor Lam is the independent non-executive director of Kwan
On Holdings Limited (listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 01559),
Overseas Chinese Town (Asia) Holdings Limited (listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 03366), Qingci Games Inc. (listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 06633) and Jacobson Pharma Corporation Limited (listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 02633).

ZHANG HWO Jie, aged 60

Mr. Zhang is an independent non-executive Director, a member of the audit committee
and the corporate governance committee of the Company. Mr Zhang was appointed to
the Board in March 2014. Mr. Zhang is currently the chairman of EVA Precision Industrial
Holdings Limited (stock code: 838), a listed public company in Hong Kong. Mr. Zhang has more
than 25 years of experience in marketing, strategic planning and corporate management in
manufacturing industry. Mr. Zhang was granted with the “Young Industrialist Award of Hong
Kong" by the Federation of Hong Kong Industries in 2008, and was bestowed as an honorary
fellow by The Professional Validation Council of Hong Kong Industries in 2014. He is currently
the president honoris causa of Hong Kong Young Industrialists Council, the honorary chairman
of The Hong Kong Metals Manufacturers Association and the honorary president of Hong
Kong Mould and Product Technology Association.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
ESkEREEE

WU Tak Lung, aged 57

Mr.Wu is an independent non-executive Director and a member of the audit committee, the
corporate governance committee and the remuneration committee of the Company. Mr: Wu
was appointed to the Board in March 2014. M Wu had worked in Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu,
an international accounting firm, for five years and was then employed in several companies
in Hong Kong as head of corporate finance and/or executive director. Mr. Wu had over 10
years' experience in the corporate finance field. Mr Wu currently serves as an independent
non-executive director of Henan Jinma Energy Company Limited (stock code: 6885), Minth
Group Limited (stock code: 425), Sinopharm Group Co. Ltd (stock code: 1099), Kam Hing
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 2307) and Zhongguancun Science-Tech Leasing
Co Ltd (stock code: 1601), all of which are listed public companies in Hong Kong. Mr. Wu
holds a bachelor's degree in business administration in accounting from the Hong Kong Baptist
University and a master's degree in business administration jointly issued by the University of
Manchester and the University of Wales. Mr. Wu is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and he is also a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, Taxation Institute of Hong Kong, Hong Kong Chartered Governance

Institute, and the Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute.

Moreover, in the last three years, he was an independent non-executive director of Beijing
Media Corporation Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 1000) and China Machinery Engineering Corporation. Certain members and former
members of the board of Beijing Media Corporation Limited have been criticized, details of
which in respect of Mr.Wu are set out in the Company's announcement dated 4 February
2022.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

LAM Sze Chiu, aged 40

Mr. Lam is the general manager of Sinohome Household Products (Shenzhen) Ltd. (“Sinomax
Shenzhen"). He is responsible for the supervision of the daily operations of Sinomax Shenzhen.
Mr. Lam joined the Group in 2007 and has been working as the marketing director of the
Group from 2012 to 2016. He was responsible for developing and communicating marketing
strategies and coordinating marketing functions of the Group. Mr: Lam also participated in the
research and development of the Group's products, and was the winner of German Red Dot
Design Award. Mr. Lam holds a Bachelor of Arts degree with honours from York University in
Toronto, Canada. Mr. Lam was appointed as the Chairman of The Youth Club of Hong Kong
Furniture Association and The Hong Kong Overseas Chinese General Youth Association and
a member of the Fujian Youth Federation in 2017, a member of the Youth Committee of the
China Furniture & Decoration Chamber of Commerce in 2018, a member of the Committee
of the All-China Federation of Returned Overseas in 2019, the Chairman of Guangdong
Furnishing Industry Federation and the Vice-Chairman of the Hong Kong Federation of Fujian
Associations in 2020, and the Vice-Chairman of the China Furniture & Decoration Chamber of
Commerce since 2021. Mr. Lam is the son of Mr: Lam Chi Fan, the Chairman and an executive

Director; and the cousin of Mr. Cheung Tung, the President and an executive Director.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
ESkEREEE

QIAN Hong Xiang, aged 59

Mr Qian is a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group and he is responsible for the
supervision of the daily operation and management of Sinomax Kuka (Zhejiang) Foam Co.
Limited (“Sinomax Kuka"). Since 2005, he has been the general manager of Sinomax Kuka. Mr.
Qian joined the Group in 2000 and served as the general manager and chief of foam research.
He also serves as the first rotating chairman of the China Polyurethane Foam Alliance, the
vice officer of the National Standardization Management Committee of Plastic Products
(SACITCA48/SC2), the vice officer of the foam committee of the China Polyurethane Industry
Association, and the vice president of the international journal “Polyurethane Industry”, the vice
president of the foam committee of the China Plastics Processing Industry Association, and he
has been employed as a foam plastic expert by the China Polyurethane Industry Association

and the China Plastics Processing Industry Association for 15 years.

Mr. Qian graduated from Zhejiang University of Technology in 1988 and is a senior economist.
Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Qian worked as a factory manager and foam researcher in East
Asia (Huazi Group) Co, Ltd. (a2 GEEEME) BR/AE) from 1993 to 2000. Mr. Qian has
more than 30 years of experience in foam production and research, and has participated in
the formulation of more than || standards, including 4 national standards. He has won the
third prize of scientific and technological progress awarded by China National Light Industry
Federation, the Chinese Standard Innovation Contribution Award jointly issued by the General
Administration of Quality Supervision, Inspection and Quarantine of the People’s Republic
of China and the Standardization Administration of China, and the advanced worker in the
plastic industry of China awarded by the China Plastics Processing Industry Association.
Mr Qian was also awarded with a number of honors such as an outstanding contributor
to the standardization work of the National Plastic Products Standardization Management
Committee, a provincial-level high-end talent in Jiaxing, a “Chaoxiang Special Support” category

I talent in Haining, and a model worker and an outstanding entrepreneur in Haining.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

YUE Wai Fun, aged 48

Ms. Yue was appointed as a general manager of Sinomax Health & Household Products
Limited (“Sinomax Health™) in June 2012. Ms. Yue is responsible for the supervision of the
daily operation and management of Sinomax Health. Ms. Yue joined the Group in 2004 and
served as marketing manager and brand & marketing manager prior to being appointed as the
general manager of Sinomax Health. Ms. Yue holds a Bachelor of Social Science degree from

the Chinese University of Hong Kong.

Ms. Yue resigned as general manager of Sinomax Health & Household Products Limited on 10
January 2023.

CHEN Xiao Hua, aged 61

Mr. Chen joined the Group in 2013 and was appointed as a general manager of Sinomax
(Zhejiang) Polyurethane Technology Limited (previously known as Sinomax (Zhejiang)
Polyurethane Household Products Limited* (B255% (i1T) RRBEREAMABRAE)
("Sinomax Zhejiang") in October 2013. Mr. Chen is responsible for supervision of the daily
operation and management of Sinomax Zhejiang. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Chen was
engaged in foam manufacturing from 2002 to 2013 and was a general manager of Sinomax
Polyurethane (Shanghai) Co, Ltd, a company indirectly controlled by Mr Lam Chi Fan, Mr
Cheung Tung and Mr. Chen Feng, the executive Directors, and Ms. Cheung Shui Ying, the
mother of Mr. Cheung Tung,. Mr. Chen has over 20 years of experience in foam production
and research. Mr. Chen completed a business administration course for company executives in

Zhejiang University in November 2006.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEHREE

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of its principal

subsidiaries are set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Reporting Period are set out in the consolidated statement

of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on page 155 of this report.

The Directors did not recommend the payment of final dividend for the Reporting Period.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and investment
properties of the Group during the Reporting Period are set out in notes 15, 16 and 17 to

the consolidated financial statements respectively.

DONATIONS

During the Reporting Period, the Group made charitable and other donations amounting to
approximately HK$291,523.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the Reporting Period are set

out in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Directors consider that the Company's reserves available for distribution to Shareholders
comprise the share premium and the accumulated profits which amounted to approximately
HK$522.9 million as at 31 December 2022 (as at 3| December 2021: approximately
HK$533.4 million). Under the Companies Law (Revised) Chapter 22 of the Cayman Islands,
the share premium of the Company is available for paying distributions or dividends to
Shareholders subject to the provisions of its memorandum and articles of association and
provided that immediately following the distribution of dividend, the Company is able to pay its

debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

The Company has a share option scheme, the details of which are set out in the paragraph
headed “Share Option” in the section headed “Directors’ Report” in this report and note 30
to the consolidated financial statements. Save as aforesaid, the Company has not entered into

any equity-linked agreement during the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors

LAM Chi Fan (Chairman of the Board)
CHEUNG Tung

CHEN Feng

LAM Kam Cheung

LAM Fei Man

Independent non-executive Directors

WONG Chi Keung
LAM Sing Kwong, Simon
ZHANG HWO Jie
WU Tak Lung
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In accordance with the articles of association of the Company, three Directors, namely, Mr.
Cheung Tung, Mr. Chen Feng and Mr: Lam Kam Cheung will retire at the forthcoming AGM, and

being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.

The Company has received from each independent non-executive Director an annual
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and the Company considers such

Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICES CONTRACTS

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Company or any member of the
Group which is not terminable within one year without payment of compensation (other than

statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Connected Transactions” in this report, no other
transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business
to which the Company or its subsidiaries or holding company was a party and in which
any Director or the Director's connected entity had a material interest, whether directly or

indirectly, subsisted at the end of or at any time during the Reporting Period.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial
part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed during the Reporting

Period.
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NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKINGS

The Company has received an annual confirmation from each of the controlling Shareholders,
namely, Sinomax Enterprises, Mr: Lam Chi Fan, Mr: Cheung Tung, Mr: Chen Feng and Ms. Cheung
Shui Ying, in respect of their compliance with the terms of the deed of non-competition as
set out in the prospectus of the Company dated 30 June 2014 (the "Prospectus”) for the
Reporting Period.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY AND DIRECTORS LIABILITY INSURANCE

The articles of association of the Company provided that every Director shall be entitled to
be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or
sustained by him/her as a Director in defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in

which judgment is given in his/her favour, or in which he/she is acquitted.

The Company has arranged for approved Directors' liability insurance policies to protect the

Directors against potential costs and liability arising from claims brought against the Directors.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The Company's policy and structure for remuneration of all Directors and senior management
of the Group is formulated and reviewed by the remuneration committee of the Company,
having regards to the comparable market practice, market conditions, individual performance
and the Group's operating results. Details of the remunerations of the Directors are set out in

note || to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES

As at 31 December 2022, the interests or short positions of the Directors and the chief
executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning in Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO™)) which (a) were required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFO); (b) were required, pursuant to section 352 of the
SFO, to be entered in the register maintained by the Company referred to therein; or (c)
were required pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuer (the “Model Code") as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:
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Long positions in the shares and underlying shares

Interests in the Company RERE ZH#E
Approximate
percentage of

Name of Director Nature of interest Number of shares (" shareholding®
Exis EmtE R ®E" BukERSLE®
LAM Chi Fan Founder of a discretionary trust 1,275,906,000 (L)@ 7291%
MER 2REFENMIA

Beneficial owner 1,500,000 (L)@ 0.09%

BB A
CHEUNG Tung Beneficial owner 1,500,000 (L)@ 0.09%
R B A
CHEN Feng Beneficial owner 1,000,000 (L)@ 0.06%
Wi B A
LAM Fei Man Beneficial owner 1,000,000 (L)@ 0.06%
HEE BHEEA
LAM Kam Cheung Beneficial owner 1,000,000 (L)@ 0.06%
MEREE BB A
WONG Chi Keung Beneficial owner 300,000 (L)® 0.02%
TER BB A
LAM Sing Kwong, Simon Beneficial owner 300,000 (L)® 0.02%
MREELE BB A
ZHANG HWO Jie Beneficial owner 300,000 (L)® 0.02%
SR BB A
WU Tak Lung Beneficial owner 300,000 (L)® 0.02%
e BB A
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Notes:

The letter “L" denotes long position.

The percentage is compiled based on the total number of 1,750,002,000 shares of the

Company (the “Shares”) in issue as at 31 December 2022.

These Shares are held by Sinomax Enterprises. Sinomax Enterprises is legally owned as to
37.5% by Chi Fan Holding Limited, which is beneficially owned as to 100% by The Frankie
Trust. The Frankie Trust is a discretionary family trust established by LAM Chi Fan as settlor
and Vistra Trust (BVI) Limited (“Vistra") acting as the trustee. The beneficiaries of The Frankie

Trust are LAM Chi Fan and his family members.

Each of LAM Chi Fan, CHEUNG Tung, CHEN Feng, LAM Fei Man and LAM Kam Cheung,
each being an executive Director; has been granted share options to subscribe for 1,500,000,
1,500,000, 1,000,000, 1,000,000 and 1,000,000 Shares, respectively, under the post-IPO
share option scheme conditionally adopted by the Company on 4 March 2014 (the “Post-
IPO Share Option Scheme”), all of which are still outstanding. Each of WONG Chi Keung,
LAM Sing Kwong Simon, ZHANG HWO Jie and WU Tak Lung, each being an independent
non-executive Director; has been granted share options to subscribe for 300,000 Shares,

respectively, under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme.
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Long positions in associated corporation — Sinomax Enterprises

HECEERYFE R

Approximate

percentage of

Name of Director Nature of interest Number of shares shareholding M
EENY s RiP#E AR R 23 kL
LAM Chi Fan Beneficiary of The Frankie Trust I5 37.5%
MER Frankiel55ER932 2 A

CHEUNG Tung Beneficiary of The Cheung's Family Trust 5 12.5%
RAR REKEEENZ A

CHEN Feng Beneficiary of The Feng Chen's Family Trust 5 12.5%
R BRI E LR T

Note: The above percentage is compiled based on the total number of 40 shares of Sinomax
Enterprises in issue as at 31 December 2022, and the remaining |5 shares of Sinomax
Enterprises in issue is owned by The James" Family Holding Limited, which is owned as to
1009% by The James' Family Trust. The James' Family Trust is a discretionary trust established by
CHEUNG Shui Ying, the mother of CHEUNG Tung, as settlor and Vistra acting as the trustee.

The beneficiaries of The James' Family Trust are CHEUNG Shui Ying and her family members.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this report, at no time during the Reporting Period, had any
rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares or debentures of the Company
been granted to any Director or their respective spouse or children under |8 years old, or
had any such rights been exercised by them; or was the Company, its holding company or
its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement which enables the Directors, or their respective

spouse or children under 18 years old, to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.
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INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 3| December 2022, the persons (other than a Director or chief executive of the
Company) who had interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares as

recorded in the register maintained by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO were as

follows:

Long positions in Shares

Name of substantial Shareholders

Nature of interest

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ERHREE

TERR 2D

002F 12831 B BEALT (FEEAR
AEBEARETHAL) RERGOIEREKRN
REA BN AR B RERE S RIS
ERHEEENELMNVERTRIRBNT :

RITEYSFE

Approximate
percentage of

Number of shares (" shareholding

TERRAE U EmtE Rix®E" BARETS

Sinomax Enterprises ©) Beneficial owner 1,275,906,000 (L) 7291%

EEBRAXO BmBEBA

Chi Fan Holding Limited Interest of a controlled corporation 1,275,906,000 (L) 7291%
REREEED

The James' Family Holding Limited Interest of a controlled corporation 1,275,906,000 (L)® 7291%
REREEED

Vistra © Trustee of various trusts 1,275,906,000 (L) 7291%
ZEFENRFEA

CHEUNG ShuiYing Founder of a discretionary trust 1,275,906,000 (L) 7291%

SRIK B 2REFENMIA

LI Ching Hau Interest of spouse 1,277,406,000 (L)® 72.99%

=68 EER
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The letter “L" denotes long position.

The percentage is compiled based on the total number of 1,750,002,000 Shares in issue as at

31 December 2022.

Sinomax Enterprises is legally owned as to 37.5%, 12.5%, 37.5% and 12.5% by Chi Fan Holding
Limited, Wing Yiu Investments Limited, The James" Family Holding Limited and Venture Win
Holdings Limited, respectively, and beneficially owned in the same proportion by The Frankie
Trust, The Cheung's Family Trust, The James' Family Trust and The Feng Chen's Family Trust,

respectively.

These Shares are held by Sinomax Enterprises, which is legally owned as to 37.5% by Chi Fan
Holding Limited.

These Shares are held by Sinomax Enterprises, which is legally owned as to 37.5% by The

James’ Family Holding Limited.

Vistra acts as the trustee of The Frankie Trust, The James' Family Trust, The Cheung's Family
Trust and The Feng Chen’s Family Trust. The beneficiaries of The Frankie Trust are Mr. LAM Chi
Fan and his family members. The beneficiaries of The James' Family Trust are Ms. CHEUNG
Shui Ying and her family members. The beneficiaries of The Cheung's Family Trust are Mr
CHEUNG Tung and his family members. The beneficiaries of The Feng Chen’s Family Trust are
Mr. CHEN Feng and his family members.
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7. These Shares are held by Sinomax Enterprises. Sinomax Enterprises is legally owned as to
37.5% by The James' Family Holding Limited, which is beneficially owned as to 100% by The
James' Family Trust. The James' Family Trust is a discretionary trust established by Ms. CHEUNG
Shui Ying as settlor and Vistra acting as the trustee. The beneficiaries of The James' Family Trust
are Ms. CHEUNG ShuiYing and her family members.

8. These interests belong to Mr. LAM Chi Fan, the spouse of Ms. LI Ching Hau. Under the SFO,
Ms. LI Ching Hau is deemed to be interested in the same number of Shares in which Mr. LAM

Chi Fan is interested.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Reporting Period, the Group had continuing connected transactions and
connected transactions with certain connected persons, details of which have been disclosed
in the announcements of the Company dated 15 April 2021, I7 November 2021 and 21|
December 2022. Certain continuing connected transactions are exempt from one or more
of the reporting, announcement, circular (including independent financial advice), shareholders'

approval and annual review requirements for the purpose of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The following are the continuing connected transactions and connected transactions of the
Group during the Reporting Period that are subject to the reporting and annual review
requirements but otherwise exempt from the shareholders' approval requirement pursuant to

Chapter [4A of the Listing Rules:
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Sale of foam products by Sinomax Trading to Studio Moderna S.A. (“Studio
Moderna”)

Studio Moderna is the holding company of SMSA North America Holdings, LLC,
which in turn holds 48.69% equity interest in Dormeo North America, LLC, an indirect
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. As a substantial shareholder of a
subsidiary of the Company, Studio Moderna is a connected person of the Company.
Each subsidiary of Studio Moderna is an associate of Studio Moderna and hence a

connected person of the Company.

On 30 December 2016, Sinomax Trading entered into a renewed procurement
agreement (the “2017 Renewal Procurement Agreement”) with Studio Moderna
to govern the sale and purchase of foams products between Sinomax Trading and
Studio Moderna for the term commencing from | January 2017 and ending on 3|
December 2017 after the expiry of the procurement agreement entered into with
Studio Moderna in 2016 (the “Procurement Agreement ). Parties to the Procurement
Agreement would, from time to time, agree to a price list setting out the price,
specifications and delivery schedule in respect of each type of foam products, which the

purchase orders must adhere to.

On 19 December 2017, Sinomax Trading and Studio Moderna entered into a renewed
procurement agreement (the “2018 Renewal Procurement Agreement”) in relation
to the continuing supply of foam products by the Group to Studio Moderna and
its subsidiaries for the term commencing from | January 2018 and ending on 3|
December 2018.
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On 17 May 2019, Sinomax Trading and Studio Moderna entered into a renewed
procurement agreement (the “2019-2020 Studio Moderna Procurement Agreement”)
in relation to the continuing supply of foam products by the Group to Studio Moderna
and its subsidiaries for the term commencing from | January 2019 and ending on 31

December 2020.

On |5 April 2021, Sinomax Trading and Studio Moderna entered into a renewed
procurement agreement (the “2021-2023 Studio Moderna Procurement Agreement”)
in relation to the continuing supply of foam products by the Group to Studio Moderna
and its subsidiaries for the term commencing from | January 2021 and ending on 31

December 2023.

Details of the terms of the Procurement Agreement, the 2017 Renewal Procurement
Agreement, the 2018 Renewal Procurement Agreement, the 2019-2020 Studio
Moderna Procurement Agreement, the 2021-2023 Studio Moderna Procurement
Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder were set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 12 April 2016, 30 December 2016, 6 January
2017, 19 December 2017, 17 May 2019 and |5 April 2021, respectively.

The annual cap determined by the Directors in respect of the annual maximum
aggregate value for such continuing connected transactions under the 2021-2023
Studio Moderna Procurement Agreement for each of the years ended 31 December
2021, 2022 and 2023 was USD9 million, respectively. The total amount of sales to
Studio Moderna pursuant to the 2021-2023 Studio Moderna Procurement Agreement
for the year ended 31 December 2022 was approximately USDO0.8 million (equivalent
to approximately HK$6.7 million).
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Sale of foams by the Company to Gu Jia Household Co., Limited* (BEE X [ER 17 B
PRZE]) (“Gu Jia Household”)

Sinomax Kuka is an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company and is
owned as to 60% by the Group and 40% by Gu Jia Household. As a substantial
shareholder of a subsidiary of the Company, Gu Jia Household is a connected person
of the Company. As such, each subsidiary of Gu Jia Household is an associate of Gu Jia

Household and hence a connected person of the Company.

On 30 December 2016, Haining Sinomax Trading Co. Limited (“Haining Sinomax”)
and Sinomax Kuka entered into a procurement agreement (the “Original Haining
Procurement Agreement”) with Gu Jia Household and its subsidiaries to govern
the sale and purchase of polyurethane foams between Haining Sinomax, Sinomax
Kuka and Gu Jia Household and its subsidiaries for the term commencing from |
January 2017 and ending on 31 December 2017, after the expiry of the procurement
agreement between, among others, Haining Sinomax and Gu Jia Household entered
into in 2016. On | November 2017, the Original Haining Procurement Agreement was
superseded by a revised procurement agreement (the “Revised Haining Procurement

Agreement”).

On 30 December 2016, Sinomax (Zhejiang) Polyurethane Household Products Limited*
E#%E (D ZREXERRERZAE) ("Sinomax Zhejiang"), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a renewed procurement
agreement (the “2017 Renewal Zhejiang Procurement Agreement”) with Hangzhou
Gu Jia Bedding Co,, Limited* (N EE X B ABRAF) (‘Gu Jia Bedding”), a direct
wholly-owned subsidiary of Gu Jia Household, to govern the sale and purchase of
polyurethane foams between Sinomax Zhejiang and Gu Jia Bedding for the term
commencing from | January 2017 and ending on 31 December 2017, after the expiry
of the procurement agreement between Sinomax Zhejiang and Gu Jia Bedding entered

into in 2016.
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On 19 December 2017, in view of the prospective expiry of the Original Haining
Procurement Agreement (as superseded by the Revised Haining Procurement
Agreement) and the 2017 Renewal Zhejiang Procurement Agreement on 31
December 2017, the Company as supplier entered into a new procurement agreement
(the “2018-2020 Gu Jia Procurement Agreement”) with Gu Jia Household as
purchaser for the sale and purchase of polyurethane foams for the three financial years

commencing from | January 2018 and ending on 31 December 2020.

On 18 December 2020, in view of the prospective expiry of the 2018-2020 Gu Jia
Procurement Agreement on 31 December 2020, the Company as supplier entered
into a renewal agreement (the “Original 2021-2023 Gu Jia Procurement Agreement ')
with Gu Jia Household as purchaser for the sale and purchase of polyurethane foams
for the three financial years commencing from | January 2021 and ending on 3l
December 2023.

On 17 November 2021, the Original 2021-2023 Gu Jia Procurement Agreement was
superseded by a revised procurement agreement (the “Revised 2021-2023 Gu Jia
Procurement Agreement”) to revise the annual caps in respect of the annual maximum
aggregate amounts in respect of the transactions under the Original 2021-2023 Gu
Jia Procurement Agreement based on internal estimates and the anticipated growth in

business.

Details of the terms of the Original 2021-2023 Gu Jia Procurement Agreement and the
Revised 2021-2023 Gu Jia Procurement Agreement and the transactions contemplated
thereunder were set out in the announcements of the Company dated |8 December

2020, 29 December 2020 and |7 November 202 1.
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The annual caps determined by the Directors in respect of the annual maximum

aggregate value for such continuing connected transaction under the Revised 2021-

2023 Gu Jia Procurement Agreement are as follows:

For the year ended 3| December 2021
BE2021F 12831 HILFE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE200F 12831 HIEFE

BEEEEIT021 EE2023FEFBERIF
BHETEREENERZNEER
SHEETNEELROT

For the year ending 3|1 December 2023
BE2023F 12831 HILFE

RMB440.0 million
ARE4400BE T

RMB520.0 million
ARES00EE T

RMB630.0 million
AR¥6300B 8T

The total amount of sales to Gu Jia Household pursuant to the Revised 2021-2023 Gu

Jia Procurement Agreement for the year ended 3| December 2022 was approximately

RMB284.4 million (equivalent to approximately HK$329.7 million).

Pursuant to Rule [4A55 of the Listing Rules, the independent non-executive Directors
have reviewed the above continuing connected transactions for the Reporting Period and

confirmed that the transactions have been entered into:

(@) inthe ordinary and usual course of the business of the Group;

(b)  on normal commercial terms; and

() inaccordance with the relevant agreements governing them and on terms that are fair

and reasonable and in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

The Company's auditor was engaged to report on the Group's continuing connected
transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
(Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions Under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued the unqualified letters
containing the findings and conclusions in respect of the above continuing connected

transactions in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

Copies of the auditor's letters have been provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.
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Connected Transaction

(i

Lease agreement between Dongguan Sinohome Limited* (5 B3 5 /& o B IR
2 &]) (“Dongguan Sinohome”) and Dongguan Donglian Furniture Co., Ltd.* (B 5E.
BB ERZA E) (“Dongguan Donglian”)

Dongguan Donglian is indirectly wholly-owned by Sinomax Enterprises, one of the
controlling Shareholders of the Company. Dongguan Donglian is therefore an associate

of Sinomax Enterprises and a connected person of the Company.

On 2 December 2013, Dongguan Sinohome, as tenant, entered into a lease agreement
(the "Lease Agreement of Dongguan Sinohome™) with Dongguan Donglian, as landlord,
for the lease of certain premises situated at No. | Dajieling Road, Shahu Village, Tang Xia
Town, Dongguan, Guangdong Province, PRC (the “Dongguan Premises”) for a term of

slightly more than two years at a monthly rental of approximately RMB695,000.

On 18 December 2015, Dongguan Sinohome entered into a renewal lease agreement
(the “Renewal Dongguan Lease Agreement”) with Dongguan Donglian for the lease
of the Dongguan Premises for a term of three years commencing from | January 2016
and ending on 31 December 2018 at a monthly rental of approximately RMBI.3 million

after the expiry of the Lease Agreement of Dongguan Sinohome.

On 18 December 2018, Dongguan Sinohome entered into a renewal lease agreement
(the “2019-2021 Dongguan Lease Agreement”) with Dongguan Donglian for the lease
of the Dongguan Premises for a term of three years commencing from | January 2019
and ending on 31 December 2021 at a monthly rental of approximately RMB660,000

after the expiry of the Renewal Dongguan Lease Agreement.
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On 17 November 2021, Dongguan Sinohome entered into a renewal lease agreement
(the “2022 Dongguan Lease Agreement”) with Dongguan Donglian for the lease of
the Dongguan Premises for a term of one year commencing from | January 2022 and
ending on 31 December 2022 at a monthly rental of approximately RMB,330,000
after the expiry of the 2019-2021 Dongguan Lease Agreement.

On 21 December 2022, Dongguan Sinohome entered into a renewal lease agreement
(the “2023 Dongguan Lease Agreement”) with Dongguan Donglian for the lease of
the Dongguan Premises for a term of one year commencing from | January 2023 and
ending on 31 December 2023 at a monthly rental of approximately RMB720,000 after
the expiry of the 2022 Dongguan Lease Agreement.

Details of the terms of the Lease Agreement of Dongguan Sinohome, the Renewal
Dongguan Lease Agreement, the 2019-2021 Dongguan Lease Agreement, the
2022 Dongguan Lease Agreement, the 2023 Dongguan Lease Agreement and the
transactions contemplated thereunder were set out in the Prospectus and the
announcements of the Company dated |8 December 2015, 18 December 2018, 17
November 2021 and 2| December 2022.
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(i)

Lease agreement between Sinomax Kuka and Zhejiang Puruimei Industry Co., Ltd.*

(W I L5 %= EXE B RL E]) (“Zhejiang Puruimei”)

Sinomax Kuka is an indirect non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. Zhejiiang
Puruimei is beneficially wholly-owned by Mr. Qian Hong Xiang (“Mr. Qian”), who is (i)
a director and a substantial shareholder of Trade Sincere Limited, an indirect non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company; and (i) a director of Sinomax Kuka, an indirect non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. Zhejiang Puruimei is therefore an associate

of Mr. Qian and a connected person of the Company.

On | January 2018, Sinomax Kuka entered into a lease agreement (the “2018-2020
Haining Lease Agreement”) with Zhejiang Puruimei, pursuant to which Zhejiang
Puruimei agreed to lease to Sinomax Kuka certain buildings and warehouses situated
on the parcel of land situated at No. 99, Qi Chao Road, Haining Agriculture Foreign
Integrated Development Area, Zheijjiang, the PRC* (FEIHT I BB EREHIMG
B FRMEREIEE995%) (the “Land”) with an aggregate area of approximately 18,209
sq.m. for a fixed term commencing from | January 2018 and ending on 31 December
2020 at a monthly rent (exclusive of management fees and other outgoing charges and
expenses) of RMB411,522.80 (equivalent to approximately HK$452,675.08), subject to

an increase at the rate of 5% annually.

On 15 November 2019, Sinomax Kuka entered into a supplemental lease agreement
(the 2019 Supplemental Haining Lease Agreement”) with Zhejiang Puruimei, pursuant
to which Zhejiang Purimei agreed to lease to Sinomax Kuka: (i) the second floor of a
certain building situated on the Land with an aggregate area of approximately 2,706
sqm. for a fixed term commencing from 16 November 2019 to 30 August 2020;
and (i) certain buildings and warehouses situated on the Land with an aggregate
area of approximately 6,469 sqm. for a fixed term commencing from 16 November
2019 to 31 December 2020, at a monthly rent (exclusive of management fees and
other outgoing charges and expenses) of RMB48,302.10 (equivalent to approximately
HK$53,132.31) and RMB149,242.88 (equivalent to approximately HK$164,167.17),

respectively.
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On 18 December 2020, in view of the prospective expiry of the 2018-2020 Hainnig
Lease Agreement (as supplemented by the Supplemental Haining Lease Agreement)
on 31 December 2020, Sinomax Kuka entered into a lease agreement (the “2021-
2023 Haining Lease Agreement”’) with Zhejiang Puruimei, pursuant to which Zhejiang
Puruimei agreed to lease to Sinomax Kuka certain buildings and warehouses situated
on the Land with an aggregate area of approximately 23,946.9 sqm. for a fixed term
commencing from | January 2021 and ending on 3| December 2023 at a monthly
rent (exclusive of management fees and other outgoing charges and expenses) of
RMB592,097.41 (equivalent to approximately HK$696,585.19), subject to an annual

increase at the rate of 5%.

On |7 November 2021, Sinomax Kuka entered into a supplemental agreement (the
2021 Supplemental Haining Lease Agreement’) with Zhejiang Puruimei, pursuant
to which Zhejiang Purimei agreed to lease to Sinomax Kuka: (i) certain buildings and
warehouses situated on the Land with an aggregate area of approximately 5,261
sq.m. for a term of 25 months commencing on | December 2021 and ending on 31
December 2023 at a monthly rent (exclusive of management fees and other outgoing
charges and expenses) of RMB51,416 (equivalent to approximately HK$62,702), and
(i) certain portion of the second floor of a certain building situated on the Land
with an aggregate area of approximately [,801 sqm. for a term of seven months
commencing on | December 2021 and ending on 30 June 2022 at a monthly
rent (exclusive of management fees and other outgoing charges and expenses) of

RMB35,480 (equivalent to approximately HK$43,268).
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Pursuant to HKFRS 16, leases shall be recognised as right-of-use assets in the Group's
consolidated statement of financial position for the accounting period on or after
| January 2019. Accordingly, the entering into of the 2018-2020 Haining Lease
Agreement, the 2019 Supplemental Haining Lease Agreement, the 2021-2023 Haining
Lease Agreement and the 2021 Supplemental Haining Lease Agreement by the Group
shall be regarded as an one-off acquisition of assets of the Group under Rule 14A.24(1)

of the Listing Rules.

Details of the terms of the 2018-2020 Haining Lease Agreement, the 2019
Supplemental Haining Lease Agreement, the 2021-2023 Haining Lease Agreement and
the 2021 Supplemental Haining Lease Agreement and the transactions contemplated
thereunder were set out in the announcements of the Company dated |8 November
2019, 18 December 2020, 24 December 2020 and |7 November 2021.

In the opinion of the Board, the Company has complied with the requirements under Chapter
[4A of the Listing Rules in respect of all the continuing connected transactions and connected
transactions entered into by the Group during the Reporting Period and all of the above
continuing connected transactions and connected transactions were entered into in the

manners stated above.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group and an analysis of the Group's financial performance
for the Reporting Period using financial key performance indicators can be found in the
sections headed “Financial Highlights” and “Management Discussion and Analysis”" on pages 6

to 7 and pages 10 to 16 of this report, respectively.

Environmental Policy and Performance

In conducting its business, the Group's objective is to minimise the adverse effects of
its operations on the environment. In addition, in order to comply with the applicable
environmental protection laws, the Group has established an environmental management
system in its operations in accordance with ISO 14001:2015 international standards. The
environmental management system will be reviewed from time to time in order to reduce
risks related to environmental issues. The Group has complied with a number of PRC
environmental protection laws in connection with water pollutants, air pollutants, solid waste
pollutants, as well as noise pollution generated from its manufacturing operations. During the
Reporting Period, the Group was in compliance with the applicable PRC laws and regulations
on environmental laws and was not subject to any fines or legal action resulting from incidents
of non-compliance with any applicable PRC environmental regulations, nor was there any

threatened or pending action by any PRC environmental regulatory authority.

Details of the Group's environmental policy and performance are set out in the Environmental,

Social and Governance Report on pages 82 to 141 of this report.
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Compliance with Relevant Laws and Regulations

During the Reporting Period, as far as the Company is aware, there was no material breach
of or non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations by the Group that has a significant

impact on the business and operations of the Group.

Relationship with Employees, Suppliers, Customers, and other Stakeholders

Details of the Group's relationship with employees, suppliers, customers and other
stakeholders are set out in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report on pages 82 to

141 of this report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

(1) Risk of customer concentration

Sales to the Group's top five customers accounted for approximately 36.7% (FY2021:
36.5%) of the Group's total revenue, with one customer in the Group's foam sales
segment accounting for approximately 10.5% (FY2021: 11.8%) of the Group's total

revenue.

The Group has not entered into any long-term agreements with these top five
customers. Their purchases are on an order-by-order basis. The Group cannot
guarantee that it will be able to maintain stable relationships with its key customers.
A substantial decrease of purchases could adversely affect product sales, financial

condition and results of operations of the Group.
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The Group will continue to diversify its customer portfolio by actively searching for
new customers and seeking opportunities for strategic acquisition in order to capture

more customers in different markets.

Risk of changing economic conditions

To manage the risk of economic fluctuation in the world, the Group is trying to
diversify its investments geographically. In particular, the Group's factories in the US and

Vietnam have started operations and are expected to generate profit in the future.

Risk of deterioration in the value of the Group’s brands

The Group is dependent on the goodwill in its brands for the continued success and
growth of its business. In particular, the Group relies on sales of its “Sinomax" branded
products in Hong Kong and the PRC, and products under other brands owned by or
licensed to it in other territories. Adverse publicity or regulatory or legal action against
the Group could damage the reputation and brand images of and discourage long-term

demand for the Group's products.

The Group continues to adopt its strategy to promote its brand names through
different marketing schemes. The Group also uses multi brands strategy to promote
more brands like “Zeosleep”, “PureLUX", “Dream Serenity”, “ComforZen", “Spa
Supreme” and “Tung Ah" so as to reduce the risk of reliance on and deterioration of a

particular brand.
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Risk of volatility in the pricing of raw materials

The Group is exposed to commodity price risks resulting from fluctuation of prices
of chemicals including polypropylene glycol and toluene diisocyanate, which are the
principal raw materials for the production of polyurethane foams. The Group has not
entered into any long-term agreement with any of its raw materials suppliers, nor has
it entered into any hedging arrangements or transactions to reduce the exposure to

fluctuations in raw materials costs.

The Group implements a cost-plus pricing policy in the segments of export sales and
polyurethane foam sales. Price quotations for orders are negotiated in an order-by-
order basis. In determining the product prices, the Group usually takes into account
various factors such as production costs (including costs of raw materials), production
cycle, transportation costs, product types, specification, market price and global

economic conditions.

Risk of compliance with laws and regulations

The Group's business is subject to Hong Kong, PRC, Vietnam and US laws and
regulations. Any failure to comply with laws and regulations could result in legal
proceedings and expose us to civil and/or criminal liabilities. The long term
development of our business largely depends on a steady legal environment.
Unanticipated changes in policies and regulatory practices may adversely affect our
business. The Group will continue to manage and ensure the highest compliance

standard with first-rate independent legal services.

@

©)

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ERHREE

FitEHENRER R

FERERRCENE (BERRZ
ERRR_REEARE NEERRER
BANTERME) BRKESFAER
B 78 am (B 1% L BR o 7 S B0 8 SR AT 4]
R EHE A ET (A REA &R > 75
\|IT AR AR H RS LU ER
ERARRMERARBHEE -

FEERHOBERFRIEEAAEE
DEBETRAMMREENTEBER
FEEREMNTEREERHER
B-REEERERR xEBEE
SEELZERNR WEEME (B
RIMEIRE) ~EEBI - BHMAE

mBERRRE THERREHE
AR

BB ERARERERE

FEENEFABTEE DEHH
MREBFERER - EAEEEI
FERRRENIERE A 5| BUERH
ML EBRRER AMEEE-
RAEBHRPAEBAREBUAREE
FARRE HRIMETHHER
Bz R e W RPN EHE
MEEFE AEERERETER
BETERGRENBIEERE UE
RERRBNGREE

BEEERBEMRAA 2002FERES

49



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEHREE

PROSPECTS

A description of the likely future development in the Group's business is provided in the

section headed "Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 10 to 16 of this report.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 4 March 2014, the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme was conditionally adopted by the
Shareholders. The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme becomes valid and effective on 10 July
2014 and will expire on the business day preceding the tenth anniversary thereof. Subject
to the rules of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme, grantees may exercise the share options
granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme at any time during the period commencing
from the date of grant and up to such expiry date as determined by the Board. There is no
general requirement that an option must be held for any minimum period before it can be

exercised.

The purpose of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme is to provide incentive or reward to
eligible participants with an opportunity to acquire the equity interests in the Company, for
their contributions to, and continuing efforts to promote the interest of the Group or for such
other purposes as the board of directors of the Company may approve from time to time,
linking their interests with the interests of the Group and thereby attracting and encouraging

those parties to work better for the interests of the Group.

The eligible participants include any full-time or part-time employees, executives or officers
(including executive, non-executive and independent non-executive directors) of the Company
or any of its subsidiaries and any suppliers, customers, consultants, agents and advisers who, in
the sole opinion of the Board, will contribute or have contributed to the Company and/or any

of its subsidiaries.
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The maximum number of Shares in respect of which options may be granted under the Post-
IPO Share Option Scheme and under any other share option schemes of the Group must
not in aggregate exceed 165,000,000 Shares (the “Limit"), representing 10% of the total
number of Shares in issue at the listing date of the Company. Options which have lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (or any other share option
schemes of the Company) will not be counted for the purpose of calculating the Limit. Subject
to the approval of the Shareholders of the Company in general meeting and/or such other
requirements prescribed under the Listing Rules from time to time, the Company may refresh
the Limit at any time subject to certain conditions. The Company may also with the approval
of the Shareholders of the Company in general meeting grant options in respect of Shares
in excess of the Limit (as refreshed from time to time) to eligible participants specifically
identified by the Company before such approval is sought. Notwithstanding the foregoing,
the Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to
be exercised under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme and any other share schemes of the

Group at any time shall not exceed 30% of the Shares in issue from time to time.

On 26 January 2017 (the “Date of Grant”), the Company granted a total of 30,800,000 share
options to 58 eligible participants, representing approximately 1.76% of the 1,750,002,000
shares in issue as at the Date of Grant. All 30,800,000 share options are valid for a period of 5
years commencing from the relevant vesting date and shall entitle the grantee to subscribe for

one Share upon exercise of such option at a subscription price of HK$0.69 per Share.

As at the date of this report, the total number of securities available for issue under the Post-
IPO Share Option Scheme was 145,400,000 Shares, representing approximately 8.31% of
the total number of issued Shares as at the date of this report, and no Share has been issued
and the Company has not received any monetary or other consideration under the Post-IPO

Share Option Scheme.
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The total number of Shares issued and which fall to be issued upon exercise of the options
granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Group (including both exercised and outstanding options) to each eligible participant in
any |12-month period up to the date of offer to grant shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in
issue as at the date of offer to grant. Any further grant of options in excess of the 1% limit to
any eligible participant shall be subject to the approval of the Shareholders of the Company
in general meeting and/or other requirements prescribed under the Listing Rules from time
to time with such eligible participant and his close associates (or his associates if he is a

connected person of the Company) abstaining from voting.

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular option granted under the Post-
IPO Share Option Scheme shall be such price as the Board in its absolute discretion shall

determine, save that such price shall at least be the higher of:

(i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
on the date of offer; which must be a day on which the Stock Exchange is open for the

business of dealing in securities;
(i) the average of the closing prices of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily
quotations sheet for the five business days immediately preceding the date of offer; and
(i) the nominal value of the Shares.

Further details of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme are set out in Note 30 to the financial

statements.
144,800,000 options and 145,900,000 options were available for grant under the Limit at the

beginning and the end of the Reporting Period, respectively. No option was granted under all

schemes of the Company during the Reporting Period.
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The following tables disclose details of movements of share options granted under the Post-

IPO Share Option Scheme:

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

ERHREE

TERRERBERHEESRERESS
RENEREZSFE !

Outstanding Granted Lapsed Exercised  Outstanding

Exercise asat during the during the during the asat

price per | Jan Reporting Reporting Reporting 31 Dec

Grantee Date of Grant Vesting Period Exercise period Share 2022 Period Period Period 2022

120024 R0

IBIB RS8N RESEA RESHER 2A3A

ARA B AS L T8 BRITHEE  HRTE gt 3 i HKTH

LAM Chi Fan (Chairman) 26 Jan 2017 261an 2017 -261an 2018 26 Jan 2018 - 25 Jan 2023 069 750,000 - - - 750,000
WEN (25 W7EIAKE  NI7EIBBEE WIBEIFBHE
20181 F26H 203EIF25H

26 Jan 2017 26Jan 2017 -26 Jan 2019 26 Jan 2019 - 25 Jan 2024 069 750,000 - - - 750,000
WI7EIBRE  WITEIRWHE WIYEIRBAE
019F1826H 204F 18258

CHEUNG Tung (President) 26 Jan 2017 261an 2017 -261an 2018 26 Jan 2018 - 25 Jan 2023 069 750,000 - - - 750,000
ik (@) W7EIAKE  WI7EIBBEE WIBEIFBHE
20181 F26H 2023EIF25H

26 Jan 2017 26)an 2017 -26 Jan 2019 26 Jan 2019 - 25 Jan 2024 069 750,000 - - - 750,000
WI7EIBRE  WITEIRWHE WIYEIRBAE
019F1826H 204F 18258

CHEN Feng 26 Jan 2017 261an 2017 -261an 2018 26 Jan 2018 - 25 Jan 2023 069 500,000 - - - 500,000
i WIEIAXE  WIEIFAEE WISEIBWHE
20181 526H 203EIF25H

26 Jan 2017 26)an 2017 -26 Jan 2019 26 Jan 2019 - 25 Jan 2024 069 500,000 - - - 500,000
WI7EIBRE  WITEIRWHE WIYEIRBAE
019F1826H 204F 18258

LAM Kam Cheung 26 Jan 2017 26Jan 2017 -261an 2018 26 Jan 2018 - 25 Jan 2023 069 500,000 - - - 500,000
R WIEIAXE  WIEIFAEE WISEIBWHE
0181 526H 2023EIF25H

26 Jan 2017 26)an 2017 -26Jan 2019 26 Jan 2019 - 25 Jan 2024 069 500,000 - - - 500,00
WI7EIBRE  WITEIRWHE WIYEIRBAE

2019%1 8268

204E 18258

BEEBEERAA

WINEFEERSE
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Outstanding Granted Lapsed Exercised  Outstanding
Exercise asat during the during the during the asat
price per | Jan Reporting Reporting Reporting 31 Dec
Grantee Date of Grant Vesting Period Exercise period Share 2022 Period Period Period 2022
Hng #00E
IBIR  RERESEA REEHER RESER 1A3IH
ERA REAES REH 118 BROTHEE  HROE bt ESd I WK
LAM Fei Man 26 Jan 2017 26Jan 2017 =26 Jan 2018 26 Jan 2018 - 25 Jan 2023 069 500,000 - - - 500,000
HEE WI7EIBWE  0I7FEIFKEE WI8FIBUEE
201851 F26H 203 1F25H
26 Jan 2017 26Jan 2017 =26 Jan 2019 26 Jan 2019 - 25 Jan 2024 069 500,000 - - - 500,000
WIEIFWE  WIEIFWEE WI9FIBUEE
2019%1F26H 202441 F25H
WONG Chi Keung 26 Jan 2017 26Jan 2017 =26 Jan 2018 26 Jan 2018 - 25 Jan 2023 069 150,000 - - - 150,000
TE% WITEIBWE  0I7FEIFKEE WI8FIBURE
20181 F26H 203 1F25H
26 Jan 2017 26Jan 2017 =26 Jan 2019 26 Jan 2019 = 25 Jan 2024 069 150,000 - - - 150,000
WIEIFWE  WIEIFWEE WI9FIBUEE
2019%1F26H 202441 F25H
LAM Sing Kwong, Simon 26 Jan 2017 26Jan 2017 =26 Jan 2018 26 Jan 2018 - 25 Jan 2023 069 150,000 - - - 150,000
M WI7EIBWE  0I7FEIFKEE WI8FIBURE
2018%1F26H 203 1F25H
26 Jan 2017 26Jan 2017 =26 Jan 2019 26 Jan 2019 = 25 Jan 2024 069 150,000 - - - 150,000
WIEIFWE  WIEIFWEE WI9FIBUEE
2019%1F26H 202441 F25H
ZHANG HWO Jie 26 Jan 2017 26Jan 2017 =26 Jan 2018 26 Jan 2018 - 25 Jan 2023 069 150,000 - - - 150,000
SR WIEIFWE  WIEIFWEE WIBFIBUEE
20181 F26H 203 1F25H
26 Jan 2017 26Jan 2017 =26 Jan 2019 26 Jan 2019 = 25 Jan 2024 069 150,000 - - - 150,000
WIEIFWE  WIEIFWEE WI9FIBUEE
2019%1F26H 202441 F25H
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Outstanding Granted Lapsed Exercised  Outstanding
Exercise asat during the during the during the asat
price per | Jan Reporting Reporting Reporting 31 Dec
Grantee Date of Grant Vesting Period Exercise period Share 2022 Period Period Period 2022
0225 10226
IBIR  REEHK  RESEA RESEA 128318
EREA BHaH FRA 18 SROEER  HERT bt Ed i EERTHE
WU Tak Lung 26 Jan 2017 26Jan 2017 -26]an 2018 26 Jan 2018 - 25 Jan 2023 0.69 150,000 - - - 150,000
REE WI7EIFBE  WITFIEWEE WIBFIFWBAE
01815268 03F1525H
26 Jan 2017 26Jan 2017 -26Jan 2019 26 Jan 2019 - 25 Jan 2024 0.69 150,000 - - - 150,000
WITEIBWE  017FIFKEE WIYFEIBBAE
01915268 202415258
Other employees 26 Jan 2017 26Jan2017-261]an 2018 26 Jan 2018 - 25 Jan 2023 0.69 6,500,000 - (550,000) - 5950000
(in aggregate) WITEIBWE  0I7FIFKEE WIBFIFBAE
Hitfg & (55f) 201851 B26H 2031 B25H
26 Jan 2017 26Jan 2017 -261]an 2019 26 Jan 2019 - 25 Jan 2024 0.69 6,500,000 - (550,000) - 5950000
WITEIBWE  0I7FIFKEE WIYFEIBBAE
01915268 202415258
Total 20,200,000 - (1,100,000) - 19,100,000
&t
Number of share options 19,100,000
exercisable at
31 December 2022
P02%5 128318
—-AIENERESE
Notes: B sE
(@)  During the Reporting Period, 3 (FY2021: 1) eligible participants who have been granted () RREHR3Z QIFHREE | 12) B
share options under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme have ceased to become eligible BAAHRERBRESERBRENS
participants upon termination of employment and the said share options have automatically ERZEERRIBRREGETBAGER
lapsed. SEE MEABRECSESH RN
(b)  Other details of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme are set out in note 30 to the (o) BRAFPELERBRESIEMABRNGT
consolidated financial statements. B EBRRMFE300
() Save as disclosed above, no share option granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (0 BEXEEEN RREBN BEEE

was outstanding, granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed during the Reporting Period.

BERAREERBREABIRENBRER
RITEBRE 76 WEHE R
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

The articles of association of the Company and the Companies Act (As Revised) of the
Cayman Islands do not entitle any Shareholder to any pre-emptive right or other similar rights

to subscribe for the Shares.

PURCHASE, SALES OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any Shares

during the Reporting Period.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the significant related party transactions undertaken by the Group during the
Reporting Period are set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements. Other
than those transactions disclosed in the paragraph headed “Connected Transactions”
above, these related party transactions either did not constitute connected transaction/
continuing connected transactions or constituted connected transaction/continuing connected
transactions that were exempted from all disclosure and independent Shareholders” approval

requirement under Chapter [4A of the Listing Rules.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

During the Reporting Period, the aggregate purchases from the Group's five largest suppliers
accounted for approximately 35.3% of the Group's total purchases. The Group's largest
supplier accounted for approximately | 1.8% of the Group's total purchases. The average length

of relationship with the Group's five largest suppliers was approximately |1.5 years.

During the Reporting Period, the aggregate sales to the Group's five largest customers
accounted for approximately 36.7% of the Group's total revenue. The Group's largest
customer accounted for approximately 10.5% of the Group's total revenue. The average length

of relationship with the Group's five largest customers was approximately 8.8 years.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any Shareholder (which to the
knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the issued shares of the Company) had
a beneficial interest in the Group's five largest customers or suppliers during the Reporting

Period.
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PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVICE

If any Shareholders has any doubt about the taxation implication of purchasing, holding,
disposing of, dealing in, or exercise of any rights in relation to the Shares, they are advised to

consult their own professional advisers.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company are set out in the

Corporate Governance Report on pages 59 to 81 of this report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and to the knowledge of the
Directors, at least 25% of the Company's total issued share capital, the prescribed minimum
percentage of public float approved by the Stock Exchange and permitted under the Listing
Rules, are held by the public at all times during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this

report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022
were audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC"), whose term of office will retire at the
close of the forthcoming AGM. A resolution for the re-appointment of PwC as the auditor of

the Company will be proposed at the AGM.

During the past three years, following the resignation of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as the
auditor of the Company with effect from 12 August 2020, PwC was appointed as the auditor
of the Company with effect from 19 August 2020 to fill the vacancy, particulars of which have
been set out in the announcement of the Company dated 20 August 2020. Save as disclosed
above, there were no other changes in the auditors of the Company during the past three

years.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audited consolidated financial statements for the Reporting Period have been reviewed by

the audit committee of the Board.

This report is signed for and on behalf of the Board.

Lam Chi Fan

Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2023
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance to
safeguard the interests of its Shareholders and to enhance corporate value and accountability.
The Board believes that good corporate governance provides a framework that is essential for
effective management and healthy corporate culture, thereby earning the confidence of the

Shareholders and the public.

The Company has adopted the code provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance
Code (the "CG Code") contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules as its own code of
corporate governance. The Company complied with and met the applicable code provisions

set out in the CG Code during the Reporting Period.

The Board will continue to monitor and review the Company's corporate governance

practices to ensure compliance with the CG Code.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct for the Directors and relevant employees, who
are likely to possess inside information of the Company, in their dealings in the Company's
securities. The code of conduct are on terms no less exacting than the required standard set
out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model

Code") contained in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.

The Company has made specific enquiry of all Directors and all Directors confirmed that they
had complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code and the Company’s code
of conduct during the Reporting Period.

CORPORATE CULTURE

Our Company fosters a culture of integrity, innovation, teamwork and win-win. We believe
in upholding the highest standards of integrity, embracing change and creativity, working
collaboratively and creating value for all stakeholders. Our culture is the foundation of our
success, and we are committed to continuously improving it to better serve our employees,

customers, shareholders, suppliers, and communities.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board composition

The Board currently comprises nine Directors, with five executive Directors and four
independent non-executive Directors. The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to
the date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors Lam Chi Fan (Chairman)
Cheung Tung (President)
Chen Feng

Lam Kam Cheung

L.am Fei Man

Independent
non-executive
Directors Wong Chi Keung

Lam Sing Kwong, Simon

Zhang Hwo Jie

Wu Tak Lung

The Board has a balance of skills and experience appropriate for the Company's business.
The independence of the independent non-executive Directors is assessed according to the
relevant rules and requirements under the Listing Rules. The Company requests the Directors
to disclose annually to the Company the number and nature of office held in public companies

or organisations and other significant commitments with an indication of time involved.

Board Diversity Policy

Pursuant to Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules, the Board has adopted a board diversity policy
concerning the diversity of Board members. The board diversity policy outlines the factors
to be considered when deciding on the appointments of members to the Board and the
continuation of those appointments. These factors include but are not limited to gender, age,
cuftural and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge, length
of service and any other factors that the Board may consider relevant and applicable from

time to time.
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Relationship between Board members

- Mr. Lam Chi Fan, the Chairman and an executive Director; is the uncle of Mr. Cheung
Tung, the President and an executive Director and a cousin of Ms. Lam Fei Man, an

executive Director;

- Mr. Cheung Tung, the President and an executive Director; is a nephew of Ms. Lam Fei

Man, an executive Director;

- Mr. Chen Feng, an executive Director; is a cousin of the mother of Ms. Lam Fei Man, an

executive Director; and

- Ms. Lam Fei Man, an executive Director; is a cousin of Mr. Lam Chi Fan, the Chairman
of the Board and an executive Director; the daughter of a cousin of Mr. Chen Feng, an
executive Director; and an aunt of Mr. Cheung Tung, the President and an executive

Director.

Save as disclosed above, there are no financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationships among members of the Board and in particular, between the Chairman of the

Board and the chief executive.

Responsibilities, accountabilities and contributions of the Board and management

The Board is responsible and has general power for the management and conduct of the
business of the Group. The Board oversees the businesses, strategic decisions and performance
of the Group and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Company by
directing and supervising its affairs. The Board also makes decisions on matters relating to
strategies and budgets, financial information, appointment and re-appointment of Directors,
dividend, adoption of accounting policies and other matters of operational significance to the

Company.

The Board has established mechanisms to ensure that independent views are available to the
Board, including providing the Directors with sufficient resources to perform their duties, and
Directors shall seek, at the Company's expense, independent professional advice to perform

their responsibilities if necessary.
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The Board shall at all times comprise at least three independent non-executive Directors
that represent at least one-third of the Board, such that there is always a strong element of

independence on the Board which can effectively exercise independent judgement.

All the Directors, including the independent non-executive Directors, are given equal
opportunity and channels to communicate and express their views to the Board and have
separate and independent access to the management of the Group in order to make informed
decisions. The Chairman of the Board will hold meetings with the independent non-executive
Directors without the involvement of other Directors at least annually to discuss any issues

and concerns.

The Board has reviewed and considered that the mechanisms have been duly implemented
and are effective in ensuring that independent views and input are available to the Board

during the year ended 31 December 2022.

The Board delegates day-to-day management and operations functions of the Company
to Board committees and senior management of the Company with clear directions and
authority framework. The Board will review periodically the delegation given to management

to ensure that they are appropriate and continue to be beneficial to the Group as a whole.

The Board has delegated specific roles and responsibilities to the Company's audit committee,
corporate governance committee, remuneration committee and nomination committee.

Details of these committees are set out on pages 67 to 73 of this report.

Chairman and President

Mr: Lam Chi Fan is the Chairman of the Board. Mr. Lam is responsible for the formulation of

the overall business strategies and business planning of the Group.

Mr. Cheung Tung is the President (equivalent to the role of a chief executive) of the Company.
Mr. Cheung is responsible for the overall management of the day-to-day operations of the

Group.

Mr. Lam Chi Fan is the uncle of Mr. Cheung Tung. However, there is a clear distinction between

the Chairman'’s responsibilities and the President’s responsibilities.
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Independent non-executive Directors

The Company currently has four independent non-executive Directors, representing more
than one-third of the members of the Board, who are persons of high caliber with appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise. The
independent non-executive Directors bring a diversified range of expertise and provide checks

and balances of safeguarding the interests of Shareholders and the Group as a whole.

Each of MrWong Chi Keung, Professor Lam Sing Kwong, Simon, Mr. Zhang Hwo Jie and Mr.
WuTak Lung has entered into a service contract with the Company for a term of three years

commencing from |1 July 2020, respectively.

The Company has received from all independent non-executive Directors their confirmation
of independence pursuant to the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Company is of the view that all independent non-executive Directors have met the

independence guidelines and are independent.

The Board and the Nomination Committee will undertake more rigorous review annually on
the independence of any Director who has served the Board beyond nine years, and in doing
so, the Board will also take into account the need for progressive refreshing of the Board. In
addition, when a director who has served the Board beyond nine years seeks for continued
appointment as an independent director, his/her re-appointment will also be subject to more
stringent Shareholders’ resolutions mechanism in accordance with the requirements under the
Listing Rules.

Board meetings

The Board meets at least four times a year and a tentative schedule for regular Board meetings
for each year is provided to Directors prior to the beginning of each calendar year. Between
scheduled regular Board meetings, Directors may approve various matters by way of passing
written resolutions. Additional Board meetings may be arranged if required. At least 14 days'
notice of a regular Board meeting shall be given and the Company aims at sending the agenda
and the accompanying board papers to Directors at a reasonable time before the intended

date of a Board meeting.

During the Reporting Period, the Board held four meetings and the Company held one

general meeting.

Board minutes are kept by the company secretary of the Company and are open for

inspection by the Directors.
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The attendance records of the Directors at the Board meetings and the general meeting held

during the Reporting Period are set out as follows:

BEFHERBEHRTHESEEEMR

RAGEHHIWT :

Board meetings

General meeting

64

attended attended
Name of Directors EElS LEEETEERY HERRAERY
Executive Directors BITESR
Lam Chi Fan HEN 4/4 /1
Cheung Tung IRAR 4/4 1/
Chen Feng [y 4/4 1/l
Lam Kam Cheung TRERAF 4/4 11
Lam Fei Man MEZ 4/4 /1
Independent non-executive Directors BUFRTES
Wong Chi Keung FTE® 4/4 /1
Lam Sing Kwong, Simon MEe 4/4 171
Zhang Hwo Jie Rt 4/4 /1
Wu Tak Lung E=Xet 4/4 /1
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Accountability and audit

The Directors acknowledged their responsibilities for the preparation of financial statements
of the Group to ensure that the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state
of affairs of the Group and of the results of its operation and its cashflows. In preparing the
financial statements for the Reporting Period, the Board had prepared the Group's financial
statements on a going-concern basis and in accordance with relevant accounting standards
and regulations. Board members are provided with monthly updates on the Group's financial
position, which give the Directors a clear assessment of the performance, position and

prospect of the Group.

A statement from the external auditor relating to their reporting responsibilities is set out in

the independent auditor's report on pages 142 to 154 of this report.

Continuous training and professional development for Directors

Directors must keep abreast of their responsibilities and duties and are committed to
participate in continuous professional development to develop their knowledge and skills. This

is to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

The Company provides regular updates on changes and developments relating to the Group's
business and the legislative and regulatory environments to the Directors at regular Board
meetings. In addition, the Company also organises briefing sessions to the Directors which
place emphasis on the roles, functions and duties of a listed company director; as well as the

latest developments regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements.
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Individual training record of each Director during the Reporting Period is set out as follows:

BEENRESPNZEAEINZEHDT

Reading materials

regarding regulatory Attending seminars

updates and corporate and/or conferences

governance matters and/or briefings
BRI A A
EERAK

TEEREE HERSER/H

Name of Directors EENS YAt Rk HER
Executive Directors HITES

Lam Chi Fan MEN v \
Cheung Tung TRAR \ v
Chen Feng PR AR v v
Lam Kam Cheung B v \
Lam Fei Man MR v v
Independent non-executive Directors BUFRTES

Wong Chi Keung FTE® v \
Lam Sing Kwong, Simon MRER V v
Zhang Hwo Jie B v v
Wu Tak Lung SEge v v

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company has set up four committees, namely, the audit committee, the remuneration
committee, the nomination committee and the corporate governance committee, for

overseeing particular aspects of the Company. The terms of reference of these committees are

available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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Audit Committee

The audit committee currently comprises four independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Wong Chi Keung, Professor Lam Sing Kwong, Simon, Mr. Zhang Hwo Jie and Mr. Wu
Tak Lung. Mr: Wong Chi Keung is the chairman of the audit committee. He has professional

qualifications in accounting and financial management.

The primary duties of the audit committee include, among other things:

- reviewing and monitoring the external auditor's independence and objectivity;

- recommending to the Board on the re-appointment of the external auditor and

approving its remuneration;

- reviewing the Group's consolidated financial statements, annual reports and interim

reports before submitting them to the Board;

- overseeing the Group's financial reporting system, internal control and risk management

procedures and audit process;

- reviewing the Group's financial and accounting policies and practices of the Group; and

- meeting with the external auditor to discuss issues regarding audit at least twice a year

in the absence of the management.

During the Reporting Period, the audit committee held four meetings and reviewed and
discussed with the external auditor the interim and annual results of the Group and
the relevant financial reports. It also discussed matters with respect to the Group's risk

management and internal controls and the re-appointment of external auditor:
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A summary of the work of the audit committee during the Reporting Period was as follows:

(@)  reviewed and discussed with the external auditor the annual results for the year ended

31 December 2021 and the interim results for the six months ended 30 June 2022;

(b)  discussed and reviewed the risk management system of the Group, reviewed the
internal control review plan for the year ended 31 December 2021 and the interim

financial statements for the six months ended 30 June 2022;

(c)  reviewed the effectiveness of the Company's internal audit function; and

(d)  approved and confirmed the annual audit plan for the year ended 31 December 2022.

The attendance record of each member of the audit committee at the meetings held during

the Reporting Period is set out as follows:

RREANNELZEST TERENT

(@)

(@)

HR K SN BT ST R B E 2021
FNAIHLEEENEEZEREE
2022F6 830 IE7NE B EREE LS

HmhkBRAEEZEREERSA
ZREE20IENAIHEEEZRA
BB R8I R B E20225F6830
HIEAEBN TR ;

BERARTAEEFBAENBRIL
K

HERBEEE202F 1283 1BIEE
ENEESIZTE o

BEERZEEMBHERBSHRRTZ
SEMEHHEIWT

Meetings attended

Name of members of audit committee BERZEERENS HEZERY
Wong Chi Keung FTE® 4/4
Lam Sing Kwong, Simon MRER L 4/4
Zhang Hwo Jie SR 4/4
Wu Tak Lung RIEF 4/4
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Corporate Governance Committee

The corporate governance committee currently comprises four independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr Wong Chi Keung, the chairman of the corporate governance committee,

Professor Lam Sing Kwong, Simon, Mr. Zhang Hwo Jie and Mr.WuTak Lung.

The primary duties of the corporate governance committee include, among other things:

- developing and reviewing the policies and practices of the Company on corporate

governance and making recommendations to the Board with regard to any change;

- reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional development of

Directors and senior management on corporate governance;

- reviewing and monitoring the policies and practices of the Company on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements on corporate governance and making

recommendations to the Board with regard to any change;

- developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and corporate governance

manual applicable to Directors and employees; and

- reviewing the Company's compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the

corporate governance report.

During the Reporting Period, the corporate governance committee held one meeting to
review the Company's corporate governance policies and practices and the compliance with
the CG Code.
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The attendance record of each member of the corporate governance committee at the

meeting held during the Reporting Period is set out as follows:

BREXELZEENEHENREMAE
TzEZNTHEIWT

Meeting attended

Name of members of corporate governance committee TEERZEERENRS HEGERY
Wong Chi Keung FER /1
Lam Sing Kwong, Simon MG /1
Zhang Hwo Jie SR 1/
Wu Tak Lung BB /1

Remuneration Committee

The remuneration committee currently consists of one executive Director and two
independent non-executive Directors. The remuneration committee is chaired by Professor
Lam Sing Kwong, Simon, an independent non-executive Director. Other members are MrWu
Tak Lung, an independent non-executive Director and Mr. Lam Chi Fan, the Chairman of the

Board and an executive Director.
The primary duties of the remuneration committee include, among other things:

- studying and making recommendations or proposals to the Board for its review on
the Company's policy and structure for remuneration of all Directors and senior
management, the Company's incentive schemes and the establishment of a formal and

transparent procedure for formulating the remuneration policies and incentive schemes;

- determining the remuneration packages of all executive Directors and senior
management and making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of the

non-executive Directors;

- reviewing and approving performance-based remuneration by reference to corporate

objectives approved by the Board from time to time; and

- reviewing and approving matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the

Listing Rules.
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In order to recognise and acknowledge the contributions of key employees of the Company,
the Company adopted the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme. The Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme enables eligible persons to have a personal stake in the Company and thus motivates

them to optimise their performance efficiency for the benefit of the Group.

Details of the Directors and senior management's emoluments for the Reporting Period and
the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme are set out in note || and note 30 to the consolidated

financial statements, respectively.

During the Reporting Period, the remuneration committee held one meeting to assess the
performance of the Directors and approve Directors' and senior management’s performance
bonus, after taking into consideration the comparable market practice, competitive market
condition position, individual performance and contributions of the Directors and the Group's

operating results.

The attendance record of each member of the remuneration committee at the meeting held

during the Reporting Period is set out as follows:
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Meeting attended

Name of members of remuneration committee ML EEmals HEEERY
Lam Sing Kwong, Simon MEE 171
Lam Chi Fan MEN [/1
Wu Tak Lung RERE /1

Nomination Committee

The nomination committee currently comprises three members with the majority of its
members being independent non-executive Directors. The nomination committee is chaired
by Mr. Lam Chi Fan, the Chairman of the Board and an executive Director. Other members
are MrWong Chi Keung and Professor Lam Sing Kwong, Simon, both being independent non-

executive Directors.
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The primary duties of the nomination committee include, among other things:

- reviewing the structure, size, diversity and composition of the Board and making
recommendations regarding any proposed changes to the Board in line with the

Company's strategies;

- developing and formulating relevant procedures for nomination and appointment of
directors;

- identifying suitable candidates for appointment as directors; and
- assessing the independence of independent non-executive Directors.

The Company acknowledges and embraces the benefits of diversity among its Board
members. The nomination committee has a policy concerning the diversity of Board
members with measurable objectives. Selection of candidates is based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge, length of service and the legitimate
interests of the principal

Shareholders.

Currently, the Board consists of nine members, including five executive Directors and four
independent non-executive Directors who are of different age, genders and with professional
experience and qualifications in various aspects. Having regard to the composition of the
Board and the measurable objectives, the Company considers that the Board composition is
sufficiently diversified with a balance of gender; skills and experience desirable for the effective
management and sustainable development of the Company. The Board targets to continue
to maintain at least one female representation on the Board. The Company will ensure that
sufficient resources are available for providing appropriate trainings and career development to

develop a pipeline of potential successors to the Board and maintain gender diversity.

To achieve diversity at workforce level, the Group has put in place appropriate recruitment
and selection practices such that a diverse range of candidates are considered and ensure that
gender diversity is taken into account when recruiting staff members of mid to senior level.
The Group has also established talent management and training programs to provide career
development guidance and promotion opportunities to develop a broad and diverse pool of
skilled and experienced employees. During the year under review, the Board was not aware
of any mitigating factors or circumstances which make achieving gender diversity across the

workforce (including senior management) more challenging or less relevant.

As at 31 December 2022, the employee headcount of the Group was 2,477, of which 1,207
were male and 1,270 were female.
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Nomination Procedures

The Company has a nomination policy for the nomination of Directors. Appointment of new
Directors is first considered by the nomination committee. In considering the appointment of
a Director, the nomination committee applies criteria such as relevant experience, professional
and educational background, reputation for integrity and independence as well as the diversity
in the Board. The recommendation of the nomination committee is then put to the Board for
consideration and approval. Thereafter; any Director appointed by the Board is subject to re-

election by the Shareholders at the general meeting after his/her appointment.

During the Reporting Period, the nomination committee held one meeting to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board. The attendance record of each member of the

nomination committee at the meeting held during the Reporting Period is set out as follows:

EEERHRS
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Meeting attended

Name of members of nomination committee REZEETHEHRS HEZERY
Lam Chi Fan MER /1
Wong Chi Keung FE® 171
Lam Sing Kwong, Simon MRER /1

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the Reporting Period, the fees in respect of the audit and non-audit services provided to

the Group by Messrs. PricewaterhouseCoopers, the external auditor; are set out as follows:
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RESHR MINBRBMBIRKES
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Fee
&R
HK$'000
FHET
Audit services BIZRE 3,000
Non-audit services: IFBIZIRT
Reviewing the Company’s interim financial information, report on ~ BREIAA BRI BER - HEFEREX ZFE
continuing connected transactions and review of risk management ¥R 5 R B AE BN E R EE R NS
and internal control of the Group, and conducting financial and tax ~ FLEEWEEBEHIFEREFEZ
due diligence for potential acquisition EWAEE 876
3876
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr: Lam Kam Cheung was appointed as the company secretary of the Company on 4 March
2014. The biographical details of Mr Lam is set out in the section headed “Directors and

Senior Management” on page 17 of this report.

During the Reporting Period, Mr. Lam took no less than |5 hours of relevant professional

training.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company respects the rights of Shareholders and seeks to facilitate the effective exercise

of those rights by ensuring that the Company communicates effectively with its Shareholders.

The Company promotes effective communication with Shareholders and encourages effective
participation by Shareholders at general meetings of the Company.To ensure a high quality of
communication and level of clarity with all investors and other stakeholders, whilst complying
with its statutory disclosure obligations, the Company endeavours to provide Shareholders
with ready and easy access on a timely basis to matters that affect their investment in the
Company and communicate in a clear; accurate and easy to understand manner with investors
and other stakeholders. Communications with Shareholders are mainly maintained through
the Company's interim and annual reports, announcements and circulars, general meetings and
publications on the Company's website. Shareholders may make enquiries with the Company
through channels mentioned above, and provide comments and recommendations to the
Directors. Upon receipt of enquiries from the Shareholders, the Company will respond as

soon as practicable.

The Chairman of the Board, respective Chairman of the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee, Nomination Committee and Corporate Governance Committee, or; in their
absence, other members of the respective board committees, will make themselves available at
the annual general meetings to meet Shareholders, answer their enquiries, and to understand

their views.

During the year under review, an annual general meeting of the Company was held on 22
June 2022 at which all the Directors attended either in person or by electronic means to
communicate with the Shareholders. In addition, all corporate communications and regulatory
announcements were published by the Company on its website and the website of the Stock
Exchange in a timely manner: The Board considers that the shareholders communication is

effective during the year under review.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

Pursuant to the dividend policy of the Company, in deciding whether to propose a dividend
and in determining the dividend amount, the Board shall take into account the following

factors before declaring or recommending dividends:

(@)  the Group's overall results of operation, financial condition, expected working capital
requirements and capital expenditure requirements, liquidity position and future

expansions plans;

(b)  the amount of retained profits and distributable reserves of the Company;

(c)  the level of the Group's debts to equity ratio, return on equity ratio and the relevant

financial covenant;

(d)  general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group's business and other internal
or external factors that may have an impact on the business or financial performance

and position of the Group;

(e)  the Shareholders’ and the investors' expectation and industry's norm; and

(f)  any other factors that the Board deems relevant.

GENERAL MEETINGS

The Board also considers that general meetings of the Company provide an useful forum
for Shareholders to exchange views with the Board. The Company shall in each year hold a
general meeting as its annual general meeting. All general meetings other than annual general

meeting shall be called extraordinary general meetings (‘EGMs”).

Members of the audit committee, remuneration committee, corporate governance committee
and nomination committee and the external auditor also attend the annual general meetings
to answer questions from Shareholders. Notice of annual general meetings is sent to all
Shareholders at least 2| days before the annual general meetings and the accompanying
circular also sets out details of each proposed resolution and other relevant information as
required under the Listing Rules. The voting results of annual general meetings and EGMs are
posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company on the same day of the

annual general meetings and EGMs.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Rights and Procedures for Shareholders to Convene General Meetings

Any two or more members of the Company, at the date of the deposit of a written requisition
holding not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which carries the right
of voting at general meetings, shall at all times have the right to require an EGM to be called by

the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition.

The written requisition must specify the purpose of the meeting, signed by the requisitionists
and deposit it with the company secretary of the Company at the Company’s principal place
of business in Hong Kong at Units 2005-2007, Level 20, Tower |, MegaBox Enterprise Square
Five, No. 38 Wang Chiu Road, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit of the requisition proceed duly
to convene the EGM to be held within a further 21 days, the requisitionists themselves or any
of them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them, may convene
the EGM, but any EGM shall not be held after the expiration of three months from the date of

deposit of the requisition.

An EGM so convened by the requisitionists shall be convened in the same manner; as nearly

possible, as that in which meetings are to be convened by the Board.

Right to put enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may, at any time, direct questions or requests for information to the Directors or
management through the ‘Contact Us' section in the Company’s website at www.sinomax.com

or in writing or sent by post to the Company's principal place of business in Hong Kong.
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Right to put forward proposals at general meetings

As a matter of Cayman Islands laws, no members nor Shareholders are permitted to propose
new resolutions at general meetings if the intention to propose the new resolutions is not
specified in the notice convening the general meeting. However, procedures for proposing
candidate(s) for election as Directors at a Shareholder's meeting are set out in the Corporate

Governance section of the Company's website at irsinomax.com.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company believes that communicating with its Shareholders, investors and other
stakeholders by electronic means, particularly through its website, is an efficient way of
distributing information in a timely and convenient manner. The Company's website at (www.

sinomax.com/group) provides the following information:

- members of the Board, terms of reference of the Board committees, key corporate

governance policies and the Company's constitutional documents;

- latest news, announcements, financials including interim and annual reports and all

material information submitted to the Stock Exchange; and

- other information relating to the Group and its business.
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Shareholders can make any query in respect of the Group or to make request for the

Company's financial reports. The designated contact details are as follows:

By post: Sinomax Group Limited

Units 2005-2007, Level 20, Tower |,

MegaBox Enterprise Square Five,

No. 38 Wang Chiu Road, Kowloon Bay, Hong Kong
By email: ir@sinomax.com

Shareholders who have any matters relating to change of name or address, transfer of shares
and loss of share certificates, may contact the Company's Hong Kong branch share registrar,

Tricor Investor Services Limited. The contact detalils are as follows:

Address: Tricor Investor Services Limited
|'7/F, Far East Finance Centre
I'6 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong
Tel: (852) 2980 1333

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

The Group has a whistleblowing policy to provide employees and those who deal with the
Group to voice concerns, in confidence and anonymity, with the chairman or members of the
audit committee about possible improprieties in matters related to the Group. An effective
whistleblowing system can help detect and deter misconduct or malpractice in the Group. The

Group reviews the whistleblowing policy periodically to improve its effectiveness.

ANTI-FRAUD AND ANTI-BRIBERY POLICY

The Group has an anti-corruption policy under the Code of Conduct and has adopted an
anti-fraud and anti-bribery policy in February 2022 that supports anti-corruption laws and
regulations, and to promote an anti-corruption culture within the Group. The Group reviews
the policy periodically to ensure that it is operating effectively and consider whether any

changes to the policy are required.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company amended and adopted the amended and restated memorandum and articles
of association of the Company on 22 June 2022, the date which the proposed amendments
were approved by the Shareholders at the 2022 Annual General Meeting, for the purposes
of, among others, bringing the memorandum and articles of association of the Company in
line with the relevant requirements of the amendments made to the Listing Rules and the
applicable laws of the Cayman Islands, and providing greater flexibility to the Company in
relation to conduct of general meetings to enable hybrid or virtual general meetings to be
held.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness of the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems. A review of the implemented systems and
procedures, including areas covering financial, operational, legal compliance controls and risk
management functions (including ESG risks), is carried out annually. The risk management and
internal control systems are implemented to minimise the risks to which the Group is exposed

and used as a management tool for the day-to-day operation of business.

The Board has, through the audit committee, reviewed and considered the Group's risk
management and internal control systems to be effective and adequate for the Reporting

Period.

No significant areas of concern that might affect the financial, operational, legal compliance

controls and risk management functions of the Group were identified.

The Group has established an organisational structure with defined levels of responsibility and
reporting procedures. The Group's internal audit department assists the Board and the audit
committee in the review of the effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal

control systems on an ongoing basis.

The Company has established Enterprise Risk Management Procedures to ensure safeguard of
assets and to identify, evaluate, quantify and manage existing and potential risks. Relevant rules
and regulations are adhered to and complied with, reliable financial and accounting records
are maintained in accordance with relevant accounting standards and regulatory reporting
requirements, and key risks (including ESG risks) that may impact on the Group's performance

are appropriately identified and addressed.
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The internal audit department is responsible for the operation and coordination of enterprise
risk management mechanism, which includes examining, reviewing the effectiveness of risk
management processes and systems, assessing whether risk is properly identified, assessing
significant risk reporting, and reviewing significant risk management. The internal audit
department provides risk management and internal control assessment reports to the
management on a regular or ad hoc basis. The internal audit department also regularly reviews
and reports to the audit committee and the Board on risk management and internal control

affairs. The Group will appoint external internal control consultant when necessary.

The task group on risk management is responsible for establishing the risk management
register and defining responsibilities, procedures and system of risk management, formulating
the annual risk management work plan, carrying out risk assessment, proposing the risk
management strategy, assisting the relevant departments and the enterprises in significant risk
management. It also prepares risk management performance appraisal program and conducts

annual performance appraisal and arranges risk management training.

The departmental management executes risk management strategies, solutions and crisis
management plans for significant risks, dynamically monitor significant risk associated indicators
and executes the procedures and policies of the risk management and internal controls of the
Group.

In addition to the review of risk management and internal controls undertaken within the

Group, the external auditor also assesses the effectiveness of certain key risks and internal

controls as part of their statutory audits.

To help ensure all risks which are relevant to the Group are considered, a systematic approach
to risk identification is followed. Identifiable risk areas which are considered include:
maintaining a safe work environment for the Group's employees;
safeguarding and efficient use of assets;
management of human resources;

ensuring the Group complies with legal and regulatory obligations;
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achieving established objectives and goals;

reliability and integrity of financial and operational information; and

compliance with internal policies and procedures.

With respect to procedures and internal controls for the handling and dissemination of inside

information, the Group:

(i) is aware of the obligations under the SFO, the applicable Listing Rules and other
statutory regulations with regard to the timely and proper disclosure of inside
information, announcements and financial disclosures and authorises their publication as

required;

(i) has adopted and implemented its Inside Information Disclosure Policy; and

(il has in place a Code for Securities Dealing for governing the securities transactions
of those employees who, because of their positions, are likely to have access to

confidential or inside information.
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ABOUT US

Company profile

Sinomax Group Limited (“Sinomax” or the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the
"Group") (Stock Code: 1418) is principally engaged in the development, manufacture and sales
of visco-elastic health and wellness products. Since 2001, Sinomax's dedication to adhering to
its belief, “Love Supports Beloved”, has driven it to continuous developing products ranging
from viscoelastic pillows, mattress toppers and mattresses to polyurethane foam, which has
consequently led to the Group's success of being listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“SEHK") in July 2014.To secure its leading market position, the Group has constantly
researched, designed, developed and produced high-quality health and wellness products
through engaging customers, steering innovation and ensuring high quality standards, in hope of

raising awareness of healthy-living and fulfilling households everchanging needs.
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Corporate vision, mission and core values

With our strong research and development capabilities, we seek to create innovative and
excellent health and wellness products to achieve our objective of being the global leader in
the health-living industry. We communicate with our consumers on a regular basis to better
understand their needs and to promote healthy living and community well-being. Supporting

our vision, our core values are:

Integrity 315

Be trustworthy and transparent to

our stakeholders

RAEAFHEOHESEHR

To boost efficiency and

productivity by formulating a
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Teamwork B X
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Win-win 35

Be caring for the environment

and community within

business operations
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

Reporting standards, period and scope

This report is prepared in accordance with the Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG")
Reporting Guide in Appendix 27 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "HKEX ESG Reporting Guide™). More in— depth
information regarding corporate governance is addressed in the section of the corporate

governance report in the annual report according to Appendix 4 of the Listing Rules.

In order to comply with the disclosure obligations of “comply or explain” provisions, this
ESG Report has outlined the overall Group’s performance in environmental protection,
human resources, operating practice and community involvement during the Reporting Year:
The Guide for the ESG Report from page 33 to 141 is provided for the cross-referencing

purpose.

This report covers the ESG performance of the Group's Hong Kong headquarters, Shenzhen
office, and factories in Guangdong, Zhejiang and Shandong Provinces, the People’s Republic of
China (the "PRC") from | January 2022 to 31 December 2022 (the “Reporting Year”). The
Group shall continuously improve its data collection system, and seek possibilities of including
existing premises located in the United States and Vietnam in the report in the future, in order

to increase the comprehensiveness of ESG performance and disclosure.
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Reporting principles

We have followed the reporting principles set out in the HKEX ESG Reporting Guide during
the preparation of the ESG report.

. Materiality: In order to identify any material ESG issues to Sinomax's business
operations, the Group invited its key stakeholders including employees, suppliers and
customers to rate the importance of relevant ESG topics. The Board of Directors and
senior management have reviewed the material topics to ensure the topics in this
report have addressed stakeholders’ views. The application of materiality is detailed in

the section “Materiality Assessment” in this ESG report.

. Quantitative: To evaluate and review the effectiveness of ESG policies and management
approaches, we have reported our ESG performance quantitatively with clear narration
to explain the impacts. The Group has developed environmental targets to reduce

particular impacts.

. Balance: This report is prepared on a fair and unbiased basis. The Group fully disclosed
the material key performance indicators regardless of whether performance has

improved or declined in line with the principle.

. Consistency: The Group is consistently following the disclosure requirements and
calculation methodologies of the HKEX ESG Reporting Guide, and to ensure the data

is comparable year-on-year.

BRIE- S RELRS

wERA

HPRRESCREBRENEBREE BB PR
ESGHR & 55| Fr#p R SR A

- EBEEM ATETHREEREES
BMEREARESCER AEBER
FEREME GREI HEANE
P BEMESCEENEE M ETT
N EFENSREEEEERNEX
EE UBERARS PR RER RS
MENER - HEEMWERZIRP
ESGHR & BB M 4 —Hio

- 2t AFERBERESGHEBBEMN
BEAENNA BABABEER
EHMMESCEN > N KRBBEEXT
HARHTE AEBECHTIRIES
ZLUR/VFERE R & o

- TN ARSDERATALE
ERT - ERHLZRIEUN
B AERNTUREAEXRH

MIETR

7

A E
£

=
=

- BRI AER-BEEEBHX
FRESGER &S BIRBEER KM ES
o THEREEABRELE

BEEERBEMRAA 2002FERES

85



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIE-HERERHS

Contact details

To continuously refine the Group's sustainability strategy, we welcome any feedback concerning
this report and the Group's sustainability performance. If you have any questions regarding the

report, please contact the Group and the contact details are set out below:

Address: Sinomax Group Limited
Units 2005-2007,
Level 20 Tower |,
MegaBox,
Enterprise Square Five,
38 Wang Chiu Road,

Kowloon Bay,
Hong Kong
Tel: (852) 2754 7798
E-mail: in@sinomax.com
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CHAIRMAN’S MESSAGE

Dear stakeholders,

On behalf of the board of directors of Sinomax Group Limited, | am pleased to present the
Group's 2022 Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG") report, which describes our
effort in sustainability throughout the year. In facing the challenges of the year, we did not delay
the search for opportunities and took the initiative to promote the company’s fundamental

values of teamwork, innovation, win-win, and integrity.

The year of 2022 was a difficult year, against the backdrop of the ongoing COVID-19
pandemic and global economic instability. In our pursuit of a sustainable recovery, we sought to
advance our governance of potential risks and opportunities related to ESG issues. The Group
has worked closely with the ESG Task Force to manage all ESG-related matters and report
to the Board regarding ESG performances and future recommendations timely. The ESG Task
Force led the formulation of the Group's climate change resilience system, which seeks to
identify and mitigate risks from climate change. The Group recognizes the materiality of climate

change impacts and endeavors to respond to China’s 2060 carbon neutrality commitment.

Sustainability is also about responding to the needs of stakeholders. In response to the
COVID-19 pandemic, the Group has adopted various measures to protect the health of all
stakeholders such as implementing strict in-shop and delivery COVID-19 preventive measures.
To bolster the confidence of our mattress consumers, we also offered door-to-door RAZE's
sanitizing photocatalyst spray services. The Group shall continue to spare no efforts in elevating

our safety measures to protect all staff and customers.

On behalf of the Group, | would like to express my gratitude to the management team
and staff for their efforts and contributions to the company's long-term viability in face of
the pandemic. We shall continue to pursue a recovery trajectory with sustainability at the

forefront.

LAM Chi Fan

Chairman

28 March 2023
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BOARD STATEMENT ABOUT ESG GOVERNANCE

The Group closely monitors its business development plan in response to the changing
economic environment, An ESG Task Force has been established to manage the Group's
ESG-related matters, the ESG Task Force members are comprised of the management
of the Group. The Board approves the Group's ESG-related goals and targets on a yearly
basis based on the forward-looking recommendations provided by the ESG Task Force. The
Board has an overall responsibility for the oversight and decision-making of the Group's ESG
matters. Under the leadership of the Board, relevant departments and business units play an
important role to ensure the smooth practice of ESG, from policy development to action plan
implementation. The integrative management framework also enables the Group to identify
risks and opportunities, which helps to enhance the Group's ESG risk management. To fulfi
our environmental responsibility, we put our green and sustainable development philosophy
into action by implementing an ISO14001:2015 certified Environmental Management System
to ensure energy efficiency, proper waste management, and compliance with relevant laws and

regulations in our operations.

Governance structure

ERRE

ESG Task Force
ESGL{E/\iH

EEgHESGEIENERR

EERBECERENESETNEREER
BRE HMEMIULTESGIENE &
EEEEBNESGEE ESGLENEME
HAEBREEBEAR EECEF2RE
ESGT {E/NAR &I T B9 5k 2R B& 4R [B A 017 12
2 BREBNESGEE -EFG N AEE
BESCEENEREZRMARET -TE
EEMEE T HEEREPIAN B AR H
EBREZE/TOHNEINER L HEE
EEEH  BRESGIEF) BB - B ILRIFF
EENGEEREREHERR#T AR
BB MEAEBENESCRREIEK
FoABTRMANBRRES ZMEENR
ISO14001:20 1 SRENIRIEEER 7 BT
HANGENIREZRES BEREE
SEMNER BEEYBIZERE 1S
b

The Board is responsible for the overall decision-making, oversees the
formulation, administration, and assessment of the ESG system.

EXFREL2EAR  HEESGRANGIE - BB kT de

The ESG Task Force is responsible for assisting the Board in managing
and monitoring the ESG matters on a daily basis.

ESGTE VB EHE I EETEEIEREERESGEH °

Functional department is responsible for the execution of implemented
measures to achieve the set strategies and targets.

HEEEFIE EEMEBRA REN  ENREBRKER-
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Stakeholder engagement

Effective communication with stakeholders is critical on the route to sustainable growth as it
allows the Group to better understand the expectations of its stakeholders. The Group has
created numerous contact channels to listen to stakeholders' views in this respect. Throughout
the Reporting Year, Sinomax has engaged different stakeholder groups via the communication

channels as below:

Stakeholder Group & Communication channels

HrEERREERE

BRIE- S RELRS

FHnE2H

BRNERNEBMBEBRUFBER
HNBENERER *EEGUELFTHE
RhENPE - SECRUFRBERE
UBRENENREER ABERSF
Ef  BEBBUTEERERTRAHER
RinEER !

HKEX
BERGH
* Meetings * Site visits
EL BHER
* Training * Inspection and
2= interview
* Workshops E R Employees
EE BT
* Website updates and announcements » Staff orientation
MEEMRAS 8T ARIE
@ * Interview and performance
Social media apPraisals .
335 hepe B G
. Interview * Seminars and workshops
thosd G EEEr
« Newsletter » Staff activities
HA T BTEH
* ESG survey
Community NEEES
e
* Charitable activities Customers
BEED &R
» Public consultation * E-shop
AREH BLEE
» Customer service hotline
and e-mail
Shareholders and investors Suppliers ZEREHENEFBME
RERMNREE HAER + Mobile application
* Shareholder meetings » Site visits FHERREE
BRRAE BHER « Facebook
* Financial reports, announcements and circulars * Direct communication * Instagram
MHRE RENBXR BEBE * Retail stores
» Company website * ESG survey TERE
NGIFEDS ESGE % * ESG survey
+ Company enquiry e-mail and hotline * Feedback and ESGR %
NEBHETHHMAGES improvement plan
+ Site visits [ 88 e R 5t 2
BER
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Materiality assessment BT

Adhering to the reporting principle of Materiality, the Group carried out several stakeholder FEBFAER2M RERD 1R20202FE
surveys in 2022 and invited its key stakeholder groups such as employees, suppliers and TERFENERERAS WHFHEFE4H5
customers to complete the surveys and rate the importance of the ESG issues to the Group's FE @m: BT HERNEE) TMAME

long-term development. Based on the survey results, a materiality matrix was created to & A AFEESCEBRAAERRELEREN
identify the material ESG topics for the Group. EZM -REMNEHER FEETFEEEN

FEME DT HEEBEEMNESGHE o

Materiality Matrix

EEMERE

High

"%‘

®

k; § ©
< ¥ 8 8
- ®
3 ® @
5
o 00
«
£ 0

Low . High
& Impact on business =
HEBHZE =
@ Environmental @ Social
RIE HE

Environmental Social

IRIE e

Emission . Energy Consumption . Employment . Supply Chain Management

s E RERUHFE 1% HrEEER

. Prod d Servi
GHG Emission . Water Consumption . Health and Safety roduct and service

sm ] Responsibility
BEREHEK ¥eK BERZR R

Hazardous Waste . Natural Resources . Development and Training . Anti-corruption

BEEERY RRER 2R RiEl REE

Non-hazardous Waste . Climate Change . Labour Standards . Community Investment

BEBERY RIZEE TR HERE
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DELIVERING HEALTH AND WELLNESS PRODUCTS

Quality assurance

Developing with innovation

Sinomax is dedicated to providing high-quality health and wellness products through
innovation in order to become a global leader in the health-living industry. With excellent
research and development (R&D) skills, the Group is constantly improving existing materials
and products while also creating new ones to provide a diverse product range to caters
various customers” demands. Driven by our enthusiasm for innovation, as of the conclusion
of the Reporting Year, we had generated and registered over 80 distinctive product design
patents. As part of the Group's assets, we hold product design patents and intellectual
property (“IP") rights in high respect. As part of our commitment to IP protection, we
incorporate applicable clauses and terms into contracts with our suppliers and partners to

safeguard each party.

Sustainable procurement

Apart from innovation, raw materials and suppliers are also crucial factors in delivering
premium products. In this regard, the Group dedicates effort to managing its suppliers to

create a sustainable value chain.

BRIE- S RELRS

RERERARER
mE R
BIRTERE

BEDNEBANMREHEENRRERIRE
B RERRERRRETTHRSIEE
SEMEABMELES THREREY
RAER RRELNER UBUELDS
FRAHBERKNERES - REHFIB
AIFTRL BERSFER RABHEHL
AMZEBREMR BN AR
REEEEE SEEREMRKEFNM
MHEE RFRENFER RAOTEME
A G ER A B9 5 B A 00 A AR B 5 =R A
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We use a strict procurement process to choose and manage our suppliers and raw materials
in order to supply safe and healthy products to our customers. Therefore, we have a strong
criterion for procuring non-hazardous, organic, and environmentally friendly raw materials.
During the selection process, we prioritize recyclable and natural materials with low volatile
organic compounds (VOC) and certification standards such as CertiPUR-US certification
and UKBS5852 standard. Also, since 2019, we have been a member of the Sustainable
Procurement Charter, recognized by the United Nations One Planet network. As a member,
we are committed to implementing sustainable procurement procedures with reference to
ISO 20400.

ZA ZA

CertiPUR-US certification
CertiPUR-US3B 55

UK BS5852 standard
HFBS58521E #

Low volatile organic compounds (VOC)

REZEARIEEY

Oeko-Tex Standard 100
FRABRIEEI00

HARNEENRBARUGENE R
BMPNEEENEME ARFREZS
BENER AL ZEMEXERS A
BANRENEMEBEREER -EHEBR
B BMAEETEEEEHERLEEY
S MBHEEE (U CertiPUR-USERFEN
UKBS58524Z %) By a] Bl UL K K IAM il © [F)
K HMBE09FERA(IREREN
E)VEERBE MEANEESHSE R —
MBIk 4L ] - B AE B ZARIKISO
20400k BIRFBIER > RN BRI FERE

AR ©

' "

Canada |17 standard

MEK74EH

Chlorofluorocarbons (CFC)
RARAUIE(CFC)

Sustainable Procurement Charter

AFERBANE

=
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To embed sustainability into the Group's
procurement process and practice, Sinomax has
been a member of the Sustainable Procurement
Charter since 2019.
RTRAKBERRAESENRERENE
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The Group also places high emphasis on supply chain risk management. All potential
suppliers are required to undergo a comprehensive assessment for their product qualities,
prices, timeliness and ESG performance. We consider their business ethics, environmental
performance and labour practices through site visits and document screening in order to
minimize ESG risk in our supply chain. If the potential suppliers fail in the assessment, we will
provide them feedback to enhance their sustainability performance and engage them to be re-

assessed in the following year.

The Group also conducts regular inspections and assessments of its existing suppliers to
ensure the suppliers to maintain their product qualities and performance. To encourage
sustainability performance of the existing suppliers, order with higher volume will be rewarded
to suppliers with prominent assessment performance, where possible. For suppliers who
underperform in the assessment, they will be notified and an improvement plan is proposed. If
they fail to improve within the proposed timeframe, they will be removed from the qualified

suppliers list.

To further minimize the environmental impacts presented in the supply chain, the Group
prioritizes the sourcing of locally manufactured materials and local suppliers to avoid
greenhouse gas emissions during the transportation of materials. Throughout the Reporting

Year, 96% of the suppliers were from the PRC.

Local

Aith

Number of suppliers

(e B 6l

BRIE- S RELRS

RATEEERERENRKREE -FTA
BENERAMFNHEREEER2EMN
st BEIREE MR BB XA KREHEM
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Stringent manufacturing process

Apart from monitoring the quality of raw materials, Sinomax's key strategy for securing
customers' trust and market share is to ensure the quality and condition of the final products.
The Group has established a quality management system and received the worldwide
accreditation ISO 9001:2015 as a result of this dedication. The Group has formed a quality
assurance team of more than 80 professionals to monitor and guarantee that operations
strictly follow the quality management system's standard operating procedures. The Group has
not been involved in any cases of non-compliance with product quality and safety laws and

regulations throughout the Reporting Year.

Prior to delivery, the quality assurance team conducts spot checks on product quality for
environmental, health, and safety performance, including VOC content and fire resistance
ability. To verify that the goods meet safety regulations, they are evaluated in an ISO/IEC
17025:2017-certified laboratory and testing centre. In addition to product safety, the quality
assurance team examines defective items in order to develop improvements and preventive
actions to reduce defect rates and resource waste. There was no product recalls due to health

and safety concerns during the Reporting Year.

. R&D
i
Conduct professional research and development
EITHEMRE
Developed and registered over 20 design patents
3 EE M 7202 HAERR S EF

Manufacturing and quality monitoring
. tEMEEEE

. Delivery
=t
Conduct spot check on products’ environmental and safety performance
HESNRBNES EREITHE

Analyse samples at laboratory and testing centres
ABREMEARODFER

Dl
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Accredited Laboratory
SRTESRE

BRIE- S RELRS

Our testing centre in Guangdong has been accredited to comply with the ISO/IEC 17025:2017 General
Requirements for the Competence of Testing and Calibration Laboratories by China National Accreditation

Service for Conformity Assessment.

BAUNERERATOEESTEESRIERARXIIZEEH

017 (RANREBRELINBRER)

Connecting with our customers

The Group recognizes the importance of customer interaction and connection in order to
understand their requirements and expectations as we strive to create customer-oriented
products with innovation. The Group has built several consumer communication and
interaction channels in this respect. During the Reporting Year, the Group invited a Doctor to
dismantle the sleep fallacies and also Key Opinion Leader to share tips for improving sleep

quality on social media.

T FTAISO /IEC 17025 -

oA

HBEFRBHE

EERNBBRAFAEURERRENE
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Communication and interaction with customer through social network

BREAREHEEETEERY

O—

ﬂ

e

= %
=
Sinomax constantly communicates the latest health-related news and updates with its RETHABZERE HIEMNFHER
customers via our retail stores, e-shop, and mobile apps in order to improve their well-being. BFEARPOERMEREMMEE XU
Customers can use those channels to submit product reviews or comments in addition to BERRNRE - RTEIEEHEMNN T
receiving the most up-to-date information. Customers' opinions are welcomed and valued PR AEELEREERHELRNERR
by the Group. The Group uses the following complaint processing mechanism to ensure a Tm o AEBRONTERERANMERR

systematic approach of complaint handling. During the Reporting Year; the Group received 53 NEBHRBUTERFRIEES  BEKT
complaints. The customer service team has resolved all complaints with care and responsive BURSRTEREB - RNBREFERN FEEE

measures. ERREF - FERRBEEKEZEMNRR
MERIBFT B &R
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COMPLAINT
PROCESSING

MECHANISM
1% v B 222 444

BRIE- S RELRS

Customer Service Department shall follow the
customer compliant handling policy's procedures to
handle customers’ complaints

R RBEEREE P RIFEEBERNER R
RIEEEE R R

Search for the order's relevant details and report to
the corresponding departments such as sales and
quality control for further investigations
RRETEHA 5B A3 S 4G AR ERPT -
flgn > SHEMBEEE DUFE—D R

The responsible department is expected to
communicate and resolve the issue in an effective

manner and in a way that satisfies the customers
BEMPIEUAMMEER ARNSNETE
WA RARREE

The department shall generate a report which
consists of the cause, measures, duration and solution
for both parties’ records

ZEPIMEERR — () BIEER B AR
TMBRA REVR S ML 7 (Faiix

Filed cases may be selected as training materials to
educate staff members to prevent similar incidents
from occurring again

FIENEA T UEREIMEHRE AR
D BErabEs

Coqsumerﬂgarigi Scheme
BEO T ERETE

In testament to Sinomax’s continuous commitment to
elevating consumer care throughout its business, the Group
was awarded with the “Consumer Caring Companies” for
more than 5 consecutive years.
RERARERERSRBKTNAR FEBERL
FULREBERGHBRERTABEOEE -
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Customer privacy and data protection

As a reliable and trustworthy company, Sinomax is committed to protecting its customers’
privacy. The Group has formulated an information management guidelines in the Corporate
Culture Handbook with reference to the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance. All staff members
are required to follow the guidelines when handling customers' personal information. In order
to prevent information breaches, the Group has appointed an external information technology
auditor to check the security system and measures of the e-shop. During the Reporting Year,
the Group did not encounter any cases of non-compliance regarding privacy-related laws and

regulations.

COVID-19 measures

The Group paid heed to the recommendations of the Hong Kong government in maintaining
strict social distancing measures. In response to the risks presented by the COVID-19
pandemic, the Group has launched the “60 Days Satisfaction Guarantee Campaign”, offering
customers a one-time exchange within 60 days from the date of delivery upon the purchase
of certain mattress models. Under the Campaign, customers may try the mattress at home,
limiting face-to-face contact to deter the spread of the virus. Also, we offer free door-to-door

RAZE's sanitizing photocatalyst spray service for customers who purchased mattresses.
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Sinomax places a high priority on ensuring our customers' safety. We have launched bedding
goods with unique anti-microbial coating technology to help battling the epidemic. The
technology which has been certified by the US Food and Drug Administration and Japan's
Society of International Sustaining Growth for Antimicrobial Articles, is able to efficiently

destroy more than 97 percent of germs, including E. coli.

BRIE- S RELRS
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RIZ - ERERHRS

To protect its retail customers and frontline employees, in addition to the “60 Days Satisfaction
Guarantee” Campaign and anti-microbial coating technology, the Group has implemented
various in-shop COVID-19 measures and obtained the Certificate of Retail Anti-epidemic
Measures Recognition from the Hong Kong Retail Management Association (“HKRMA™). To
reduce the risks in spreading of the pandemic, the Group has also implemented measures for
its delivery process such as requiring the delivery staff and drivers to undergo rapid antigen

tests and demonstrate negative test results before reporting duty.

Outlet Anti-epidemic Measures Recoghnition

[P BT S
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In-shop COVID-19 measures
5 S B 5 4

@ All Sinomax shops received HKRMA Certificate of Retail Anti-epidemic Measures Recognition
FrE R E IR IR BHKRVMAS S/ BRI B2 A &

Shop area and display products are disinfected with photocatalyst antibacterial coatings regularly

EERRYRERETEBEES

Display products are sanitized before and after each customer’s trial

RTEGESNEFEANKRENEBES

§ Salespersons are required to undergo daily temperature checks before work

EEEF R LIAIEETERSE
Salespersons sanitize their hands frequently and wear a surgical mask at all times

EEEHRTF  2EMANMNNOE

02~ Customers are asked to use hand sanitizers before touching the products on display
TREREEBRIINER ZAEREFR
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Delivery COVID-19 measures
RRpEERE

test results before reporting duty

Delivery staff and drivers undergo rapid antigen testings and demonstrate negative
XE B EMAE EVEATIE S PR URAR RN RS AR R R

The trucks and equipment are regularly disinfected with photocatalyst antibacterial
% coatings and are sanitized thoroughly throughout the day

FTEARB2ABEES  LEREAXBENEZEETES

Delivery staff wear gloves and masks at all times and sanitize regularly

FEAESZEMEFENAE  WERETHES
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PROMOTING WELL-BEING INSIDE OUT

Recognizing employees as the key of continuous business development, Sinomax strives to

provide a fair, healthy and harmonious workplace for our employees to thrive in.

Corporate governance

Maintaining high standards of company ethics and integrity requires sound corporate
governance. To maintain ethical business activities, we have an anti-corruption policy under the
Code of Conduct and established a strict anti-fraud and anti-bribery policy. To ensure that all
employees understand the standards, they must sign and follow the Letter of Commitment to
Honest and Clean Business Practice. During the Reporting Year, 2 sessions of anti-corruption
and anti-bribery training or materials were provided to the Board and employees. The topics
of the training sessions or materials include the Group's policies on anti-corruption, anti-

bribery, and disclosure and handling of conflicts of interest.

The Group has established a whistle-blowing channel for stakeholders to report any suspected
unethical activities. In a timely and judicious manner, the human resources (“HR”") department
is to investigate and report suspected misconduct to the Board. The HR department will take

appropriate disciplinary action upon investigation and when the allegation is substantiated.

During the Reporting Year, the Group did not encounter any cases of non-compliance

regarding all relevant laws and regulations relating to corruption.

BRIE- S RELRS
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Being a responsible employer
Labour standards

We pledge to provide a fair working environment that values diversity and inclusion, as well as
job candidates” and workers' basic rights. To establish a diverse workforce, we strongly support
equal opportunity. Discrimination of any kind is not tolerated. Regardless of race, ethnicity,

gender, or other social considerations, every employee is treated equally.

To uphold labour standards, the HR department is in charge of screening all candidates'
personal information in order to prevent unlawful or unethical labour practices including child
labour and forced labour. The employment of forced and child labour is strictly prohibited.
If management discovers there is any employment of forced or child labour, we will take
disciplinary actions for staff accepting forced/child labour; including immediate termination of
the employment concerned. If forced labour is detected, the Group will also compensate the
forced employee appropriately, if child labour is uncovered, the Group will offer individuals

with education opportunities.

During the Reporting Year, the Group did not encounter any cases of non-compliance

regarding all laws and regulations in relation to employment and labour standards.

Equal Opportunity, Diversity and Anti-discrimination

The Group strives to create a fair and impartial working environment where all employees
are treated equally and respectfully. Any kind of discrimination or harassment based on the
employee’s gender; age, marital status, race, sexual orientation and religion at our workplace
is strongly prohibited. Through the enforcement of the policy prohibiting discrimination
and harassment, the Group strives to create a workplace free of bullying belittling and
sexual harassment. Employees are entitled to equal opportunity in terms of treatment
and promotion. All employees are assessed and remunerated based on their skills and
competencies irrespective of their race, religion, gender, age and disability. During the
recruitment process, we only focus on the capability and attitude of the interviewees, thus

people with disabilities are also welcomed to be part of our Group.
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Retaining and attracting talents

Employees are regarded as one of the Group's most significant assets. Our employees’
commitments have been the foundation of our success and the foundation for future growth.
As a result, the Group places high value on attracting and maintaining talents. The Group
provides competitive remuneration packages that are assessed on a regular basis in light
of market conditions, as well as advantages such as a discount on wellness goods for our

employees.

Number of employees as at the end of the Reporting Year

REFEREEAH

By Gender By Working Level
%R BEAIRE

Male 891 Management 12
B EEE
Female 1,026 Senior Staff 56
7 RIBLR A
Junior Staff 1,849
— AR AR

BRIE- S RELRS

BERR5IAL

FEEREEARREEEEZ 8T
MHERRPAEFTRINER H2REK
HRNEZEXF -HIt *&EESEERK
SIMBBEAS - AEBEREARE N
&8 TEERSEmHIERETHE
TAKRFANETRERT ANHREE
BT o

By Age Group
REHE

30 or Below 230
30BEE U T

31 -50 1,288
315%-505%

51 or Above 399
S5IEREM L

By Geographical Location By Employment Type
RithE BEEER

Hong Kong 120 Full Time
&5H E b
The PRC 1,797 Part Time
HRE TR

1,871

46
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RIE-HERERHS

Turnover rate for the Reporting Year
REFEABRAE

By Age Group
RERR

By Gender By Working Level
&R BHMIEE

Male 16% Management 8%
B EEE
Female 17% Senior Staff 13%
gogk RIBLR A
Junior Staff 17%
—ARE AR

30 or Below 34%
30BN T

31 -50 16%
315%-505%

51 or Above 9%
51 L

By Geographical Location By Employment Type
e BEELER

Hong Kong 27% Full Time
&5E EX
The PRC 16% Part Time
FE e

Continuous training and development

We are of the view that an effective training could help individuals reach their greatest
potential, and we are committed to helping our employees grow professionally. To help
newcomers and experienced employees to advance in their careers, the HR Department
offers induction training and customized training. The HR Department reviews the training
plan on a regular basis to ensure that it corresponds with changes in the company in order to

better satisfy employees’ needs.
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Percentage of the employee trained for the Reporting Year
BREFEEZIMEEMLE

By Gender
iR

Male 61% Management 1%
=i BIEfE

Senior Staff 1%
Female 39% -

K 45 Bl
o KRIRAR B

Junior Staff 98%

\_ —ARE AR )

Average training hours per employee for the Reporting Year

REFESRESRIITIORH

By Gender
iR

Male 6l Management 76
Sk B
Female 29 Senior Staff 12
fegi AEIRAR R
Junior Staff 45
—ARE AR

Note: The training data for the Reporting Year is disclosed in accordance with the “Appendix 3: M REFENFNBEDREBTMTIEN

Reporting Guidance on Social KPIs" issued by the Stock Exchange, which was different from Mdr = HEAREVIERERES R
the method adopted in the previous reporting year. BORIERSFEMEMNSEEEE
Ho
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Machine Safety Training
Bz 25

Production Safety Acident Emergency Plan

Safeguarding employees’ health

The Group's main focus is always the health and safety of the employees. As a result, we
implement an occupational health and safety management system that is aligned with
ISO 45001: 2018 standards. The Group has implemented corresponding safety rules and
procedures based on international standards for employees to thrive in a safe working

environment.

Employees working in the memory foam factory are exposed to toxic materials during the
manufacturing process. Employees are obliged to wear personal protection equipment such as
helmets and masks in specific areas in the factory to reduce chemical exposure.To guarantee
that on-site operations meet the Group's safety standards, the safety manager will conduct

regular inspections and maintenance of manufacturing facilities and hazardous material storage.

Along with on-site safety measures, the Group strives to increase its employees’ safety
standards. Employees are given incident drills and safety training to improve their awareness of

safe operations and emergency response protocols.
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45001: 201 8RR ENHEREHELT 2 EIER
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Z2REARTE EEIAEZENIAER
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EEIAEEVE-AEEBRMAEETHR
TITRIEE @4 RMBEADERE
MezzeEMBHEOS SRV EEER
ME - HRFRRESEENAAERANR 2
RE RR2EEETHREREELER
HMBEYmERE

BRRSZEERN AEERNRESET
Nz2E# AEIRHEBIIMEBNZ 2
Bl R ETHZ2BRENREFRLR
FER2 R B9 o



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

In the event of a work-related injury, the site manager must notify the administration

department, which will assign the appropriate department(s) to investigate the incident and

offer corrective and preventive measures within two working days. Following the investigation,

the injured employees will be given appropriate compensation based on the degree of the

harm.

Under the holistic safety management system, the Group did not encounter any cases of non-
compliance regarding occupational safety laws and regulations during the Reporting Year. As
a result of the Group’s effort towards creating a safe workplace, there were no work-related
fatality cases over the past three reporting years. During the Reporting Year, the lost days due

to work injury were |,883 days, while the number of injury cases was 67.

BRIE- S RELRS

MRFETBEH FEETELEMTH
HES THHEZIREFNMN EHE
TR E > WAE2ME T 1FH MR LA EF AR
Eff-HER REETEREXBGREEE
REAENEE-

TERZZ2EEZA T 2EEARREF
EARZEENIABTERBELL AR
FEHRNBER ARAEETFARZE2NT
ESMAEARE ) BBE=EAREE
E BENIXCEH EREFER R
THEEBATEBHEAI883K M IEA67

(=]
w°
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COVID-19 measures FIEinE B 1SS

In response to the outbreak of COVID-19, Sinomax has paid extra attention to disease AEH MK B S TR ERN

prevention and staff protection. The following cautious measures have been put in place to REETHFEEIEH AT EFRER

better protect the employees as well as the local community: ITMEEHE AEBEHEMUTEIER
i

g@f; Implemented flexible working hours
® B TR

Sterilized the common areas with diluted
< o: household bleach frequently
KEARBEZANESHAZA

Intensified online meeting and teleworking for
social distancing
ZRREERRERB A MRS ERR

Provided epidemic prevention supplies such
as hand sanitizer and disinfectant wipes for
employees

RETRMHBRENR - flm  EEEFRRHE
FHEm

Required employees to wear mask at the
office

ERETRPLEMBAE

Manufacturing plant
BB Conducted anti-epidemic assessments to

enhance employees’ awareness
ERETETHEENIEZR  URSEHBER
o

QS Established COVID-19 Prevention and
Control Task Force
BRI R R BB 1 TAREE/NMAE

O
o8]
J

X B

Released COVID-19 contingency plan
EHFEMRRERSAR

Checked the body temperature and health
code of every staff when entering the
workplace

EETEARDSHA - REABBRREER

Carried out disinfection work every day
BRE2EHEERE
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Company culture ATXIE

We seek to build an engaging and supportive business culture by advocating for a pleasant BMHBHEERFREBNRABXIE 8
working environment. We provide leisure amenities for our staff on the premise, such as a BHEN TR - RATIMAETRM
library and recreational center in Guangdong, a fitness room in Jiashan, and basketball courts RERE MERNEEERREF OB
in Zhejiang. Sinomax is a signatory to the Labour Department's Good Employer Charter, NEISRRININEN G AFBRERMN
demonstrating our commitment of being a people-centric company. BUABEINEEZ AL AEBAREE
BLIEB(FREENE)

Table Tennis Competition
-Autumn Festiya| Activities -/E:E:-ﬂzttg
PR EE R

Mid
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BRI ERERHRS

SHAPING A HEALTHY ENVIRONMENT

Environmental management

As a responsible wellness product manufacturer, Sinomax is devoted to mitigating its
environmental footprint throughout its operation. In light of this, we implement an
ISO14001:2015 certified environmental management system to control and monitor impacts
from our operations including energy consumption, air emissions, water usage, resources use
and waste management. We also adopt an 1SO50001:2018 certified energy management
system to incorporate energy-saving measures into daily operations and increase long-term
operational efficiency through on-site energy generation and renewable energy purchase. The
Group has obtained the Wastewi$e Certificate and Energywi$e Certificate, which recognizes

our effort in reducing waste generation and energy consumption.

An independent certification organization is hired to conduct annual site inspections to check
that the standards are being followed. In addition, we engage a third-party specialist to evaluate
the wastewater released, as well as the air and noise emissions generated, to guarantee that
our operations comply with the relevant standards. The Ministry of Industry and Information
Technology of the PRC has approved the Zhejiang site as a green factory in honor of our
environmental performance. In order to continually improve our environmental performance,
we will conduct energy or carbon audits at least once a year to maintain high energy efficiency

in offices and factories.

During the Reporting Year, the Group did not encounter any cases of non-compliance

regarding environmental laws and regulations.

EBRENIEE

IRIREE

FAEBEANRBEREER BRAEWS
TEEEERBEDPHRVEHRENTZZ-
BERIL ZMEHMEISO 14001 201553
FNREEERZ WEFMEREME
BRMEENFE BIEEREE REY
PR ERERNBEEYEE -RME
FAISO50001:20 18BN REREERZ
REIREIENMABREE LB BRGFE

BNABLERRBRS EHEENE-
AEECHAREEEROERE UE

ERFERLEREYELERERAEAE
AR

HMBEFERINDEREETTFERSR
T URERETEBBAERMISE IS HM
TEEFET R =1 FE 5 R ABERAIEE KX
REENRBMNIR SR UEFREMY
BENERE -MEIENEECHBEHR
EAIIRAZE TR URERMHUIER
RERF-ABEBRABRMANBRRER HM
BRVBFET—RERIRET URF

R AEREEARBIE KT SERUEK -
REFEN AERTEFETRIZER

ERBER G

Green Factory recognized by the PRC’s Ministry of Industry and Information Technology

HEIEHEADNERGE IR
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Energy consumption and greenhouse gas emissions

Sinomax awares that climate change is a growing critical issue for all corporates. Aligning with
the PRC government's pledge to carbon neutrality by 2060, the Group aims to monitor and
control its energy consumption and associated greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions. Based on the
environmental management system framework, the Group has developed a number of energy

efficient and low carbon mitigating measures.

Details of energy consumption are as follows:

BRIE- S RELRS

SERHAER R E RASHER

BERANRBEECHMBERIMSHBER
mBREMNZE AT ESPEBTN2060
FPMZ K REBR N EEMES
HEERERREENAEERENFNR - EIR
REERRERT FEBCRITEHZH
BEAMRBR B 4% AR HE T ©

SEREAEEENT ¢

Energy consumption Unit
REIRfEF B
Solar energy MWh
XHE REE
Electricity MWh
B R EE

MWh
Natural gas KEF
KRR ”

IAR

MWh
Diesel (Manufacturing) KEF
g3 (£ ) }

#

MWh
Diesel (Logistic) R
sE5h (B 8) 1

#

L
Petrol (Logistic) #t
S GE#) MWh

KEF
Total energy consumption MWh
RERERMBE REE

MWh/M’
Energy consumption intensity revenue
FEREREE KEE,

BEKA

Year ended

31 December

Year ended

31 December

2022 2021
HE20025 BE20IF
12A3IBHLEEFE RA3IRLEEE
2,897 3,198

7,877 8,950

39 642

3,548 59,234

133 281

12,454 26,285

3,039 4285

283,953 400,367

83 3,312

8,516 341,747

14,068 20,668

4.46 4.85

BEEBEERAA

2022 FERE
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Details of GHG emissions are as follows: BERBHRGEBINT @

Year ended

31 December

2022

GHG emissions Unit HBE00E
mE R B 12A31HLEFE

tonnes

of CO2
equivalent
(tCO2-e)
o= o 74

o=}
BE

tCOn-e
7 = o 4
EE

tCO2-e
mE — E 1 HK

ALh B
BE

tCO2-e/M’
Revenue
= o]
EE /B8
WA
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Year ended

31 December
2021
HE20215F
2R3 IALLEE

2,270

6,095

8,365

1.96
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In an effort to reduce energy consumption and carbon emissions, we are actively participating
in renewable energy integration. In our Guangdong and Zhejiang premises, a total of 2,897
MWh of energy was generated by photovoltaic panels installed on factory roof-tops during
the Reporting Year. The clean energy source has prevented 1,652 tonnes of carbon dioxide
emissions from being released through conventional power plants. The Group will organise
workshops, exhibitions or campaigns under the theme of climate change to raise employees’

awareness in order to reduce energy consumption in daily operations.

During the Reporting Year; the greenhouse gas emissions intensity has decreased by 4% when
compared to the previous reporting year. This is mainly due to the lockdown in the PRC and
continuous outbreak of COVID-19 which led to a substantial drop in the sales of the Group,
hence the Group consumed less natural gas, diesel and petrol for production and logistic
arrangement during the Reporting Year. To uphold the principles of sustainable development,
the Group is committed to reducing or maintaining the greenhouse gas emissions intensity
between 90% to 120% of the level of the baseline year ended 31 December 2022 in the next

reporting year.

Besides, the Group's energy consumption intensity has decreased by 8% when compared to
the previous reporting year due to the above-mentioned reason. To uphold the principles
of sustainable development, the Group is committed to reducing or maintaining the energy
consumption intensity between 90% to 120% of the level of the baseline year ended 3|

December 2022 in the next reporting year

BRIE- S RELRS

ARAOEREEMBREER RPEG2 A
BEEERES ARMURERMRIL
NIE BREFELETTIHMEENLRK
BB EE 72897 KRBENEE - %
BEZAE R ACER L T 1 652MEH — S G B
RERLERLERER AEEFAM
UREgtaTBanmeae BEREE
LiEEEBIMEH#H WALV HEEEHRN
BERHFE

RBEFEE BERBHENEER LAER
EEETR4% 8 F ZHMN P EHREE
EMARSBBEENEMXER ERELE
BHERETR ALAEERRSEE
RAEERBHEENRAR SHA
HELVAB - ARFARELZERNERER T
BHREFE AEERNREEEREH
WREERBREFEEHE202F12831H
IEEEFEEKFRI0BE 120%2 8 o

5N RS EMIRH > AEBMERERR
ERLERSFETHR% ARFAFE
ZENEI TMEARSFE  AEERAN
REREAZERENEFTHE02F
12831 HIEREEEEKFERIOUE120%Z
BE
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RIE-HERELARS

Air quality

As a visco-elastic wellness product manufacturer, Sinomax understands the negative impacts
of air pollutants such as dichloromethane, toluene and carbon tetroxide generated from the

production process. We are spending ceaseless effort to mitigate the problem.

We have constructed multiple spray towers at the exhaust outlets to reduce the release of
at least 80% of certain air pollutants as part of our efforts to reduce air pollution. In addition,
to control the emission of gaseous pollutants, we have installed activated carbon adsorption
devices and VOC removal equipment at our Guangdong and Shandong premises, respectively.
Furthermore, to reduce air pollution, our manufacturing units have increased the use of
cleaner fuels such as natural gas and solar energy. We undertake on-site air quality assessments
at least once a year to manage and track operational compliance and keep air pollutant
emission levels far below the limit. During the Reporting Year, the Group did not encounter

any cases of non-compliance regarding air pollutant emissions laws and regulations.

116 Sinomax Group Limited 2022 Annual Report

TREE

FRERIERRERRES BETHRE
EBETEENEZRSAEY G _&F
e~ BAEMMEAEH) WAREE - HfI—
BREARBME ) REE B E

RTHLOERSR BAEHRORET
ZEEZE RERARETINELER
BRYEDED80% e LI TR
ZMBBERO HAD B EERKRLERDH
ZEREMRBNEERBEEBHESY
EffRE I BTHIOERTER R
MRGSEMRMT RARMRGESFE R
MENER -KASEELET—RRS
ERESTH UBEENRNEE SR
I BE RBE UK TR FFEE R R ER K
FoREEFER AEETERETERS
R HOEREROERFEM o



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Vehicle usage and the use of natural gas are the major sources that generate air pollutants in

the Group's daily operation. During the Reporting Year, the air emissions data is as follows:

i
o|o|o ﬁ

Air Pollutant Emissions Indicator'

ZERISRMEFBIER

Nitrogen oxides (NOx) emission (kg)
AEEYMNOYHENE (AF)

Sulphur oxides (SOx) emission (kg)
REC(SONHEE (AFT)

Particulate Matter (PM) emission (kg)

Y PMBERE (2 F)

To uphold the principles of sustainable development, the Group is committed to reducing
or maintaining the vehicle air pollutant emissions between 90% to 120% of the level of the

baseline year ended 31 December 2022 in the next reporting year.

Alir emissions data are disclosed in this Reporting Year for a more comprehensive disclosure of

the Report.

BRIE- S RELRS

HEAEENEEEET ERMEARRARE
RRELEERSAYNEIERR FREF
£ ERIFREELT

Year ended

31 December
2022
HE202028
12B31HLEFE

3,343

303

ARFBAREERNRA TERSFEE &
ERFNN B EBETRS AR RS
EHZE2002E 12831 B IEEEEEKFEMI0%
E120%2 e

AREFEECKREZRIREL UEEE
REAFHEZERE-
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Water & wastewater management

The chemical mixing manufacturing process is Sinomax's primary source of water usage.
Despite not having any difficulties in obtaining water; the Group places a high value on water
conservation in light of the global concern over water shortage. During the Reporting Year,
the water consumption intensity has increased by 26% when compared to the previous
reporting year, which is not achieving the target set in the last reporting year. Despite the
decrease in water consumption level, the increase in water consumption intensity is due to
greater decrease in the sales of the Group during the Reporting Year. To uphold the principles
of sustainable development, the Group is committed to reducing or maintaining the water
consumption intensity between 90% to 120% of the level of the baseline year ended 31

December 2022 in the next reporting year

With this goal in mind, we have introduced several water-saving projects and water-saving

measures.

FkREKER

L2 RENEBRERENEER KM
FoBERKEZEEMNAE  BERE2KY
KERNBNES AEESEERHAY
BR-RHREFE B LEARSEEML
KB ERIN26% RAEBR LARSEER
EHWEZ - BERNIKETR BRARAE
BRREFENHERBRA FELKEE
e ARFFEZEBNEREI TMERS
FE AERRNRBRKEERBEIE
BFEHZE002ENAIAILEEEFEEKT
BI90%ZE 120% 2 Fs o

AILER HAEL T — K TREND
IKFE I ©

Reuse water at spray towers
EEEAEBE R HK

Conduct daily maintenance to prevent /
water pipe leakage

AT AR AEE LG LK E R

Turn off water appliances when not in use
and avoid running taps

ETERERAKEAR  WERKERSFEA

Keep track of water usage pattern to identify
any abnormality
BIRAAMER AR B EMERER

Prioritise the use of recycled water, rainwater or
groundwater where possible

BAREELERERK - FARM TR

Affix educational posters on bulletin board
to convey water-saving messages to staff

EAERERATFEE LEEER - UEETEEHKES

Encourage employees to bring their own bottle,
instead of bottled water

SME T AR BUOREK
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Water consumption

AKkE

Water consumption

BAKkE

Water consumption intensity

BAKZEE

As the chemical mixing process inevitably generates wastewater with chemicals, Sinomax

implements guidelines and various measures to handle and manage the wastewater discharge

with an aim to minimize the adverse impacts of the effluent discharges:
> 9
||

)

RIE- g RELARS

Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December

2022 2021
Unit HE20025 BE2021F
B RA3IHLEEE RA3IRLEEE
m3

s 99,259 106,738
IFHK

m?/M’revenue

AKK/ B 31.49 25.06
BIKA

HIMEREEBREATREMEELESH
EEMENREK BEBREESHNE
TR R IEM B IR KB UEE R
DEEKFFRBI AR R

Properly connect designated drainage collecting wastewater pipes from spray
tower and sites cleaning to local water treatment plant for proper treatment
and compliance

ERE SR B IS S RER BB ENSKE  BREAZEHRNSKER
B BUETEENEEMNETER

Provide separate sewer system for staff canteen to sort out waste cooking oil

* from municipal wastewater

D RETRERHEBNT KBRS - URTEIS KA OBERM

Install diffluence facilities to treat the wastewater prior to its outflow and
separate rainwater and sewage

REMBOMRNE - SIE5 KPR E K I RIKHIF KD B

- Conduct wastewater sampling and assessment regularly to monitor the
. quality of the outflow and ensure the compliance to the regulations

| EHEATEUKEERARR - UERAMERAS RN AELRRER

Wastewater Management Training

BE Kk B IR IE

BEEBRBEMRAA 2002FERES

119



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
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Waste management

With tightening regulations on waste disposal, Sinomax focuses on improving its waste

management approach. We take initiative to avoid, reduce, reuse and recycle our waste.

Production processes generate a certain quantity of hazardous wastes, such as waste
equipment oil, chemical containers and residue. Pollution could be caused by improper storage,
handling, and disposal of hazardous waste. As a result, we adopted a solid waste management
handbook to train all frontline staff on how to properly dispose of waste. They must sort the
rubbish into different types and store it in specified waste storage locations that are clean and

well-ventilated. Trash is collected and handled on a regular basis by qualified waste companies.

As a result of the waste foam generated during the manufacturing process, the Group has set
up recycling facilities at all of its locations to collect and transform it into resalable material. In
addition to operational waste, the Group improves its waste management strategy by raising
employees” awareness of resource efficiency. Staff training is provided on a regular basis to
encourage waste sorting and recycling. During the Reporting Year, the Group generated 325.5
tonnes of hazardous waste and |,710 tonnes of non-hazardous waste, with an overall non-
hazardous waste recycling rate of approximately 46%.To uphold the principles of sustainable
development, the Group is committed to reducing or maintaining both the hazardous and
non-hazardous waste intensity between 90% to 120% of the level of the baseline year ended

31 December 2022 in the next reporting year.
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BRIE- S RELRS

125.8 TonnesME

106.3 Tonnes/i# Foam recycled

Plastic recycled TR I

BRI ER

P

192.5 TonnesM#

Metal recycled

EEHEK
CL

367.6 Tonnes/#

Paper recycled

AR E
O

325.5 Tonnes/#

Hazardous waste disposed

HEBEENRER

917.8 TonnesM#

General waste disposed

—REREMNERE

Q

Packaging material

We aim at increasing the usage of recyclable and sustainable packaging material to further
reduce our environmental footprint, as a packaging material is one of the most common types
of trash generated. To ensure that paper is sourced from responsibly-managed forests, we
select FSC (Forest Stewardship Council)-certified paper and necessary material. We purchase
refillable-packaged raw materials instead of barrel-packaged raw materials to reduce packaging
waste from raw material procurement. The Group will continue to promote the use of

sustainable materials in the future, in accordance with its procurement policy.

BRME

HFIH B RZE A B WA AT g B
KIB9fE R > LIE— S R R FIBVRIR B B
AnBEMHERE RINRER L —-
RERGERRBEUBEEIANEENR
o HAIEEFSC (BMEEZET) UK
MEMBEIME - BFAXRBEIBERTE
RORTE MARRERME DUV R
MERBENEERRE AEBERKRRE
HRBEHR MEERERFEME
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Packaging materials Unit
TEMEHER B
Plastic Tonnes
i ]
Cardboard Tonnes
Total Tonnes
it 1

Green office

We are not only committed to sustainability in our production operations, but we are also
extending our efforts to the office in pursuit of sustainable development. We have been
actively encouraging employees, suppliers, and customers to reduce carbon emissions in
their regular business activities, developing environmental awareness and green culture in
the workplace. In this regard, the HR Department promotes a green workplace culture by
implementing the “Sinomax Green Office Plan,” which follows the ISO 26000 corporate social

responsibility standard. The following actions of employees are encouraged:
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Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
#2024 CEIIIE:S
12A31BLLEE 12B3IALLEE
800 963
2,347 2,814
3,147 3,777
BREMAE

RATMERNREEBENRFENL M
HERBMAZEHZRBUERAIFES
B-Rf—ERGRBET HEBNER
HREEBISTRORIR ETFS
FrERRRESNGEX - Yt ANE
IREDBBEIZIEISO 26000t #HEEHE
RENTREGERASFTE ) BEREH
AXAE R E THREUU T178) :
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® 7 Promote electronic submission

of HR-related forms
REUEFAFARRADE
TRAEBARAE

1 Switch off all idle electronic

devices and lighting systems
to reduce electricity
consumption

ETERBERMEE 7RG
HEA

RIE- g RELARS

Print on both sides of a
sheet of paper to reduce
paper consumption

TEARREESIEN LU D A

°C Maintain room temperature
between 24 and 26 degree

Celsius to avoid unnecessary

energy wastage Bring own cups and bottles
ERBRERBFE24ZE26HEE to avoid single-use
2B R RERE R drinking containers
BIES AR RS ER
— PR RS

To demonstrate commitment towards energy saving, Sinomax is a signatory of the Energy
Saving Charter organized by the Environmental Protection Department and Electrical and
Mechanical Services Department. We will keep exploring ways to improve our energy

efficiency and continue moving towards a greener operation.

NG
7\
IAN)

Reduce, reuse and recycle
waste where possible

|UERD - ERAMEUE
E2)

HEEFHMENAGE BERETHERER
RESTREIRZEEN(HENE) -
RAREERRESERMENG X I
EERETRFNEETREE
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RIE-HERELARS

Climate risk management

In line with China's commitment to achieving carbon neutrality in 2060, the Group has
established a climate change resilience system formulating appropriate procedures and
measures to prevent or minimize the damage that may be caused by climate change, and

making good use of the opportunities that may arise.

The Group has considered the potential climate-related risks and opportunities in respect
of the recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures, in which
potential physical risks and transition risks from climate change may pose adverse financial
impacts on the Group's businesses. Acute physical risk can arise from extreme weather
conditions in greater frequency and intensity such as flooding and storms and chronic physical
risk can arise from sustained high temperature, while transition risk may result from the
change in environmental-related regulations, emerging technologies or change in customer
preferences. The Group takes these risks into consideration when planning and designing new

projects, as well as incorporating physical climate risk impacts into business continuity plans.

The potential climate-related risks and opportunities in respect of the recommendations of

the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures are summarized below:

RIREREE

HERPEE060FERIKP MNP EE
AEBRBITEHSRBEEZCNER FIE
THENEFEMER UBLRBERLD
RIESEIEERNES LRI B
BEHIRAME B -

AEECHARERPYHRE T NENE
HEREARGEBRR RS EhRiEE
EHRRNEBERERRERKBEER LS A%
BHNEBENAFNHBTE BEBRARA
EREHAKRBERREBIMNEERBABE
MmmRRIER RAERARAERBFE
Bl MiBE R R PR B IRIGAMERE
B MERTAER R -AERERE
MRsHMBEERRELERAREEER I
REBRGRRTEMART BRI -

AEECHAGEEBMHESRELFE
MEBREZEZERIEEMETRR KK
B

Short Medium Long
Potential (current (one to (four to
Risk Type Risks Financial Impact Reporting Year) three years) ten years) Mitigation Strategy
fEHA I &
RRER Rk BEMBTE (THREFE) (—2=%) (ME+E)  HERE
Physical Risks * Extreme weather * Reduced revenue J J * Establish adverse weather
BREER conditions such as from business due to condition policy
flooding and typhoon business and supply - HIEBHRABERBRK
- BIBRRER WK chain disruptions
KB « REBRMEEERE + Maintain or expand the
EREBWE AL supplier base to avoid
disruption
- ERREARERRE
LU el
* Sustained elevated * Increased in business J * Adopt energy conservation
temperature operating costs measures to avoid
- BESR - EMEBEERAS overconsumption of natural
resources
« RAERIOER BR
BEHEBRER
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Transition Risks
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+ Changes in
environmental-related

regulations

- RERHERHED

* Shift in consumer
preference
to products
incorporating more
environmentally-
friendly concept and
more sustainable
materials of the
products

- HEERHBAESD
FERFHCERAE
AREEMHNER

Potential
Financial Impact

BEMBEE

* Higher operating costs/
compliance costs to
adopt new practices

- RENERERSE
BaA/ aREE

* Reduced demand
for health-

living and other
products, decreased
competitiveness
and create adverse
impact on revenues
HREERNMAME
Ml B KA HF
NI HW A
THEE

Medium Long
(one to (four to
three years) ten years)
hH &
—-E=f) (ME+F)
. .

;

Mitigation Strategy
AR R

* Adopt energy conservation
measures to reduce
emissions
RIREN B AR LURL D B
it

Continue to monitor the
regulatory environment
to ensure that the

Group complied with the
environmental-related
law and regulation

- BREREEIRGUE
RAEEBTIRIEERH
ERER

Adhere to the Group's
sustainable development
concept, strictly control
the health-living product
production process and
commit to produce
high-quality products to
meet the expectations
of consumers and the
market
ERAEBRNRER
RED BEEHIRRE
EERNEEBRR B
REEHEIHEEN
TERANEEER
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Risk Type Risks
mBEE A%
* Emerging
technologies

. R

CARE FOR THE COMMUNITY

Potential
Financial Impact

BEMBEE

* Higher operating or
transition costs to
adopt new practices
or technologies

- REMERIRNE
REEENBENE

Short

(current
Reporting Year)
ikt
(FREEE)

Medium Long
(one to (four to
three years) ten years) Mitigation Strategy
hH &
(—E=§) (ME+F)  HERE

Sinomax understands that the development of the enterprise depends on support from the

communities. Meanwhile, the Group has also shown the spirit of serving the communities

where the Group operates and has been actively involved in community investment. The

Group encourages our employees to participate and contribute to society as a sustainable

business is dependent on the stability and well-being of our community.

126 Sinomax Group Limited 2022 Annual Report

a a * Encourages our
employees to attend
conferences and
training to keep them
abreast with the
latest technological
developments in visco-
elastic wellness product
manufacturing

- BBRMNETISME
SN B IR
EIEREEMNENS
Wi R

REHE

BEFANECXERFRABRHNZ T AR &
ERTERARBIERLCEREHLEAIO
B RB2EMERE -CENTRELER
BUBHNEENZE HrEETBEES A
HEEH ALTHEM-
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Sinomax has no hesitation in contributing to the needs of the community as the first company
in the industry to acquire the famous ISO 26000 corporate social responsibility certification.
The Group's staff volunteers, for example, have actively organized and participated in the

following community activities to show support for the community:

A ssist the nucleic aciq Donate Pillow to Hong Kong for
Members of the Shahu' test of all community Isolation Facilities
NI commun;j S 4O B = = ]
BB it E 2 B o gy ity A B8R B R

Sinomax has been proactive in supporting the community. During the Reporting Year, the

Group has contributed approximately HKD291,500 and 1,970 hours to the community.

LOOKING FORWARD

Seeking to integrate sustainability principles at all levels of our business operations and
services, the Group shall continue to deliver quality care for employees and the community
and align to our long-term sustainability operation. A sustainable environment and community
are inseparable from our goal to provide customer-centric products. We will keep delivering
innovative products to elevate the sleep health of our customers. With the continuous effort
of the management and its staff, the Group will overcome the challenges ahead and create a

prosperous and sustainable future.

BRIE- S RELRS

EAERNERERISO 26000 LT ST
MENEE REBRELOEHEEKR A
N AEANETIEZIBREGEBRSM
UTHEEE ZRHE !

Blood Donation Day

g =]

BE—EREBRTFHE - REEERN EF
BEATEEEL291 50058 7T 1 970/\5F o

RERR

RTRAFBERRIBARMANBEE
BRRE SRESHEREE IR I
BRANRENFBEERE — R -AF
BEENRENHRARMREEUTSS
MERZBEREAT D HARKSHEER
HEMER RATANERRER REE
BEMEINABRE D EEEERRRK
BB EERE FIRENRR
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PERFORMANCE TABLE

Year ended

3| December

Year ended

3| December

Environmental Performance Unit 2022 2021
BE0nE BEIF

RIGIAR B RA3IBLLEE 12A3IBLEFE
Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Emissions
BEREHR
Scope |: Direct emission tonnes of CO: equivalent (tCO2-e) 822 2,270
#HE  BRYN W_AtHEE
Scope 2: Indirect emission tCOr-e 4,498 6,095
EED : BRI W_RtHEE
Total emissions tCOs-e 5,320 8,365
B E WA EE
GHG emissions intensity tCOs-e/M’ Revenue 1.69 1.96
RERBINEE WM_EtHREE/ BBERA
Energy Consumption
AERER
Solar Energy MWh JKELB 2,897 3,198
KI5HE
Electricity MWh JKELBF 7,877 8950
Natural gas MWh JEELBF 39 642
RAR

m’ 1L 73K 3,548 59,234
Manufacturing diesel MWh JK LB 133 281
TERKH

L7+ 12,454 26,285
Diesel used for transportation MWh JEELBF 3,039 4285
Ewm ALK

L 283,953 400,367
Petrol used for transportation MWh JEFLBF 83 3312
EmARH

L7+ 8516 341,747
Total Energy consumption MWh JK LB 14,068 20,668
SERHFERE
Energy intensity MWHh/M' Revenue 4.46 485
FEREE KEE,/ BEBA
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
BRIE- S RELRS

Year ended

3| December

Year ended

3| December

Environmental Performance Unit 2022 2021
BE200F BEIF

RIGEN B RA3IBLLEE 12A3IBLEFE

Air Pollutant Emissions? 2 5,55 41 BE >

Nitrogen oxides (NOx) ke AT 3,343 -

AR 1EM(NOX)

Sulphur oxides (SOx) ke AT 5 -

IE E4(SOx)

Particulate Matter (PM) ke AFT 303 -

FERH(PM)

Water Consumption FH7K &

Total 485t m’ L 75K 99,259 106,738

Water consumption intensity m?/M' Revenue 31.49 25.06

RKEE UHK/BEBA

Hazardous Waste B EEEY)

Total 485t Tonnes M 326 414

Hazardous waste intensity B =B EWZE Tonnes/M' Revenue M8,/ B & IBA 0.10 0.10

Non-hazardous Waste & ZE Y]

Total 485t Tonnes Mg 1,710 1,596

Total waste recycled BEEH BN 4E £ Tonnes M& 792 1113

Waste recycling rate EEZ=#¥) O]t R 46% 70%

Non-hazardous waste intensity & = EEEY) % S 0.54 0.37

Packaging Material E18&#4 3

Plastic 287 Tonnes M3 800 963

Cardboard # 1R Tonnes M 2,347 2814

Total Packaging Material AEMEES Tonnes ME 3,147 3,777

Air emissions data are disclosed in this Reporting Year for a more comprehensive disclosure in

FREFEERBTZRINER UET
the Report. RRENELEEERE -

BReEEsERAE 0n&6zxs 129
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Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
Social Performance 2022 2021
HE2006F HE0214
HEEN RA3IBLEE NA3IHEFE
Workforce Profile 8 TN
Total workforce B T4 #( 1917 2,004
By gender Male 891 936
R S
Female 1,026 1,068
pogid
By age group 30 years old or below 230 280
BEHAERBD 30m U T
31 to 50 years old 1,288 [,360
31BR E505%
51 years old or above 399 364
SIEREM L
By employment type Management 12 30
RESHRLID =
Senior 56 99
TR A
Junior 1,849 1,875
— AR AR
By geographical region Hong Kong 120 150
s b BB
The PRC 1,797 1,854
H
By employment type Full time 1,871 1,956
REESRLED 28
Part time 46 48
TR
Sinomax Group Limited 2022 Annual Report
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Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
Social Performance 2022 2021
HE0nF HE0IF
HEEK RA3IBILFE  2A3IHILEFE
Employee Turnover Rate 8 TiikZ=
Total turnover rate® 487t 5k &> 17% -
By gender Male 16% 22%
kRl St
Female 17% 23%
i
By age group 30 years old or below 34% 46%
BERERNE D 30 BT
31 to 50 years old 16% 21%
315R E505%
51 years old or above 9% 9%
SImEA L
By employment type Management 8% 9%
‘RESREE D EERE
Senior 13% 9%
IR R A
Junior 17% 23%
—AREAR
By geographical region Hong Kong 27% 22%
‘it E g D BB
The PRC 16% 23%
et
By employment type Full time 16% 22%
RESHREE D 28
Part time 41% 54%
R

3 Total turnover rate of the Group is disclosed in this Reporting Year for a more comprehensive 5 FREFEDHBEFEBRNEMEE MU

disclosure of the Report. BAERREAFLESERE-
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Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
Social Performance 2022 2021
BE200F HE021F
HEEN RA3IALEE  1283IHLEFE
Occupational Health and Safety B 2 BEHREZ 2
Lost days due to work injury Rl TE18KX TEH & 1,883 979
Number of fatalities JE T- A\ #§ 0 0
Rate of fatalities JE T EE 0 0
Training and development* 35 &Il 1 5% &+
By gender Male S 1%
Training % 2B kL 6l 88
Average Training hour 6l 175
Rl TR
Female Z 14
Training % &3IlE 2 LE 39 65
Average Training hour 29 89
RAITFHEH
By employment type Management B2/ Training % ZEIlE 7 LE I 40
REESEEE D Average Training hour 76 147
ZAITF R
Senior &SI 4R 5] Training % &allE 72 LE I 15
Average Training hour 12 45
RilTRH
Junior — A B 4R Training % =3Il B2 tE 98 80
Average Training hour 45 133
R
Supply Chain Management
HrEEEs
Number of suppliers
HEE#E
Local 73t 461 445
Overseas /8451 21 21

The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category for the Reporting ¢ REEFEN ZHHRESHNZSHZ

Year is disclosed and calculated by employees in the specified category who took part in the JEEE AR MEINIEERNES
training divided by employees who took part in training, ANERU2MBINEEAMBE RSB
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Aspect Description Statement/Section Page No.
B 3 PR BH B BE
ENVIRONMENT IR 1%
Al: EMISSIONS HER#)
General Disclosure Information on: Shaping a Healthy Environment
—MRIRE (a) the policies; and SIERENIRE
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to air and greenhouse
gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation
of hazardous and non-hazardous waste. [12-123
BRERMEERBEHN  RKRLHMBIEES - BERE
EERYNELSEN
@) BER ; &
b) BTHETABEAZ BB EZRRANER
KPIALLI The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Shaping a Healthy Environment Hell7 129
FAREIERAL R R R B R HE R o B RRENIRE '
KPIAL2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas Shaping a Healthy Environment
RRENIEIEAI2 emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per ~ — Energy consumption and
unit of production volume, per facility). greenhouse gas emissions [14-115, 128
B EE) REREE EEL) BEERBEHNE QU8 Z2ERENRE-SERHERE
SE) R MER BE WNSEEEN SEREAE - EREHN
KPIAI3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where Shaping a Healthy Environment —
R SREMUISIEAI 3 appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per ~ Waste management
facility). SERRNRE-BEEMEE  120-121,129
FFELREREZEYEE CIEE) k WER B2E WM
SEEE( -BEREHE) o
KPIAL4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where Shaping a Healthy Environment —
BREIERAI4 appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per ~ Waste management
facility). SERENRE-EEMEE  120-121,129
FRELAEZREEYEE MUMEHE) k (NBH) ZE WX
BESB BERMFE) o
KPIALS Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve Shaping a Healthy Environment
PR AAMIEIRALS them. BERENERR 112, 115-116,
W] UM E AR R AENE LB BRI 122-123
8o
KPIAL6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are Shaping a Healthy Environment —
RRBNIEIRALS handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps Waste management
taken to achieve them. SERENIRE-EEYEE 120-121

W REAERESERYNG E RHELPIE] LB EE
BRKRAEDELEE RTINS R

BEEBEERAA

2022 FERE
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Aspect Description Statement/Section Page No.
B Bidii BH 2 BY
A2: Use of Resources & i {8 B
General Disclosure Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water  Shaping a Healthy Environment
—fRiREE and other raw materials. SIERENIRE 112-123
BEXMERER (BFEER  KREAMBRME) NEE
KPIA2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, Shaping a Healthy Environment
R RAIEIEAL gas or oil) in total (KWh in '000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of ~ — Energy consumption and
production volume, per facility). greenhouse gas emissions 13, 128
BRMDNERR/SBEER WE RIh) BEE EERRNER-ERHERE '
UFEFEESE RZE MUSEEEM -BERE ZEREHN
58 e
KPIA22 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of Shaping a Healthy Environment —
REMIEEA22 production volume, per facility). Water & wastewater management 19, 129
BIEKEREZE (MU SESEM SERME) BERENRE-AKR5KE
i
KPIA23 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken  Shaping a Healthy Environment
FISRERIEIRAL3 to achieve them. HERENRE 112, 115-116,
W] LB REAN B R R AERE LB R 122-123
BRI B o
KPIA24 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is  Shaping a Healthy Environment —
fit for purpose, water efficiency initiatives and results achieved. Water & wastewater management 8119
PR EMIERA24 HAKEE AR LA EABE UREAB K Gt BERENRE-AKKRSKE
B KPS R i
KPIA2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) Shaping a Healthy Environment —
and, if applicable, with reference to per unit produced. Packaging material 1212122, 129

PR ABMIERALS

R AR EMEBIEE UM R) k (NER) 8£E
BhEg-

Sinomax Group Limited 2022 Annual Report
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BRIE- S RELRS

Aspect Description Statement/Section Page No.
B Bidii BH 2 BY
A3:The Environment and Natural Resources IRIE R KA E R
General Disclosure Policies on minimizing the issuer's significant impact on the Shaping a Healthy Environment

environment and natural resources. [12-123
— RN AEETABRERRAERENEARZENHR BERENRR
KPIA3.I Description of the significant impacts of activities on the Shaping a Healthy Environment

environment and natural resources and the actions taken to

manage them. 112-123
R EIEIRAS HREBFZHHRERRAERNEAZERERNE EERENERR

EERRENTH-
A4: Climate Change R RZ1E
General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate- Shaping a Healthy Environment —

related issues which have impacted, and those which may impact, Climate risk management

the issuer. 124-126
—MRIKEE HIREHECRITEGHETAELZENEARE EERENERE-RIEAKERE

HREEMNEER-
KPIA4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have Shaping a Healthy Environment —

impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer; and the actions Climate risk management

taken to manage them. 124-126
FAREIERA HHEERTREEHETAELEXENEARREERNE SERBIRE-RERREE

B REHTH-

BEEERBEMRAA 2002FERES
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Aspect Description Statement/Section Page No.
B Bidii BH 2 BY
B. Social {1 &

BI: Employment {E{#

General Disclosure Information on: Promoting Well-being Inside Out —

—RiEE (a) the policies; and Being a responsible employer

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a RS LER-B8FTHNEE
significant impact on the issuer relating to compensation and
dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest

periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and

other benefits and welfare. I
BR#FMRBE - BREREA TEFE RA TFH
2 Znlb RERUREMEBREN
@) B3R ; &
O BETABEARENRREZRRROANER -
KPIBI.I Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- or  Promoting Well-being Inside Out —
part-time), age group and geographical region. Being a responsible employer —
Retaining and attracting talents 105, 130
RRREMIE1RBI .| mith B MERIEE  FRENRMESR D RESORE-EEENET IS
MiESEEH- BRRSIAT
KPIBI.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical Promoting Well-being Inside Out —
region. Being a responsible employer —
Retaining and attracting talents 106, 131
PRGNS 1RB1 2 2R FRAERN RMESI DRIEERKLER RESORE-SEENETIH

BR®SIAA
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Description

REA

BRIE- S RELRS

Statement/Section Page No.

B SH B

B2: Health and Safety RS % 2

General Disclosure

—RINE

KPI B2.1

AR AR XI5 1382

KPI B2.2

AR ERIE1RB22

KPI B2.3

R RIFISIERL3

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to providing a

safe working environment and protecting employees from

occupational hazards.

BRRMHZE2TREERREREREBEMELEN

() B ; &

b) BTHETAEEAX ENRMEARRABER

Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of

the past three years including the Reporting Year:

BEZF BRBEEE SERITHNABKIER.

Lost days due to work injury.

RAIHGERIFRH

Promoting Well-being Inside Out —

Being a responsible employer

RESVRE-EEENEE

[04-111

Promoting Well-being Inside Out —

Being a responsible employer —

Safeguarding employees’ health 109, 132
RS L RE-2EENETAR

S8 TR
Promoting Well-being Inside Out —

Being a responsible employer —

Safeguarding employees’ health 109, 132
RES ORE-BEENEEAR

fE 8 THORRER

Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, Promoting Well-being Inside Out —

how they are implemented and monitored.

WP B ERERZ 2 URBFRITRER

Fiike

Being a responsible employer

108-110
RESLRE-AEENEE

BEEERBEMRAA 2002FERES
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Aspect Description Statement/Section Page No.
B Bidii BH 2 BY
B3: Development and Training 3% & Kz 3 &l
General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for Promoting Well-being Inside Out
discharging duties at work. — Being a responsible employer
— Continuous training and
development 106108
—RRiR R BRRAEERT LIERENM B KR AENER- RESVRE-EEENEETSH
BEIIRER
KPI'B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee  Promoting Well-being Inside Out
category (e.g. senior management, middle management). — Being a responsible employer
— Continuous training and
development 107,132
PR 1283 R REESRR WEREERE FREEE) A0HNR RESLER-EEENETR
JfEEBE DL BEIRER
KPI'B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender Promoting Well-being Inside Out
and employee category. — Being a responsible employer
— Continuous training and
development 107,132
PR IE N IE1RB32 BRI RESENE D BREEXTARINTHRE (RESLRE-AEENETIS
‘iEdl R
B4: Labour Standards &5 T #E 8l
General Disclosure Information on: Promoting Well-being Inside Out —
—RiRE (a) the policies; and Being a responsible employer
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a {EESZLEE-B8ETNEE
significant impact on the issuer relating to preventing child and
forced labour. [04-111
BRARTLEE T o8l TR
@) B3R ; &
b) BTHETABEAX ENEMERRRABER -
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid Promoting Well-being Inside Out —
child and forced labour. Being a responsible employer 104
PRGN 5 1RB4.| B REEANERABRRE T RRFIHE T RESORE-2SENEE
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when Promoting Well-being Inside Out —
discovered. Being a responsible employer 104
RGN E1RB4.2 W B RER B LR HRE MBS 8 RESLRE-EEENEE
Sinomax Group Limited 2022 Annual Report
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Description

REA

BRIE- S RELRS

Statement/Section Page No.

B SH B

B5: Supply Chain Management {i fE 8 & 12

General Disclosure

—RRIKEE

KPI B5. 1

RSB IR 1R85, |

KPI'B5.2

R SR A 5 1ER5.2

KPI B5.3

RS R I51EB5.3

KPI B5.4

PSR AERIE1RB5 4

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply

chain.

EEMEROIRG R EMRBER -

Number of suppliers by geographical region.

wonRE DR HEEHE

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of
suppliers where the practices are being implemented, how they
are implemented and monitored.

W ARERREENIES mERTARBGRHER
B URBERENNATRERA %

Description of practices used to identify environmental and social
risks along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and
monitored.
HRARARERSERHNREREERAKRNES
BRI RER

Description of practices used to promote environmentally
preferable products and services when selecting suppliers, and
how they are implemented and monitored.

BT REMERERECSBRFRERKRBIER > U
RAEBERITRERT A

Delivering Health and Wellness
Products — Quality assurance —
Sustainable procurement 91-93
RERERFRRER- MO RE-
BIFEIRE
Delivering Health and Wellness
Products — Quality assurance —
Sustainable procurement 93,132
RUREKRRER-RERE-
BRERE
Delivering Health and Wellness
Products — Quality assurance —
Sustainable procurement 91-93
RERERFRRER-MERE-
BIRERE
Delivering Health and Wellness
Products — Quality assurance —
Sustainable procurement 9193
RURERREER-RE RE-
BRRRE
Delivering Health and Wellness
Products — Quality assurance —
Sustainable procurement 91-93
RERERRRER-MBERE-
AR ERE

BEEERBEMRAA 2002FERES
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Aspect
B

Description

REA

Statement/Section

B SH

Page No.
B

Bé: Product and Service Responsibility Z fa & ARTE & E

General Disclosure

—RRIKEE

KPI Bé6. |

B SR AR RUIE 1%B6. |

KPI B6.2

B SR E N IE1ER6.2
KPI B6.3

SR ERUIERR63
KPI B6.4

B E M I51ER64
KPI B6.5

RS RMIE1RB6.S

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products

and services provided and methods of redress.

BRFMREERNMRENEREZE2 BS REKMLE
FEURERTER

) B3R ; &

b) BTHETABEAX ENAMERRRABER
Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for
safety and health reasons.
EEYCEZERBHTRE 2R REEMAMEAR W
Btk

Number of products and service related complaints received and
how they are dealt with.

BEMNERRRERFEE USRS
Description of practices relating to observing and protecting
intellectual property rights.

it B 4 S R AR PR A B EE AR R ARV 1B A1

Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.

HAESREBRENEROUWRERF-

Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, how
they are implemented and monitored.
HIHBEEENRERMEER URBERITRERS
o

Sinomax Group Limited 2022 Annual Report

Delivering Health and Wellness

Products — Quality assurance

RUREARRER-RERE

Delivering Health and Wellness

Products — Quality assurance

RUBRKRREER-RERE

Delivering Health and Wellness
Products — Quality assurance
RERERFRER-mERE

Delivering Health and Wellness
Products — Quality assurance
RERBERFRER-RBERE

Delivering Health and Wellness
Products — Quality assurance

RERERFRER-RERE

Delivering Health and Wellness
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BRIE- S RELRS

Aspect Description Statement/Section Page No.
B Bidii BH 2 BY
B7:Anti- corruption R &5
General Disclosure Information on: Promoting Well-being Inside Out —
—fRiREE (a) the policies; and Corporate governance

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a RS LEE-REEAR

significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering. 103

BRMLER SR MFERARER

@) B3R ; &

b) BTHETABEAZENEMEZRRAMNER
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices Promoting Well-being Inside Out —

brought against the issuer or its employees during the Reporting Corporate governance

Year and the outcomes of the cases. 103
R B F512B7. RERPAFETANEHESRETESEENEGSHL RESVRR-CXER

ESEENE SV SN
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures, how they are implemented Promoting Well-being Inside Out —
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PR IE 151587 2 HWp AR B RER  URERRITRERS % RESVRE-EXER
KPI'B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and  Promoting Well-being Inside Out —

staff. Corporate governance 103
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General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of Care For the Community

the communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its

activities take into consideration the communities’ interests. 126-127
—RRIKEE BRUMEB2ERTRETAEEMTHETENER MAEHE

HEBEHEZRBHERN@EMEER-
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental Care For the Community

concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport). 96177
PRGN 51%88.| EIERMERE BB REFE - FIRR BR X HAEHE

BB -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B\ HENR S

_E
pwc

To the Shareholders of Sinomax Group Limited

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Sinomax Group Limited (the “Company”) and its

subsidiaries (the “Group"), which are set out on pages 155 to 311, comprise:
. the consolidated statement of financial position as at 3| December 2022;

. the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the

year then ended;

. the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;
. the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and
. the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include significant accounting

policies and other explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2022, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA™) and have been properly prepared in compliance

with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs")
issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our

report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a

basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (“‘the Code"), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities

in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most
significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements
as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

. Provision for inventories

. Impairment of property, plant and equipment (“PPE") and right-of-use assets (“ROU
assets”) held by the US cash generating unit (“US CGU")

. Expected credit loss (“ECL") assessment on trade receivables
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Key Audit Matter
MREHEE

Provision for inventories

AR

Refer to note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.

2R MBS RRM 00

As at 3| December 2022, the Group had gross inventories of
approximately HK$620.4 million and provision of approximately
HK$65.1 million.

R202F12A31R EXERAFERENQ4RETK
BENS. BB

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The
cost of such inventories may not be recoverable if they are damaged
or become obsolete, or if their selling prices have declined.
FENENARIEEFENBREEGB - URLEEFER
BEB R WHHEER T A E AR s AURE
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

ESHEBHTHAREAFTENEESR

Our key procedures in relation to management's assessment of the provision

for inventories included:

EERNEERN AN Lz ARREFEE

- Obtained an understanding of the management’s internal control
and assessment process of provision for inventories and assessed the
inherent risk of material misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent risk factors such as
complexity, subjectivity, changes and susceptibility to management bias
or fraud:

— THEEEMRTERANADERRIGER TBERER
st 2 FRMERNEE R EMER BRERNKT (NEH
B EFRHEEERENMFHGRN) SHEEXRHE
RERHE A R

- Understood, evaluated and tested key controls over the inventory
provision, including those in identifying slow-moving and obsolete
inventories, and the estimation and review of subsequent selling price
against the corresponding cost;

— TR FENAGFEEENMRELE QEBRERNFIEN
REFENER URHRBERNAHREEBETHIRE
B



Key Audit Matter
MREHEE

Provision for inventories (continued)

FEEE (8

The Group's management regularly reviews its inventory level,
ageing and condition in order to identify slow-moving and obsolete
inventories and assess if provision for obsolescence is needed.
Management also reviews and estimates, if necessary, the subsequent
selling price and the estimated cost to sale of the inventory and
compares with the corresponding carrying cost and estimated cost
to completion to assess if the net realisable value is lower than its
carrying amount. When management identifies items of inventories
which are slow-moving, obsolete, or having a net realisable value
lower than its carrying amount, management estimates the amount of
provision for inventories by assessing their ageing and conditions, or
comparing the items' corresponding cost with the subsequent selling
price.
EEEEEBENBEREFENKT IRE KRR > IR
RREFE U tEEREtRRERE BEERTEEL
EREBRRGSRENEEURMGFEHEMA 1 £4F
FEBBRE A R fE 5T e TR A ETTEE R LGB R 2R % E
EEBRERAE ESEEAN LFHE RENIEFFE
BREREEENFEEER EEERRTEFENRE
RRRARFENERMFEAREEBETLE A5EE
BHEEHEo

We focus on this area due to the significance of the inventory balance
and, management judgement and estimates involved in determining
the provision.
EEEINEBRENENFEEREAREERBE I REE
FIER G5t

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

ESHEBHTHAREAFTENEESR

- Tested, on a sample basis, the net realisable value of finished goods, by
comparing the carrying amounts of the inventory items against their
respective selling price and the cost to sale subsequent to the year end.
For raw materials and work in progress, we also tested, on a sample
basis, their subsequent utilisation. For those inventory items which have
not been sold subsequently, we evaluated management's assessment
and checked to the source data on a sample basis, in which they made
reference to the historical sales information and performed research on
the market price information and compared with the estimated selling
price;

- EAMEAAUEBREEEENREEEANRFRENEER
HEER BRAmIAERFEETIE  HRMHKER
mME ESTHEEERBERETHENS - WNRERE
HNEFE EFTEEERNFGIMEZEREE  EPRK
FSERLHEENTHTIZEREETRE LRHEERG
SHEBETHER;

- Attended the inventory observation to observe the inventory

condition;
— BINFERMUBEEFEERNR;

- Tested, on a sample basis, the accuracy of the ageing profile of individual
inventory items by checking to the underlying supporting documents.

—  EERREEEXEEEE RS ENFERE KRR ER
i

Based on the procedures performed, we considered management's
judgements and estimates applied on the inventories provision were
supported by available evidence.

ERBTNER BERREEENFE RGP ARAIE Rt
BEABRESR-
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Key Audit Matter
MREHEE

Impairment of property, plant and equipment (“PPE”) and right-of-
use assets (“ROU assets”) held by the United States cash generating
unit (“US CGU”)
EXEREELEM ((REAREELEM) RFNYME K
BRFEE(ME- -BERRE) UREREEE ((EHAE
BE) NRE

Refer to notes 15 and 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

ASREEMBRERMEEIS K6

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amounts of the property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets held by the US CGU were
approximately HK$242.8 million and HK$177.0 million, respectively.
120226 128318 REREEEBUMBNNE BE &
BURERESENREEDANR242888ETRI77.08
BAe

As a result of the unfavourable performance of the US CGU during
the year ended 31 December 2022, the management performed
impairment assessments by estimating the recoverable amount of the
CGU which was determined based on higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use.
BAREE0NFNAIBLFERRAREETEURRRE
EEERBAFZREELEUNTIRESRETRET
i ZREEFADERATFERLENFLAEBEEME 2P
MBRSEETE
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

ESHEBHTHAREAFTENEESR

Our key procedures in relation to management's assessment of the
impairment of PPE and ROU assets held by the US CGU included:
EERNEERN AR ELBUMFNYE BERRBUR
ERABREENAEFGZARREFEE

- Obtained an understanding of the management's internal control and

assessment process in identifying the indicators of potential impairment
and estimating the recoverable amount of the US CGU, and assessed
the inherent risk of material misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent risk factors such as
complexity, subjectivity, changes and susceptibility to management bias
or fraud:

- THREEEMRANEZEREELBUNETRESR R
stE PRI BRE T RRA A EES R ERER T8EE
Rt 2 TNABEENEEREMES RBEZENKT (N#E
B TEN 2PREEERERR AWML FEEXR
HRRENEBRERE ;



Key Audit Matter
MREHEE

Impairment of property, plant and equipment (“PPE”) and right-of-
use assets (“ROU assets”) held by the United States cash generating
unit (“US CGU”) (continued)

EXEREELEM ((REAREELEM) RFNYME K
BRFEE(ME- -BERRE) UREREEE ((EHAE
BE)) NRE (&

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
ENVR PR Gl

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

ESHEBHTHAREAFTENEESR

Assessed the appropriateness of the key assumptions used in estimating
the value in use of the PPE and ROU assets. For revenue growth
rates and gross margin, we compared these assumptions to the
historical performance of the US CGU. We also obtained evidence
such as indicative sales orders regarding the expected sales which
were forecasted in the financial budget. For discount rate, we assessed
management’s calculation and made reference to other comparable
companies. For terminal growth rate, we compared it to the industry
research and market data.
SHEREEE - BERREURERREENEREETH
ERANMRERNBEL - HRNBAERERENR EER
ZEBRRAZBFECELEMUNEERFETILR -EFTE
BETRE AWMR M HRE RN FERRENERIEH
ESTE-HRNITRE EETLEERNGAEBRELSE Hh
HELERAF -HRRIFEERE BEEREATERRKTS
HUREITILE

Compared the current year's actual results with the forecast made
in last year to evaluate the reliability and historical accuracy of
management’s budgeting process;
RAFENBERXEREFNRAFLE LEFEEEEFY
FERRNRREERELERRE ;

BEEERBEMRAA 2002FERES
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ENVR PR Gl

Key Audit Matter
MREHEE

Impairment of property, plant and equipment (“PPE”) and right-of-
use assets (“ROU assets”) held by the United States cash generating
unit (“US CGU”) (continued)

XEREELEM ((REREELEM) RFNYE K
ER#E (MME -BERRE) UAREREEE ((EHAE
BE) NREE (@)

The value in use calculation used cash flow projections based on
management approved financial budgets covering a five-year period
and extrapolate the cash flow projections beyond the period covered

by the budgets with a terminal growth rate. Certain key assumptions

used by the management include revenue growth rates, gross margin,

discount rate, and long-term growth rate. Management also performed

sensitivity analysis on the recoverable amount of the US CGU to

changes in the key assumptions used in the cash flow projections.

There was no impairment loss identified for the year ended 3l

December 2022 based on the management’s assessment.
CREEHENREEEEMERELFRBNUHEE
UEkAERERXENBHASMEAEHEANRESRER
R-BEEMERNETHRER BRRARRER EFX.
FREURRBEEE) - EBETHERAREELEMUN
AREEEHRERERAPEANTIERREECHIREE
THRME D -RIEEERENTE BE202F1283IBEE
B B R R BB R

We focused on this area due to the significance of the balance of the
PPE and the ROU assets held by the US CGU, and the management’s
impairment assessments involved judgements and estimates.

ARLERDANEEREELEBUMBTHNYE K
%& BEURERREEEREAREEERAETGEI &
HIER A5t
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

ESHEBHTHAREAFTENEESR

- Evaluated the sensitivity analysis prepared by management on the
key assumptions used in the cash flow projections to understand the
impact of reasonable changes in key assumptions on the estimated
recoverable amount of the US CGU, and to consider if any impairment
loss would be resulted by such reasonable changes. We have also

checked the mathematical accuracy of this sensitivity analysis;

- MEEEESREAERATEANIRRIETHRRE
DI U TRIERKNGEEHHEEREE T EUMNMGS
JWEEBENEE ITERZBEELNETERNERRES
B-EFITRE T ZBHRIMED IR HBEREN

- Involved our in-house valuation expert to review the valuation
methodology adopted by management and assessed the valuation
assumptions such as discount rate used by management in the cash
flow projections with reference to market data; and

-  BHRAAARGEERSETSAE EREEEMRANG
EBERE RIGEEZERREEREVATEANLERR 6
MIFRE ;&

Tested mathematical accuracy and considered the appropriateness of
the cash flows included in the discounted cash flow projections.

—  AEFAENERT UERRRREREVAFAFANREE
MENEEN -

Based on the procedures performed, we considered management'’s
judgements and estimates applied on the impairment assessments in respect
of the PPE and ROU assets held by the US CGU were supported by available
evidence.

ERFATHNER ESRAEEEMEERSELBUMBYE-
F%& % 1 LUK 2 PR E A BYRUE ST A PR B O F B Kk (4 5t 2RI 49
RE o



Key Audit Matter
MREHEE

Expected credit loss (“ECL") assessment on trade receivables

BRRKRENEREEHE (BREEHE) 1

Refer to note 3.1(ii)(b)(i) to the consolidated financial statements.

B2 RREMBRRMEE. () (b)))°

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had gross trade receivable of
approximately HK$468.3 million and provision for impairment of
approximately of HK$32.5 million.

R202F 128310 BSXERAEZERTIREERN6838
BARETRAERENSBRETTe

Management applied the simplified approach to measure the lifetime
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables. The Group measured
the expected credit losses on an individual and a collective basis.
For customers with public financial information to assess the credit
rating, they were assessed individually for the expected credit losses,
the remaining customers with shared credit risk characteristics were
grouped into different categories and assessed collectively based on
their likelihood of recovery, taking into account the nature of the
customers and their geographical location.
EEERBECAIBEMEESRUTENZMENBE
Bt SREEUENRAFEZEFERREERRE HNF
ARAMBEMALUFEERSMNER  REREHEE
FERHEEERE HEABARGEEARBEHENERBA
AEER REBEEWCRIEERRZ BT HERHEMIE
I B HREEE -
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

ESHEBHTHAREAFTENEESR

Our key procedures in relation to management's assessment of the ECL on

trade receivables included:

EERNEERYESRENENENEEERI G ZAREERFE

&

Obtained an understanding of the management's internal control
and assessment process of estimating expected credit loss allowance
for trade receivables and assessed the inherent risk of material
misstatement by considering the degree of estimation uncertainty
and level of other inherent risk factors such as complexity, subjectivity,
changes and susceptibility to management bias or fraud;
THREEEMN G EZBRRRENRREERRERNR
G R E R WBBE Bt 2 THABERNEERHE
MEERBRRARNKT &M THRE - ZHRHEERER
SSIEFFROSURIE) sHEE R HERRARE R AR ;

Understood, evaluated and tested key controls over the estimation of

allowance for impairment;

TEERZEERERAGRRRES

For expected credit losses of trade receivables assessed individually,
with the assistance of our in-house valuation expert, on a sample basis,
we performed market research of the loss given default rate and the
debtors’ credit rating which are publicly available. We evaluated the
credit rating as probability of default which included forward-looking
factor as well as combining the loss given default rate, and compared
with the expected credit loss rates applied by management;
HRBRTENEZEWTENTRREERR ERMGESR
RGBT ESHARAIBNENBEERREB AERTR
ETHETSRE - EERERTRESEORRTG HP
BEMEERZ TERENERR TREEERANTER
EEBERRETIER,;
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Key Audit Matter
MREHEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

ESHEBHTHAREAFTENEESR

Expected credit loss (“ECL") assessment on trade receivables
(continued)
BERURENBREEEE ((RBEEHER) T

)

In developing the loss allowances of trade receivables, the expected
credit loss rates are based on historical payment profiles of sales, the
corresponding historical credit losses rate, the external default data,
and adjusted by management’s assessment to reflect the current and
forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting the
ability of the customers to settle the receivables.
ANTEEZBURENERERR RRGEBEREXDER
HENEENTR T HERELEEBER INBENEE
TREEEEEARMETEZT R BERWTEENNEE
RERRNEH RATEEEN A EEL AR

We focused on this area due to the significance of the trade
receivables balance and the management's ECL assessment on trade
receivables involved judgements and estimates.
BEFEINEBEENESRNREEREAREEREY
B 7 BB R (E B R R M (45t o

For expected credit losses of trade receivables assessed collectively, we
evaluated the appropriateness of the management’s grouping. We then
tested, on a sample basis, the accuracy of the ageing analysis of trade
receivables as at the reporting date used in management's assessment
to the invoices and other relevant documents. We evaluated the
appropriateness of adjustments for forward-looking information based
on the analysis of macro-economic factors, with the assistance of our
in-house valuation expert; and
HRHAREEFGNEZBRMENRREERREMNS &%
AT EEBNENBEE EEARHNEEEFETHER
REMARXHPERR RS BHNE 7 BRRENRE D
MEREETHENSE -EABGEEROHE T ERNHR
BCOERENDI BT HAREENETRBNEE
5 &

Recomputed the historical loss rate calculation and evaluated the
appropriateness and tested the accuracy of the major data inputs
including historical settlement pattern of trade receivables used in
the expected credit losses models, on a sample basis, to the Group's
accounting records.

Bt EEEEREXAE HR SREENSSCH KA
BEANTETZBARE CRRAEEERREATEANE
ZREUENBEEERN) NEEN WA HEER -

Based on the procedures performed, we considered management's
judgements and estimates applied on the expected credit loss assessment on
trade receivables were supported by available evidence.
ERFBTHNER BERREEENESRIENENHBESS
BTGP AR ET R (L5t EE AR RE o
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all of the information included in the annual report other than the

consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information

and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is
to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in

the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in

this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to

fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do

SO.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to
you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these

consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain

professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error; as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal

control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of

expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group'’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors” use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or; if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date
of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to

cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair

presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of
the entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and

performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies

in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where

applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B\ HENR S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to

outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is Albert

KW. Lee.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 28 March 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

maEmkHMEERER
For the year ended 31 December 2022
BEONFNAIBIEFE

2022 2021
20224 20214F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
bt 5F FHET FHB7T
Revenue WA 5 3,151,960 4,259,882
Cost of sales SHE A 9 (2529,216) (3542.929)
Gross profit EH 622,744 716,953
Other income =Kl N 6 54,134 63,136
Net impairment losses of financial assets THEERERIETHE 3.1(i)(b) (17,938) (4715)
Other gains/(losses), net Hitis/ (B518) » 348 7 25,542 (11,746)
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHFAS 9 (424,547) (420,245)
Administrative expenses THRX 9 (188,695) (199,207)
Research and development cost MR A 9 (74,423) (67,366)
Finance costs A 8 (46,027) (38,941)
(Loss)/profit before income tax BRPTSMAT (B518) /& (49,210) 37,869
Income tax credit/(expense) FrigMER,/ (%) 12 12,025 (6434)
(Loss)/profit for the year FR (518) 5F (37,185) 31,435
Other comprehensive income Htn > E e
ftems that may be reclassified to profit or loss: oEMDEEERNER !
Current translation differences for foreign operations 7842 7% H) B ERFE 2 = %8 (58,726) 24,559
Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year FREMEE (B18) (58,726) 24,559
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year FR2E (BB WRE5E (95,911) 55,994
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to: THIALRIEER (B518) &F)
Owners of the Company Vi /NCIEZZ=DN (35,970) 15,305
Non-controlling interests JFER R (1,215) 16,130
(37.185) 31435

BEEERBEMRAA 2002FERES
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

maEmkHMEERER
For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE0NFNA3IBLEE

2022 2021
20224 20214
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Py 5E FHET THETT
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year THATEEERZE (BB
attributable to: W 4R EE
Owners of the Company EREER A (90,618) 38,308
Non-controlling interests JEPERR (5,293) 17,686
(95.911) 55994
(Losses)/earnings per share 5K (18 /&7
— Basic and diluted (HK cents) —EARREE (B 14 (2.06) 087

The notes on page 162 to 311 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
REMBRRR

At 3| December 2022
F202FE12831H

2022 2021
20224 20214F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5% FHET THATT
Assets BE
Non-current assets FEREBEE
Property, plant and equipment M~ Rkt 15 462,862 507,902
Right-of-use assets TRREE 16 247,917 314997
Investment properties KREYE |7 28,073 32,508
Intangible assets B EE 8 11,177 12,955
Deposits and other receivables e REMAEURIE 21 54,043 23,333
Deferred tax assets RERIEEE 19 62,599 29616
866,671 921,311
Current assets MEEE
Inventories =78 20 555,271 703278
Trade and other receivables B 5 KR EMERRIE 21 551,873 840,098
Bill receivables eSS 2 72,210 94,644
Trade receivables at fair value through other FEEMEERGERA T AR
comprehensive income B S e EIE 23 22,962 39,833
Pledged bank deposits BIRIRIRITER 25 = 1174
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEED 25 168,955 228532
1,371,271 1,907,559
Total assets BEBE 2,237,942 2,828,870
Equity R
Equity attributable to the Company’s equity holders R AT ERIFH AR
Share capital %N 29 175,000 175,000
Reserves (i) 720,201 817819
Equity attributable to owners of the Company EABBE AELER 895,201 992,819
Non-controlling interests R 36 (8261) 13,799
Total equity i 4EEE 886,940 1,006,618
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
REMBIRR

At 3| December 2022
120225128318

2022 2021
20225 20216
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
e FHET FHB7T
Liabilities &
Non-current liabilities JEREIEE
Lease liabilities HE&R 16 236,228 272457
Deferred government grant 3R S i B 26 1,325 1,863
Deferred tax liabilities EERIEEE 19 19,227 18,106
256,780 292,426
Current liabilities mEaf
Trade and other payables B 5 REMENTRIE 26 479,458 789,288
Bill payables ANEE 27 5,233 35,729
Contract liabilities BHER 5(iv) 11,993 14,837
Unsecured bank borrowings EIRRIRITER 28 522,259 588273
Lease liabilities HEaE 16 63,513 84,139
Taxation payable FEfTIR R 11,766 17,560
1,094,222 1,529,826
Total liabilities BfEE%E 1,351,002 1,822,252
Total equity and liabilities Kk aREE 2,237,942 2,828870

The financial statements on pages |55 to 311 were approved by the Board of Directors on FISSEI I B H B RERN2023FE3H28

28 March 2023 and were signed on its behalf HESEgH#ERKRENE THTIE
EAREE
Mr. Lam Chi Fan E LKL Mr. Lam Kam Cheung ¥ #8%#5¢ 4%
Director £ Director %
The notes on page 162 to 31| are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. FIQENNENWEAZELREMBRRN—
BT
A
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

= aE =L 4=
maEmgesR
For the year ended 31 December 2022
BEONFNAIBILEFE

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

FRRER NEGRD
Share Non-
Share Share Merger  Statutory Capital options  Translation Retained controlling
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Sub-total interests Total

ki JHER
Bx REE GHEE  ATHE  EREE R ERMRR  REEN et 1B a5t
HKSOO0  HK$000  HK$O00  HK$000  HK$000  HK$O00  HK$O000  HKPO00  HK$O0D  HK$O000  HKFO00
TEr Tz TExn TEx TEx TExn  TEz TExn TEx  TEz  TExn

(note (i)
(GEDO)

At | January 2021 R0IEIBIB 175,000 404,520 (403,835) 57047 1510 3723 12,721 703825 954511 1948 956,459
Profit for the year FREF - - - - - - 15,305 15,305 16,130 31435
Exchange differences arising on HEBINEBELN

translation of foreign operation EREHE - - - - - - 23003 - 23003 1,556 24,559
Total comprehensive income FRZENHER

for the year - - - - - 23,003 15305 38,308 17,686 55994
Dividend declared to non-controlling 813 F¥2RR R FT E IKET

interests RS - - - - - - - - - (5.835) (5.835)
Lapse of share options BRERN - - - - (61) - 61 - - -
Transfers of statutory reserve BEEAERE - - - 8473 - - (8473) - - -
At 31 December 2021 ®021E128315 175,000 404,520 (403,835) 65520 1510 3662 35724 710718 992819 13799 1006618
At | January 2022 R202%1818 175,000 404520  (403,835) 65,520 1,510 3,662 35,724 710,718 992,819 13,799 1,006,618
Loss for the year FREE - - - - - - - (35970)  (35.970) (1,215 (37,185)
Exchange differences arising on HEBNEBEED

translation of foreign operation ERER - - - - - - (54,648) - (54,648) (4078)  (58,726)
Total comprehensive expense FRZERZAE

for the year - - - - - - (G4648)  (B970)  (0618) (5293  (95911)
Dividend declared to non-controlling (@3 F¥ERR B P B IKEY

interests Ba = = = - - - - - S8 (2805
Dividend paid Bfi%E = = = = = 5 - o0 (000) (13962  (0962)
Lapse of share options BRELN = = = = = (223) = 23 - - -
Transfers of statutory reserve BREETHE = - - 4225 - - - (4,225) - - -
At 31 December 2022 R0NEI2A31H 175,000 404520 (403,835) 69,745 1,510 3439 (18924) 663,746 895,201 (8261) 886,940
The notes on page 162 to 31| are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. FIQENNENWEAZEGREMBRRN—

B o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

o A il 3L a2y
EEEREHR
For the year ended 31 December 2022

BHE0NENAIIHILEEE

Notes:

160

Pursuant to applicable People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") regulations, certain PRC
subsidiaries are required to transfer a portion of their profits after taxation to the statutory
reserve and allocation to the statutory reserve which shall be approved by the board of
directors of the entity. The transfer had been made before the distribution of a dividend
to equity owners. The appropriation to statutory reserve may cease if the balance of the
statutory reserve has reached 50% of the registered capital of the entity. The reserve can
be applied either to set off accumulated losses, if any or to increase registered capital. The

statutory reserve is non-distributable other than upon liquidation.

In accordance with the provisions of the Macao Commercial Code, the subsidiary of the
Company incorporated in Macau is required to transfer a minimum of 25% of annual net
profit to statutory reserve until the accumulated amount equals half of its quota capital. This

reserve is not distributable to the shareholders.

Sinomax Group Limited 2022 Annual Report
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

n\7|'\ EE%/}ILE‘IEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HEXXNENAINHLIEFEE

2022 2021
20224 20214
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
By EE FHET TAT
Operating activities REED
Net cash generated from operations KEMBRE A 31(a) 214,896 183,782
Hong Kong profits tax paid BAEEFER (2,278) (7211)
PRC enterprise income tax (“EIT") paid BAREEEMRER ((EEMER) (18,426) (19,052)
PRC withholding tax paid BFRERNR (3,364) (729)
Net cash generated from operating activities REEHELRES I 190,828 156,790
Investing activities BREEH
Payment for purchase of property plant and BEME -BENZEZAM
equipment (51,044) (48,637)
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits EIBEMRITER 1,174 9,086
Proceeds from disposal of property plant and HEME KER&EEHIE
equipment 31(b) 5,085 5441
Net cash inflow from disposal of subsidiaries HEMRBAB ZREMANFEE 21(a) 25,172 61815
Interest received BUFIE 4,797 487
Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activities ¥ & & &) (FT D) S EEZREFE (14,816) 28,192
Financing activities ROEEE
New unsecured bank borrowings raised MEENRITRERITEN 31(c) 1,155,918 805,969
Repayments of unsecured bank borrowings BERITRIRTER 31(c) (1,238,675) (775,402)
Repayments of lease liabilities BEEEAE 31(c) (87,456) (81563)
Interest paid BAFE (46,027) (38,941)
Dividends paid BARE 31(c) (20,962) (4.861)
Net cash used in financing activities MEEBFARE R (237,202) (94,798)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and ReRREZEY
cash equivalents (L) /i34 (61,190) 90,184
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning EMRERFEEEN
of the year 228,532 136915
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes EEEHNTE 1,613 1433
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year, FRREKRINEZEY
represented by bank balances and cash MIRITHEERRIRE 25! 25 168,955 228,532

The notes on page 162 to 311 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR G MR MTEE

GENERAL

The Group manufactures and sells health and household products. The Company
acts as an investment holding company and the principal activities of the Group are

conducted by its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 35.

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The
address of its registered office is P O. Box 309, Ugland House, KYI-1104. Cayman

Islands.

The ordinary shares of the Company are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The Company is a subsidiary of Sinomax Enterprises Limited (“Sinomax Enterprises”),

a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation

(i) Compliance with HKFRS and the disclosure requirements of HKCO

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS")
and the applicable disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance Cap. 622.

Sinomax Group Limited 2022 Annual Report
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(i)

(i)

Historical cost convention

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical
cost basis, except for certain trade receivables at fair value through other

comprehensive income which were stated at fair value.

New and amended standards adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following amendments for the first time for

their annual reporting period commencing | January 2022:

Amendments to Annual Annual Improvements of HKFRSs

Improvements Project 2018-2020

HKFRS 3, HKAS 16 and HKAS 37 Narrow-scope amendments

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year
has had no material impact on the Group's financial position and
performance for the current and prior years and on the disclosures set

out in these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR G MR MTEE

2

164

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2 FEEHERHEE @

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

2 RREE®

(iv)  New and amended standards issued but not yet effective (v)

Certain new and amended standards which have been published that are

not mandatory for the financial year beginning on | January 2022 and

have not been early adopted by the Group:

EBfEHKLHEIMTR
AEETER

UTEFHITREEE
ZEREEREM Bl EA
2002 1B IHBBZHK
FERBER FILAE
B iR PR A

Effective for annual periods

beginning on or after

RUTEHBAHZ R

RIsRFEEREXR
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts | January 2023
EBYHREENE 757 REBEH 2023F 1A 18
HKFRS 17 Amendments to HKFRS 17 | January 2023
BBMBREERE 75 BBMBIREERE 175 (B5TH) 203F 1818
HKFRS 17 Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and HKFRS 9-Comparative | January 2023

Information

BEBMBREERE 75 BEREREBMBERSENS I TRAEBYBRS 203F181H

Amendments to HKAS |
BRGERE I (BITX)
Amendments to HKAS |
BRGERE I (BITX)
Amendments to HKAS | and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2
ERBHENEIFEREBVHR
SEAEHBERELN
Amendments to HKAS 8
BEGTERIESS (BITX)
Amendments to HKAS 12

BEBGSTERE 25 (BF]A)

Sinomax Group Limited 2022 Annual Report

R FSE- LR E R
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
REEIEARBNIER
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
MEZENIERBEE

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

B HHERRE

Definition of Accounting Estimates
BEHEHNEE
Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities arising from a

single transaction

RE-QZELENEEREEEMIVELR

| January 2024
20245 1R 1H
| January 2024
20245 1R 1H
| January 2023

202318 1H
| January 2023
2023F 181

| January 2023

203F181H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(iv)  New and amended standards issued but not yet effective (continued)

e RRMEE

TEEHEREE (@
2 RREE®

(v)  EREMEEKERIRETR
AEIEETER ()

Effective for annual periods

beginning on or after

RUTEBAHZ®E

RIaHFEREXR

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback | January 2024
EBYHRSENE 5% (BiTA) EREDNESEERE 20241 A 18
Amendments to Hong Kong Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Applied when an entity
Interpretation 5 Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause applies “Classification of
liabilities as current or non-

current — amendments to

HKAS |

BEBRRESE (BFTX) EBERAHAIREREEERNEHRERNDE EERRARAaENE
HRBIIERE —EAE

SHEERIS 15 (BETHR) |

8 A

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its To be confirmed by
HKAS 28 Associate or Joint Venture the HKICPA
BEBUBREEE 05K REELHBEATNNABELCXBNEELE BTEBGMAGHES

BB G ERE285 (BE]A) FEE

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that the adoption of
the above new standard and amendments to existing standards would
not have a material impact on the Group in the current or future
reporting periods and on foreseeable future transactions. The Group
intends to adopt the above new standard and amendments to existing

standards when they become effective.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR G MR MTEE

2

166

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

22 Going Concern

During the year ended 3| December 2022, the Group reported a loss
before income tax of HK$49,210,000. The Group had total bank borrowings,
all classified as current liabilities, of HK$522,259,000 while its cash and cash
equivalents was HK$168,955,000 as at 3| December 2022.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has not complied with a restrictive
financial covenant of certain of its borrowings amounting to HK$35,864,000.
Such non-compliance of covenant may cause the borrowings from these
relevant banks to become immediately due and payable but corresponding
waivers have been obtained from the relevant banks prior to 31 December
2022.

Sinomax Group Limited 2022 Annual Report
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

22

Going Concern (continued)

In view of such circumstances, the directors of the Company have given careful

consideration to the future liquidity and performance of the Group and its

available sources of financing in assessing whether the Group will have sufficient

financial resources to continue as a going concern. Certain plans and measures

have been taken to mitigate the liquidity pressure and to improve its financial

position which include, but not limited to, the following:

Before 31 December 2022, the Group successfully obtained waivers
from the non-compliance of a restrictive financial covenants from the
relevant banks of bank borrowings amounting to HK$35,864,000.
The Group will continue to monitor its compliance with the covenant
requirements. Should the Group anticipate that it would not be able
to comply with the covenant requirements, the management of the
Company will discuss and negotiate with the respective banks and will
seek to further revise the terms and covenant requirements or obtain a
waiver of compliance with the covenant requirements from the banks, if

needed;

the Group maintains continuous communication with all the banks
and management believes that the unutilised other existing unsecured
banking facilities available to the Group, amounting to approximately
HK$464,958,000 as at 31 December 2022, will be continued available
and successfully renewed when their current terms expire given the long
standing relationship the Group has with the relevant counter parties.
The Group will be able to draw down from these facilities to finance its

operations, if needed;

=
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR G MR MTEE

2

168

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

22 Going Concern (continued)

(ify  the directors of the Company are of the opinion that continuous
operating cash flow of the Group will be generated in the next twelve

months resulting from the continued easing of impact of COVID-19; and

(iv)  the Group will continue to seek for other alternative financing and bank
borrowings to finance the settlement of the existing financial obligations

and future operating and capital expenditure.

The directors of the Company have reviewed the Group's cash flow projections
prepared by management and the cash flow projections cover a period of not
less than twelve months from 31 December 2022. They are of the opinion
that, taking into account the anticipated cash flows generated from the Group's
operations as well as the possible changes in its operating performance, the
Group's ability to comply with the covenant requirements and draw down
from its existing banking facilities, the Group will have sufficient working capital
to finance its operations and to meet its financial obligations as and when
they fall due within twelve months from 31 December 2022. Accordingly, the
directors are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial

statements on a going concern basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

23

Principles of consolidation and equity accounting

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the

Company and entities controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the
Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power
to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated
from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are

deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

Business combinations by the Group (except for business combination
under common control) are accounted for using the acquisition method.
Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions
between Group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the transferred asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies

adopted by the Group.
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AT IR R MIEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting (continued)

()

(i)

Subsidiaries (continued)

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are
shown separately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated

statement of financial position respectively.

Changes in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do
not result in a loss of control as transactions with equity owners of the
Group. A change in ownership interest results in an adjustment between
the carrying amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests to
reflect their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between
the amount of the adjustment to non-controlling interests and any
consideration paid or received is recognised in an “Other Reserves”

within equity attributable to owners of the Company.
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2

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

23

Principles of consolidation and equity accounting (continued)

(i)

Changes in ownership interests (continued)

When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity account for an
investment because of a loss of control, joint control or significant
influence, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair
value with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss.
This fair value becomes the initial carrying amount for the purposes of
subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint
venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted
for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to

another category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRS.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4  Business combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all business
combinations, regardless of whether equity instruments or other assets are
acquired. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary

comprises the:

. fair values of the assets transferred:

. liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquired business;

. equity interests issued by the Group;

. fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration

arrangement, and

. fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a
business combination are, with limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair
values at the acquisition date. The Group recognises any non-controlling interest
in the acquired entity on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at fair value or
at the non-controlling interest's proportionate share of the acquired entity's net

identifiable assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

24

Business combinations (continued)

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. The excess of the:

. consideration transferred,

. amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity, and

. acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquired
entity

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.
If those amounts are less than the fair value of the net identifiable assets of
the business acquired, the difference is recognised directly in profit or loss as a

bargain purchase.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the amounts
payable in the future are discounted to their present value as at the date
of exchange. The discount rate used is the entity's incremental borrowing
rate, being the rate at which a similar borrowing could be obtained from an

independent financier under comparable terms and conditions.

Contingent consideration is classified either as equity or a financial asset.
Amounts classified as a financial asset are subsequently remeasured to fair value

with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR G MR MTEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

24

25

2.6

Business combinations (continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying
value of the acquirer's previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date. Any gains or losses arising from

such remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost
includes direct attributable costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries are

accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required upon
receiving a dividend from these investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared
or if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial statements
exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements of the

investee's net assets including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal

reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker (“CODM").

The executive directors of the Group (the “Executive Directors”) are regarded
as the CODM who will review the operating results of the Group on a

consolidated basis, and make strategic decisions.

Sinomax Group Limited 2022 Annual Report

=

24

25

26

EETEERIE (8

EBast @

MEHBHIBERET K
BRERMFENREES RE
Em R WiE BN REER IR
EORENREATEFE-H
ZAEMFEEENER NG
HEEN B PR

B MBRE

TP B R B4R B R Al A 0 PR R
BIR -MATEERENE
BERGERA-HNBARNEE
HARAFREWKRERREA
AR e

HRNBABNKREEENR
EBBRERREHENEA
BNEEBRERE HHZE
BERBUMBRERANKREE
BERGEMBREANKRE
HNEEFE (BEBE) N
HE ARKIZEREKA
HZREETRERS -

NEHRS

RENMOBREFNEARTE
RerRE (FEEERR
E)RHARNBRE S

AEBRNITES (TRTE
B)RBEREBEERRE K
ERUEGEEBRIERN
MERETFHEBRR



2

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

27

Foreign currency translation

()

(i)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities
are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong Dollars

(“"HK$") which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency
using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions or
valuation where items are remeasured. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the consolidated

statement of comprehensive income.

Foreign exchange gains or losses are presented in the consolidated

statement of comprehensive income.
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AT IR R MIEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

27

Foreign currency translation (continued)

(i)

(i)

Transactions and balances (continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency
are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value
was determined. Translation differences on assets and liabilities carried at
fair value are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. For example,
translation differences on non-monetary assets and liabilities such as
equities held at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in profit
or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss and translation differences on
non-monetary assets such as equities classified as fair value through other

comprehensive income are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Group companies

The results and financial positions of all the Group entities that have
a functional currency different from the presentation currency are

translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(@)  assets and liabilities for each consolidated statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of

that consolidated statement of financial position;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

27

Foreign currency translation (continued)

(i)

Group companies (continued)

(b)  income and expenses for each consolidated statement of
comprehensive income are translated at average exchange rates
(unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates,
in which case income and expenses are translated at the dates of

the transactions); and

() all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other

comprehensive income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a
foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and
translated at the closing rate. Currency translation differences arising are

recognised in other comprehensive income.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

28

29

Investment properties

Investment property, principally comprising land and buildings, is held for long-
term rental yields or for capital appreciation or both, and that is not occupied by
the Group. It also includes properties that are being constructed or developed
for future use as investment properties. Investment property is initially measured
at cost, including related transaction costs and where applicable borrowing costs.
After initial recognition, investment properties are carried at carrying values,
representing cost less depreciation and impairment provision. Depreciation
is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost over their

estimated useful lives of 20 years.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, comprising buildings, plant and machinery,
leasehold improvements, furniture and fixtures, and motor vehicles are stated at
historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses,
if any. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the

acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as
a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item
can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of any component accounted
for as a separate asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive

income during the reporting period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

29

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated using the straight-
line method to allocate their cost over its estimated useful lives, at the following

rates per annum:

Leasehold improvements, 3 to 10 years or over the term

furniture and fixtures of the lease, whichever is shorter

Buildings Over the shorter of the term

of the lease or 35 years
Plant and machinery 10% —20%
Motor vehicles 20%

The assets' useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each

consolidated statement of financial position date.

An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if the asset's carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable

amount.

Gains or losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with
the carrying amount and are recognised within administrative expenses in the

consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Construction in progress represents property, plant and equipment under
construction or pending installation and is stated at cost less impairment losses,
if any. No provision for depreciation is made on assets under construction in
progress until such time as the relevant assets are completed and available
for their intended use. On completion, the relevant assets are transferred to

property, plant and equipment at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
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AT IR R MIEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.10

Intangible assets

()

(i)

Customer relationship

Customer relationship was acquired in a business combination are
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. It has a finite useful life
and are subsequently carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and

impairment losses.

The customer relationship has finite useful lives ranging from 7 years
to 10 years and is amortised on a straight-line basis. Its useful life was
determined with reference to a number of factors, including historical
customer data and management's experience and industry knowledge.
Useful lives of customer relationship are reviewed at the end of each

reporting period by considering the changes in above factors.

Brand name

Brand name was acquired in a business combination are recognised at
fair value at the acquisition date. The directors of the Company are of the
opinion that the brand name is developed through years of advertising,
promotional campaigns and customer satisfaction. Brand name has a
definite useful life of 10 years and is subsequently carried at cost less

accumulated amortization and impairment losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

211

2.12

Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation
and are tested annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. Other assets are tested
for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised
for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash
inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or
groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets that suffered an
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the end of

each reporting period.

Investment and other financial assets and liabilities

(i) Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets and liabilities in the follow

measurement categories:

. those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through

other comprehensive income or through profit or loss), and

. those to be measured at amortised cost.
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AT IR R MIEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.12

Investment and other financial assets and liabilities (continued)

()

(i)

Classification (continued)

The classification depends on the entity's business model for managing
the financial assets and liabilities and the contractual terms of the cash

flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded
in profit or loss or other comprehensive income (OCI). For investments
in equity instruments that are not held for trading, this will depend on
whether the Group has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial
recognition to account for the equity investment at fair value through

other comprehensive income (FVOCI).

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business

model for managing those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on
trade-date, the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash
flows from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred
and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of

ownership.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.12

Investment and other financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(iij)  Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset or liability at
its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss (FVPL), transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets

carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their
entirety when determining whether their cash flows are solely payment

of principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group's
business model for managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics
of the asset. There are two measurement categories into which the

Group classifies its debt instruments:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR G MR MTEE
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.12  Investment and other financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(iij)  Measurement (continued)

Debt instruments (continued)

. Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual
cash flows where those cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. Interest
income from these financial assets is included in finance income
using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition is recognised directly in profit or loss and presented
in “other losses, net” together with foreign exchange gains and
losses. Impairment losses are presented as separate line item in

the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.12

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RGBSR R

Investment and other financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(iij)  Measurement (continued)

Debt instruments (continued)

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash
flows and for selling the financial assets, where the assets™ cash
flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, are
measured at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount are taken
through OCI, except for the recognition of impairment gains or
losses, interest income and foreign exchange gains and losses
which are recognised in profit or loss. When the financial asset is
derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised
in OCl is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and recognised
in other gains/(losses). Interest income from these financial assets
is included in finance income using the effective interest rate
method. Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in other
gains/(losses) and impairment expenses are presented as separate

line item in the statement of profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR G MR MTEE
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.12  Investment and other financial assets and liabilities(continued)

(iv)  Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit
losses associated with its debt instruments carried at amortised cost and
FVOCI. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there

has been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach
permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses to
be recognised from initial recognition of the receivables. For other
receivables and deposits, the Group applies the general approach in
assessing the expected credit loss. See note 3.1(ii)(b) for further details

of how the expected credit loss allowance is measured.

2.13  Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the
consolidated statement of financial position when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset the recognised amounts, and there is an intention to settle
on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The
legally enforceable right must not be contingent on future event and must
be enforceable in the normal course of business and in the event of default,

insolvency or bankruptcy of the Company or the counter party.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.14

215

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is
determined using the weighted average method. The cost of finished goods
comprises merchandises and other direct costs. Costs are assigned to individual
items of inventory on the basis of weighted average costs. Costs of purchased
inventory are determined after deducting rebates and discounts. Net realisable
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less

estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold or services

performed in the ordinary course of business.

They are generally due for settlement within one year and therefore are all
classified as current assets. Trade receivables are recognised initially at the
amount of consideration that is unconditional unless they contain significant
financing components, when they are recognised at fair value. The Group holds
the trade receivables with the objective to collect the contractual cash flows
and therefore measures them subsequently at amortised cost using the effective

interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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AT IR R MIEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.15

2.16

Trade receivables (continued)

Trade receivables from certain customers of the Group, whose contractual
cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, were factored
to reputable financial institutions under non-recourse factoring arrangement
according to the Group's daily fund management needs. These trade receivable's
business model is therefore achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows
and selling of these assets. Such trade receivables were therefore classified as

financial assets carried at fair value through other comprehensive income.

For details of the accounting policies and impairment policies, please refer to

note 3.1(ii)(b).

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated cash flow statement, cash
and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial
institutions with original maturities of three months or less that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within
borrowings in current liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial

position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

217

2.18

2.19

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity (note 29).

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are

shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables represent liabilities for goods and services provided to
the Group prior to the end of financial year which are unpaid. These amounts
are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in
the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are presented

as noncurrent liabilities.

These amounts are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured

at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred.
Borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost. Any difference
between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is
recognised profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective
interest method. Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised
as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that some or all
of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the drawn
down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that is probable that some or
all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as prepayment for

liquidity services and amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.

=

217

218

219

BEEBEERAA

e RRMEE

EETEERIE (8

fras
EEkERER (HE29)

BITMROABREERRN
R IGO0 A A TH I HE 5 5 (R PR A
MIRHR (3R IA) ©

BRREMENRE

B REMBEMRBRENRE
EXAFERERME R MR
BMAR A B &R i (IR E
HAA—FUT MHEES
KaEsT ATRRERH) -
ZENERENRDER B

AlIEdEREa®|27-

EMAN BB R TEEST
BERAERNRRRHAHMN
K5

o
H

=

=
EQ

BENS R ATENRRAEE
B 7B A RS o fEME R K
85 A A5 BR o PTG ARIA (0 F%
R A) BEE S ENERZE
BERETRERERN AR
AmAER - TERREAE
HoNEMRIMABERT 5t
RUENBMEXNNERTHE
RARERNRZZ A FEILE
RT ZERRELEERNE
MELER -FTEPRBETZ
ERREAESND HZMIEN
MBERT ZERBRENRE
mRBEERBORAMRE
W EABRREREA T LS
izl

2022 FERE

189



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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AT IR R MIEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.19

220

Borrowings (continued)

Borrowings are removed from the consolidated statement of financial position
when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability that has
been extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration paid,
including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in

the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as finance costs.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months

after the reporting period.

Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are capitalised
during the period of time that is required to complete and prepare the asset
for its intended use or sale. Qualifying assets are assets that necessarily take a

substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing

costs eligible for capitalisation.

Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

221

Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable on the
current periods taxable income based on the applicable income tax rate
for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities

attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

(i) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period
in the countries where the Company’s subsidiaries and associates
operate and generate taxable income. Management periodically
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in
which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be

paid to the tax authorities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e RRMEE
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

221 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(i)  Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method,
on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However; deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they
arise from the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also
not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period and
are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is

realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable that future
taxable amount will be available to utilise those temporary differences

and losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

221

Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(i)

Deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary
differences between the carrying amount and tax bases of investments
in foreign operations where the company is able to control the timing
of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the

differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and when the
deferred tax balances related to the same taxation authority. Current
tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally
enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or

to realise the asset and settle the liability simuftaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the
extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other

comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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T3k R MIE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

222 Employee benefits

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not recognised until

the time of leave.

(i

Retirement benefit costs

The Group participates in various defined contribution retirement
benefit plans which are available to all relevant employees. These plans
are generally funded through payments to schemes established by

government or trustee-administered funds.

The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further
contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all
employees the benefit relating to employee service in the current and

prior periods.

The Group also contributes on a monthly basis to various defined
contribution plans and other employee social security plans, including
pension, medical, other welfare benefits, organised and administered by
the relevant governmental authorities in respect of its employees in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). The Group contributes to these
plans based on certain percentages of the total salary of employees,

subject to certain ceiling, as stipulated by the relevant regulations.

Contributions to these plans are expensed as incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

222 Employee benefits (continued)

(i)  Bonus entitlements

The expected cost of bonus is recognised as a liability when the Group
has a present legal or constructive obligation for payment of bonus as a

result of services rendered by employees and a reliable estimate of the

obligation can be made.

Liabilities for bonus are expected to be settled within 12 months and are

measured at the amounts expected to be paid when they are settled.

2.23 Share-based payments

Share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees via the share

option scheme, including Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and Post-IPO Share

Option Scheme.

Employee share option

The fair value of options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and
Post-IPO Share Option Scheme is recognised as an employee benefits expense
with a corresponding increase in equity. The total amount to be expensed is

determined by reference to the fair value of the options granted:

. including any market performance conditions (e.g. the entity's share

price)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

223 Share-based payments (continued)

. excluding the impact of any service and non-market performance
vesting conditions (e.g. profitability, sales growth targets and remaining an

employee of the entity over a specified time period), and

. including the impact of any non-vesting conditions (e.g. the requirement

for employees to save or hold shares for a specific period of time).

The total expense is recognised over the vesting period, which is the period
over which all of the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At the end
of each period, the entity revises its estimates of the number of options that
are expected to vest based on the non-market vesting and service conditions. It
recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in profit or loss,

with a corresponding adjustment to equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

224

225

Provisions

Provisions for legal claims, service warranties and make good obligations are
recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a
result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation and the amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions are

not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an
outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering the class
of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an
outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations

may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the management’s best estimate
of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the end of the
reporting period. The discount rate used to determine the present value is
a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to

the passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or
receivable, and represents amounts receivable for goods sold or services
performed, stated net of discounts, returns and value-added taxes. The Group
recognises revenue when the specific criteria have been met for each of the

Group's activities, as described below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.25 Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue is recognised when or as the control of goods or services is
transferred to a customer. Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws
that apply to the contract, control of the goods and services may be transferred
over time or at a point in time. Control of the goods and services is transferred

over time if the Group’s performance:

. provides all of the benefits received and consumed simultaneously by the
customer;

. creates and enhances an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

. does not creates an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the

Group has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed

to date.

If control of the goods and services transfers over time, revenue is recognised
over the period of the contract by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a

point in time when the customer obtains control of the goods and services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.25 Revenue recognition (continued)

When determining the transaction price to be allocated to different
performance obligations, the Group first determines the service fees that
the Group entitles in the contract period and adjusts the transaction price
for variable considerations and significant financing component, if any. The
Group includes in the transaction price some of all of an amount of variable
considerations only to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant
reversal in amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the

uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When either party to a contract has performed, the Group presents the
contract in the consolidated statement of financial position as a contract related
asset or a contract liability, depending on the relationship between the entity's

performance and the customer's payment.

A contract related asset is the Group’s right to consideration in exchange
for goods and services that the Group has transferred to a customer or
cost to obtain a contract. A receivable is recorded when the Group has an
unconditional right to a consideration. A right to consideration is unconditional if

only the passage of time is required before payment of that consideration is due.

If a customer pays consideration or the Group has a right to an amount of
consideration that is unconditional, before the Group transfers a good or service
to the customer, the Group presents the contract liability when the payment is
made or a receivable is recorded (whichever is earlier). A contract liability is the
Group's obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from

the customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR G MR MTEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2 FEEHERHEE @
2.25 Revenue recognition (continued) 225 WrakEsd (@)
The following is a description of the accounting policy for the principal revenue UTAEXERZTBERARNE
streams of the Group. SR 0
(i) Revenue from sales of health and household products — Retail () HERERKEERIIN
A-FE
For sales of health and household products through the Group's retail NEBAEENTER/SE
network, which comprising self-operated stand-alone retail shops, (BEBEBLUZER
concession counters in department stores, revenue is recognised when RANRBERABNEFESR
control of the goods has transferred, being at the point the customer B HERRAREE®
purchases and receives the goods at the retail shops and concession ms - WARE mEH %
counters in department stores or when the goods are delivered. BREE BRERREE

ERUNRBERABDNFTE
BERE RIS mBIR
RIRE S AT G BF) BESD

Payment of the transaction price is due immediately when the customer ERPEEEMKANIEH

purchases the goods and takes delivery in store or makes an order BENEmIE N4 LETETE

online. Under the Group's standard contract term, the end customer has R R BEBKZG-

no right to refund nor exchange for most of the household products, REREBNRESOR

including pillows and bedding products. FORKEREEERR
Mo TEEB RO K
BEM BEMBERKLE
R e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.25 Revenue recognition (continued)

()

(i)

Revenue from sales of health and household products — Retail

(continued)

For sales of health and household products on internet, revenue is
recognised when control of the goods has transferred to the customers,
being at the point the goods are delivered to and received by the
customers. Delivery occurs when the goods have been delivered to the
customer's specific location. When the customers initially purchase the
goods online, the transaction price received by the Group is recognised as

a contract liability until the goods have been delivered to the customers.

Payment of the transaction price is due immediately when the customer
purchases the goods and takes delivery in store or makes an order
online. Under the Group's standard contract term, the end customer has

no right to exchange nor refund.

Revenue from sales of polyurethane foam and health and household

products — Wholesale

For sales of health and household products to the wholesalers, revenue is
recognised when control of the products has transferred, being when the
goods have been delivered to and received by the wholesalers' specific
location, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the buyer's

acceptance of the products.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.25 Revenue recognition (continued)

(i)

Revenue from sales of polyurethane foam and health and household

products — Wholesale (continued)

Delivery occurs when the products have been shipped to the specified
location, the risks of obsolescence and loss have been transferred to
the wholesaler, and either the wholesaler has accepted the products
in accordance with the sales contract, the acceptance provisions
have lapsed, or the Group has objective evidence that all criteria for

acceptance have been satisfied.

Under the Group's standard contract term, the customer has no rights to
return once the goods are accepted by the buyers. The Group generally

allows a credit period ranging from 7 days to 120 days upon delivery.

2.26 (Losses)/earnings per share

(i

Basic (losses)/earnings per share

Basic (losses)/earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

the loss/profit attributable to owners of the Company, excluding any
costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year,
adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the year

and excluding treasury shares.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

226 (Losses)/earnings per share (continued)

(i) Diluted (losses)/earnings per share

Diluted (losses)/earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the

determination of basic (losses)/earnings per share to take into account:

the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs
associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares, and the weighted
average number of additional ordinary shares that would have been
outstanding assuming the conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary

shares.

2.27 Leases

As a lessee

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the
date at which the leased asset is available for use by the Group. Rental contracts
are typically made for fixed periods of 2 to 10 years. Lease terms are negotiated

on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components. The Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to the lease and non-lease
components based on their relative stand-alone prices. However, for leases of
real estate for which the Group is a lessee, it has elected not to separate lease
and non-lease components and instead accounts for these as a single lease

component.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR G MR MTEE
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.27 Leases (continued)
As a lessee (continued)
Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present
value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value of the following lease

payments:

. fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease

incentives receivable

. variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate, initially

measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date

. amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual value
guarantees
. the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain

to exercise that option, and

. payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects

the Group exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also

included in the measurement of the liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.27 Leases (continued)

As a lessee (continued)

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease.
If that rate cannot be readily determined, which is generally the case for leases
in the Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate
that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to
obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic

environment with similar terms, security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group where possible, uses
recent third-party financing received by the individual lessee as a starting point,
adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions since third party financing was

received.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance
cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a
constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for

each period.

Payments associated with short-term leases are recognised on a straight-line
basis as an expense in consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Short-

term leases are leases with a lease term of |2 months or less.

=

227

BEEBEERAA

e RRMEE

EETEERIE (8
HE @
TEBETN (&)

MEMRRBHEEREZBR
RYUF R -HELIEZEE
ZHR (FEENEE-REIL
BER) AERAEANES
BRI > BDE B &R A £ 48
LUS R IR IR B LR 1B
MERFHESREREEER
ERELNEEEEMTER
MAZ BRI EK o

RETEEEENX FEHE
ERMENABAROERSZSE
ZHREAESE MFHBA
BURMBESFE=THEN
RBERMEZEF o

REMRERAS BN HER
TELE Y e
EMAERENNG MUY
HEEBENaEREZEER
897 % o

HIGHEERRNTRZER
EERGE2EWmRAESD
mAX -EHHEEEEERS
2B AL TREE -

2022 FERE

205



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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AT IR R MIEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

227

228

Leases (continued)

As a lessor

The Group classifies all leases as operating leases as the Group will not transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying
asset. Rental income from operating leases where the Group is a lessor, is
recognised within “other income” in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the lease
term. Initial direct costs incurred in obtaining an operating lease are added to
the carrying amount of the underlying asset and recognised as expense over
the lease term on the same basis as lease income. The respective leased assets
are included in the consolidated statement of financial position based on their
nature. The Group did not need to make any adjustments to the accounting for

assets held as lessor as a result of adopting the new leasing standard.

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair values when there is a
reasonable assurance that the grants will be received and the Group will comply

with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income over the period necessary to

match them with the costs that they are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to the purchase of property, plant and equipment
are included in non-current liabilities and current liabilities as deferred income
and are credited to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the expected lives

of the related assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1

Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk
(including foreign exchange risk, cash flow and fair value interest rate risk, and

price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Group's overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse
effects on the Group's financial performance. Risk management is carried out by
the senior management of the Company under policies approved by the Board
of Directors of the Company. The Finance Department identifies and evaluates
financial risks in close co-operation with the Group’s operating units to cope
with overall risk management as well as specific areas such as market risk, credit

risk and liquidity risk.

(i) Market risk

(a)  Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates in the Mainland China (“the PRC"),
Hong Kong, United States (“the U.S.”) and Vietnam.

e RRMEE

3 HBEREE

3l

M EREIER

FEENEFAZEEMHA
% hiBER (BEMNERRK
RBERERATENRARK
BRER) - GERARRADE
R

FERRERREEFEET
REMHHIAETRAN &
SEXRREREEYHFRIFENE
AT ERERMB -ARE
BHARBESMEEEBRRE
NEEFEHAENBRAT
MHEMEREENCEEMNER
BafF U#A kT ETHE
B UREERRREERE
&R PmmEak- - EEH
SRRBEERAR) o

()  FEEE

(a) SMERE

AEBTERTHE
wit (ThE ) &
B xE (TRE) &

BEEERBEMRAA 2002FERES

207



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT IR R MIEE

4= A
777 g |

3

208

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

()

Market risk (continued)

@

Foreign exchange risk (continued)

The functional currency of the Hong Kong reporting entities
is HK$ and the transactions are mostly denominated in HK$
and United States dollar (“US$"). For transactions or balances
denominated in US$ are reasonably stable with the HK$ under
the Linked Exchange Rate System, the directors are of the opinion
that the Company does not have significant foreign exchange
risk, the exposure to fluctuation in exchange rates will only arise
from the translation to the presentation currency of the Group.

Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis is performed.

The functional currency of the PRC reporting entities is Renminbi
(“"RMB") and the transactions are mostly denominated in RMB
and HK$.The conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject
to the rules and regulations of the foreign exchange control

promulgated by the PRC government.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

()

Market risk (continued)

@

Foreign exchange risk (continued)

The functional currency of Vietnamese reporting entities is
Vietnamese dong (“VND") and the transactions are mostly
dominated in VND and US$.The conversion of VND into foreign
currencies is subjected to the rules and regulation of the foreign

exchange control promulgated by the State Bank of Vietnam.

As majority of the transactions are denominated in the functional
currencies of the respective entities. The Groups has no material
foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities and does not

have material exposure on foreign exchange risk.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(i) Market risk (continued)

(b)  Interest rate risk

The Group's main interest rate risk arises from long-term
borrowings with variable rates, which expose the Group to cash
flow interest rate risk. The Group's borrowings and receivables
are carried at amortised cost. The Group monitors closely its
interest rate exposure by maintaining an appropriate floating
rate on borrowings and considers hedging significant interest
rate exposure should the need arise. The position is regularly
monitored and evaluated by reference of anticipated changes in

market interest rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(i) Market risk (continued)

()

Interest rate risk (continued)

Borrowings at variable rates expose the Group to cash flow
interest-rate risk. As at 31 December 2022, if interest rate had
increased/decreased by 50 basis points (2021: 50 basis points)
with all other variable constant, the Group's post-tax loss and
total comprehensive loss would have been approximately
HK$2,176,000 higher/lower (2021: post-tax profit and total
comprehensive income would have been approximately
HK$2,454,000 higher/lower).

(i) Credit risk

@

Risk management

Credit risk arises if a customer or other counterparty fails to meet
its contractual obligations. The credit risk of the Group mainly
arises from trade and other receivables and deposits with banks

and financial institutions.

3

4= AR
g (=

MR

A T3 ek R MI5E

EE @

3 MEBEEER @

() THEE &)

()

FIE R (&)

BEHAEFHEN
R A EEmER
fﬁ%?}lt%ﬂ%ﬂ
% 0 1220224 12831
H> WA ELHA/
TERSOEE RS (2021
FISOBER) >
MABEHEME S 4
FAE AA&EHE
WREEEEEZAE
FIRMREBEE M
L #92,176,000%
T (2021 KB
i M R 2 U AR
BN,/ RLH
2,454,000 7T ©

i) EEEE

@

BEEEARA

EREE

HERIEMEF
HEEBETHEN
B AELEEER
B AEBNEER
BREBRBEEZ K
H th FE W B M K
RITREREER
Fke

B 02F5EHRE

211



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= A
777 g |

3

212

AT IR R MIEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(i)

Credit risk (continued)

@

Risk management (continued)

The Group has policies that limit the amount of credit exposure
to any financial institutions. Substantially all the deposits in banks
are held in reputable financial institutions located in Hong Kong
and the PRC, which management believes are of high credit
quality and management does not expect any losses arising from

non-performance by these counterparties.

The Group also has policies in place to ensure that sales of
products are made to customers with an appropriate credit
history. Sales to large or long-established customers with good
repayment history comprise a significant proportion of the total
sales. The Group's historical experience in collection of trade and

other receivables falls within the recorded allowances.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(i) Credit risk (continued)

()

Impairment of financial assets

The Group has two types of financial assets that are subject to the

expected credit loss model:

. trade receivables at amortised cost,

. bill receivables, other receivables and deposits

While cash and cash equivalents are also subject to the
impairment requirements of HKFRS 9, the identified impairment

loss was immaterial.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(i) Credit risk (continued)

(b)  Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i) Trade receivables at amortised cost

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to
measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables. To
measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have
been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics

and the days past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RGBSR R

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(i)

Credit risk (continued)

()

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

()

Trade receivables at amortised cost (continued)

The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles
of sales over a period of 12 months and the corresponding
historical credit losses experienced within the period.
The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current
and forward-looking information on macroeconomic
factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle
the receivables. The Group has identified the Gross
Domestic Product index of the countries, export index,
and Consumer Price Index to be the most relevant factors,
and accordingly adjust the historical loss rate based on

expected changes in these factors.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR G MR MTEE

3

216

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(i) Credit risk (continued)

(b)  Impairment of financial assets (continued)

() Trade receivables at amortised cost (continued)

Impairment losses on trade receivables are presented as
net impairment losses of financial assets in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited

against the same line item.

The Group uses two categories for those trade receivables
which reflect their credit risk and how the loss allowance is

determined for each of those categories.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RGBSR R

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(i) Credit risk (continued)

(b)  Impairment of financial assets (continued)

() Trade receivables at amortised cost (continued)

Measurement of expected credit loss on individual basis

For trade receivables relating to corporate customers with
publicly-available credit rating, they are assessed individually
for impairment allowance. As at 31 December 2022, the
balances of such individually assessed trade receivables and
the corresponding loss allowance are HK$113,526,000
(2021: HK$102,420,000) and HK$3,820,000 (2021:
HK$364,000), respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR G MR MTEE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HBEREE®
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 31 MEBEBER @
(i) Credit risk (continued) (i) EERE (&)
(b)  Impairment of financial assets (continued) () EHEENEE (B
() Trade receivables at amortised cost (continued) () RS AE
BZEZEK
A ()
Measurement of expected credit loss on individual basis BR=EE
(continued) 8B @&
One of the customers that are assessed individually for 18 Bl 5% 1l B
impairment allowance, Serta Simmons Bedding, LLC BREEZE
(“SSB"), informed the Group in February 2023 that it F 2z —Serta
has entered into a restructuring support agreement with Simmons
key financial stakeholders. SSB has initiated a voluntary Bedding, LLC
prearranged court-supervised process under Chapter (FssB ) it
I'l of the US, Bankruptcy Code in the United States 20232838
Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of Texas. HEAEE H
BHEFEHH
R ELE
HZEBE -
SSBEE e B
Hi N B & Bk 5T
B B S B IR 1%
R E %S
NEMBT —
BERELS
BB EEEE
2o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RGBSR R

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(i) Credit risk (continued)

(b)  Impairment of financial assets (continued)

() Trade receivables at amortised cost (continued)

Measurement of expected credit loss on collective basis

Other than those trade receivables which were assessed
by individual basis, trade receivables have been grouped
based on shared similar credit risk characteristics and the

days past due.

The following tables present the balances of gross carrying
amounts and loss allowance in respect of the collectively
assessed trade receivables as at 31 December 2022 and

2021:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e RRMEE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(i) Credit risk (continued)

(b)  Impairment of financial assets (continued)

() Trade receivables at amortised cost (continued)

3 MEBERER @

3 MEEBRZ @

i) EEEE &)

(b) THEENHE

() FREIER ARG
EZEZER
;B (8

Measurement of expected credit loss on collective basis HEETEE
(continued) EE5E @
Past due
Not  Within 3160 6190  91-180 181365  Over
yetdue 30 days days days days days 365 Days Total
3IE GIE OIE BIE B8
31 December 2022 WRENAIE  HABE  30BA 60A 9H 180H  35H  3¢5A R
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
TEr TErn ThEx Tz TEx TErn TFEn TéEx
Trade receivables B o EWIE 245122 57334 10,500 9,098 8255  I1614 12808 35473l
Expected loss rate BEER LI%  35%  43%  418%  354%  T44%  643%  8I%
Loss allowance BEER 2622 200 455 3802 2925 8642 824l 28709
Past due
B
Not ~ Within 3160 6190  91-180 181-365  Over
yet due 30 days days days days days 365 Days Total
3IE IE  9E  BIE BB
31 December 202 WIENEIE  HRESE  08R 60H 0H  180H 3658 365H st
HKS000 HK$000 HKSO000 HKS000 HK$000 HKS000 HK$000  HK$000
TErT ThErn TEx TéErn TEx TErn TExr Tén
Trade receivables E)le R 460360 70221 20531 7589 11066 6151 6172 583090
Expected loss rate BHEEX 0% 7% 117%  244%  517%  808%  873% 45%
Loss allowance BEER 4791 1204 2516 1852 5718 4969 5387 26437
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RGBSR R

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HBEREE®
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 31 MEBEBER @
(i) Credit risk (continued) (i) EERE (&)
(b)  Impairment of financial assets (continued) () EHREENRE B
() Trade receivables at amortised cost (continued) () IREIHRAE
B E5RNK
A ()
Measurement of expected credit loss on collective basis HEF=EH
(continued) 8518 @&
The loss allowances for trade receivables as at 3| RI2B318H
December reconcile to the opening loss allowances as 2 5 I
follows: BEERNER
NEEEES
BRI
2022 2021
20226 20214
HK$000 HK$'000
FAET TABT
Opening loss allowance at | January 7318 | B VR85 B 26,801 32417
Reversal of previous loss allowance B [Ol3@E I IEEEH (548) (6,716)
Loss allowance recognised in profit AR B HERH
or loss during the year ikt 13,252 11,431
Receivables written off during FRRAEWREM
the year as uncollectible HEE W E A (6,135) (10,681)
Exchange differences ERER (841) 350
Closing loss allowance RI2A3I B ERBIBEE
at 31 December 32,529 26,801
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR G MR MTEE

3

222

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(i) Credit risk (continued)

(b)  Impairment of financial assets (continued)

() Trade receivables at amortised cost (continued)

Trade receivables are written off where there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there
is no reasonable expectation of recovery include, amongst
others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment
plan with the group, and a failure to make contractual

payments for a period of greater than 360 days past due.

Impairment losses on trade receivables are presented as
net impairment losses within statement of profit and loss.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off

are credited against the same line item.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RGBSR R

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HBEREE®
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 31 MEBEBER @
(i) Credit risk (continued) (i) EERE (&)

(b)  Impairment of financial assets (continued) () EHREENRE B

() Trade receivables at amortised cost (continued) () IREIHRAE

B E5RNK

A ()

The Group also uses trade receivables factoring facilities rEEFEHE
to manage the credit risk of its trade debtors. As at 31 2 EWGRIER
December 2022, trade receivables of approximately EREEERE
HK$22,962,000 (2021: HK$39,833,000) was subject WHRIENEE
to non-recourse factoring arrangements and therefore &R e 122022

derecognised. F12R318>

8 5%’k
1822,962,000
BIT(2021 F:
39,833,000
7T) BETUE
ERERER
o ALEE&
IERERR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR G MR MTEE

3

224

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(i) Credit risk (continued)

(b)  Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i) Other financial assets at amortised cost

Other financial assets at amortised cost include bill
receivables, other receivables and deposits. Management
considers that the credit risk of these balances has not
increased significantly except bills receivables since initial
recognition with reference to the counterparty historical
default rate and current financial position. The impairment
provision is determined based on the |2-month expected

credit losses which was material.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A T3 ek R MI5E

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(i) Credit risk (continued)

(b)  Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i) Other financial assets at amortised cost (continued)

While cash and cash equivalents, time deposits and
pledged bank deposits are also subject to the impairment
requirements of HKFRS 9, the identified impairment loss

was immaterial.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Sinomax Group Limited 2022 Annual Report

AT IR R MIEE

Financial risk factors (continued)

(i)

Credit risk (continued)

®)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(il

Liquidity risk

With prudent liquidity risk management, the Group aims
to maintain sufficient cash and cash equivalents and ensure
the availability of funding through an adequate amount of
available financing, including short-term bank borrowing.
Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses,
the Group maintains flexibility in funding by maintaining
adequate amount of cash and cash equivalents and

flexibility in funding through having available sources of

financing.

As at 31 December 2022, the cash and cash equivalents
of the Group approximated HK$168,955000 (2021:

HK$228,532,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RGBSR R

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(i)

Credit risk (continued)

()

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

Liquidity risk (continued)

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 requires a term loan that
contains a clause that gives the lender the unconditional
right to call the loan at any time shall be classified in total
by the borrower as current in the statement of financial
position. This is irrespective of whether a default event
has occurred and notwithstanding any other terms and
maturity stated in the loan agreement. As at 3| December
2022, borrowings of approximately HK$67,252,000 (2021:
HK$44,116,000) was classified as current liabilities due to

this requirement.
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4= AR
17 (=

T3k R MIE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

228

Financial risk factors (continued)

(i) Credit risk (continued)

(b)  Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(il

Liquidity risk (continued)

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group's
liquidity reserve (comprising the undrawn borrowing
facilities below) and cash and cash equivalents (note 25)
on the basis of expected cash flows.

This is generally carried out at local level in the operating
companies of the Group, in accordance with practice
and limits set by the Group. These limits vary by location
to take into account the liquidity of the market in which
the entity operates. In addition, the Group's liquidity
management policy involves projecting cash flows in
major currencies and considering the level of liquid assets
necessary to meet these, monitoring balance sheet liquidity
ratios against internal and external regulatory requirements
and maintaining debt financing plans.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RGBSR R

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HBEREE®
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3 HBEERER @
(i) Credit risk (continued) (i) EERE (&)

() EHEENEE B

(b)  Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i) Liquidity risk (continued) (i) AEEEER

(&
The table below analyses the Group's financial liabilities into PR Tt ZIS% %
vttt e based on - MEmBER
relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining perio
L R
at the end of the reporting period to the contractua
. poriing peries BRI R
maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the Hi5k 5 & 43
contractual undiscounted cash flows. A B 0 5 62
BET DM
RHRENS
BEARMES
GEESE £
On demand Total
or within One to Two to Over  undiscounted Carrying
one year two years five years five years  cash flows amounts
i EPE FERRE
—Fx —ERE ZERF BRI ReLE IREME
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000
Thn TEn TER Thn TEn TER
At 31 December 2022 #202%128318
Trade and other payables B S REMEMNTIE 414611 - - - 414611 414611
Bill payables ISNESE 5233 - - - 5233 533
Lease liabilities and HEABRFEMNT
interest payments 77,502 62915 142,535 63,021 345973 299,741
Bank borrowings and BOERRFAENH
interest payments 550,006 - - - 550,006 522,259
1,047,352 62,915 142,535 63,021 1,315,823 1,241,844
At 31 December 2021 #2021€128318
Trade and other payables ESREMEMNTE 713850 - - - 713850 713,850
Bill payables SNESE 35729 - - - 35729 35729
Lease liabilities and HEBERFEMNT
interest payments 101,164 65960 144439 105,209 416,772 356,596
Bank borrowings and BITERRAENH
interest payments 608,157 - - - 608,157 588,273
1458900 65960 144439 105,209 1,774,508 1,694,448
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR G MR MTEE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2 Capital management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard their ability to
continue as a going concern, so that they can continue to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, and to maintain an optimal

capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the
amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue

new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on the basis
of the gearing ratio, which calculated as net debt divided by total equity (as
shown in the balance sheet, including non-controlling interests). Accordingly, the

net debt to equity ratio as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 were as follows:

3

MBRERERE (B

32

BAER

AEEEREAZBERARE
AEERBEEENEN UF
BRRRERLBRBEMET
MEFRNTUREFREE
ARBLUB D ERRAE

RERNREEELARB K&
BRREBERNTRENERE S
B RARRBEELS HITHR
HHEEELURDER

RENRT—B AEERE

BEESBXERFELN EES
TEKL/(@%FB%LM&M“@%E (#n
BEEBERA~N BRFEER
@) stE At R202028 K
201 1283 I BB EKREE
BmELEWT

2022 2021
20224 2021 4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FH7T
Unsecured bank borrowings RIGRIRITER 522,259 588,273
Cash and cash equivalents RekREEEY (168,955) (228,532)
Net debt FEE 353,304 359,741
Total equity TR AR EE 886,940 1,006,618
Net debt to equity ratio FEEHEGLEX 40% 36%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

33

Fair value estimation

The table below analyses the Group's financial instruments carried at fair value
as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 by level of inputs to valuation techniques
used to measure the fair value. Such inputs are categorised into three levels

within a fair value hierarchy as follows:

quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or

liabilities (level 1);

inputs other than quoted prices included within level | that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or

indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2); and

inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market

data. (that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e RRMEE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

The following table presents the Group's financial assets carried at fair value as
at 31 December 2022 and 2021:

MBRERERE (B

33 AFEGE @

TERENAEBR20202F K
2021 12831 B A FETER

ZEMEE
Fair value Valuation technique
Financial asset Fair value as at hierarchy and key inputs Sensitivity
fhERMR
EWEE RUTRBZATE ATEER FBHARE BRE
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
20224 20214
12H31H 12A318
Trade receivables at fair 22,962 39833 Level 3 * Discounted cash flows ¢ An increase in risk-
value through other F=E MIRRERE adjusted discount rates

comprehensive income
BRHMEE R

BATEYERZ

85 BURIA

There were no transfers between levels |, 2 and 3 for recurring fair value
measurements during the year For transfer into and out of level 3 measurement

see (iii) below.

The Group's policy is to recognise transfers into and out of fair value hierarchy

levels as at the end of the year

232
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¢ Estimated settlement

period from these
trade receivables and
risk adjusted discount
rates of 5.07% to
6.57% (31 December
2021: 1.07% to 2.57%)
per annum quoted by
the banks
ZEBZRWIEZ
b sHE A HARE KR
TR 2 BB R
RE/GESI%E
6.57% (2021 12831
B 1.07%%E257%)

used would result in a
slight decrease in fair
value, and vice versa.
PR{sE AR R IR SRR 4T
BE FARBERRTF
BEEMRELD ) R2ZTF
FRo

An increase in
estimated settlement
period used would
result in a decrease

in fair value, and vice
versa.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

33

Fair value estimation (continued)

()

(i)

Financial instruments in level |

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based
on quoted market prices at the statement of financial position date. A
market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly
available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, price services
or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly

occurring market transactions on an arm'’s length basis.

Financial instruments in level 2

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active
market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives) is determined using
valuation techniques which maximise the use of observable market data
and rely as little as possible on entity-specific estimates. If all significant
inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument

is included in level 2.

3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e RRMEE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)
(iij)  Financial instruments in level 3

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable

market data, the instrument is included in level 3.

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments at fair
value through other comprehensive income includes the present value
of the estimated future cash flows at the fixed rate stated in factoring

agreements plus LIBOR.

The following table presents the changes in level 3 instruments for the

years ended 3| December 2022 and 2021.

3

MBRERERE (B

33

AT @
(i) E=FHEHIA

W—EHZREEARSHIL
FERABRETR G AR
AZEMIRIAS=E
R e

ARFEEBEMEZEIE
R ATEIERNERT
AR EGERMEER
REHZTRENEER
REFARRESREN
BEM EHBRITEAZES

%

TRENHEE202D2ER
2021 F12A3IHNE =R
TAMEE-

2022 2021
20224 2021

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

As at | January RIAIH 39,833 24,072
Transfer from trade receivables HiE B 5 EWEIE 360,137 358,303
Settlement wE (377,302) (342,647)
Fair value change NTEEE) 294 105
As at 31 December ®128318 22,962 39,833
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of accounting estimates which,

by definition, will seldom equal the actual results. Management also needs to exercise

judgement in applying the group’s accounting policies.

Estimates and assumptions are continually evaluated and are based on historical

experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed

to be reasonable under the circumstances.

@)

(b)

Impairment of financial assets

The loss allowances for financial assets are based on assumptions about risk
of default and expected loss rates. The group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on
the Group's past historical data, existing market conditions as well as forward-
looking estimates at the end of each reporting period. Details of the key

assumptions and inputs used are disclosed in the tables in note 3.1 (ii)(b).

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business, less estimated cost to completion and selling expenses.
These estimates are based on the current market condition and the historical
experience of manufacturing and selling products of similar nature. Management

reassesses the estimation at the end of each reporting period.
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AT IR R MIEE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(©

Impairment of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and

intangible assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are tested annually for impairment;
or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they
might be impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. The recoverable amounts have been determined based on the
higher of value-in-use calculations or fair value less costs of disposal. These
calculations require the use of judgements and estimates. Management
judgement is required in the area of asset impairment particularly in assessing; (i)
whether an event has occurred that may indicate that the related asset values
may not be recoverable; (i) whether the carrying value of an asset can be
supported by the recoverable amount, being the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and net present value of future cash flows which are estimated based
upon the continued use of the asset in the business; and (iii) the appropriate key
assumptions to be applied in preparing cash flow projections including whether
these cash flow projections are discounted using an appropriate rate. Changing
the assumptions selected by management in assessing impairment, including
the discount rates or the growth rate assumptions in the cash flow projections,
could materially affect the net present value used in the impairment test and as

a result affect the Group's financial condition and results of operations.
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(d)

Current and deferred income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in various jurisdictions. Significant
judgement is required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are
some transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises liabilities
for anticipated taxes based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts
that were initially recorded, such differences would impact the current tax and

deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary differences and tax losses
are recognized when management considers it is probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary differences or tax losses can
be utilized. Where the expectation is different from the original estimates, such
difference will impact the recognition of deferred tax assets and income tax in

the period in which such estimates are changed.
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Executive Directors have been identified as the CODM. The Executive Directors
review the Group's internal report in order to assess performance and allocate
resources. Management has determined the operating segments based on these

reports.

The Group is currently organised into the following three geographical markets:

China market Manufacture and sale of health and household products
and polyurethane foam for customers located in the

Mainland China (the “PRC"), Hong Kong and Macau.

North American market ~ Manufacture and sale of health and household products
for customers located in the United States (the “U.S."),

Canada and other North American countries.

Europe and other Manufacture and sale of health and household products
overseas markets and foam for customers located in overseas except for
those customers located in the China market and North

American market.
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RGBSR R

5  REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5 WARSEER @
()  Segment revenue 0  2EUA
The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue by operating and reportable TXHEINBREEROTREDE
segments: DM AREBWARN D
For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE2002F 12831 HEFE
Europe
North and other
China American overseas
market market markets Total
B R E fth
HETS BIES BINEIS a5t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$000

FHET FAT FAET FHET

External sales HIMNHE 1,470,746 1,214,227 466,987 3,151,960
Cost of sales HE R (2,529,216)
Other income Hr A 54,134
Net impairment losses of TREENNEBEZE

financial assets (17,938)
Other gains, net Hles o 288 25,542
Selling and distribution expenses $5%& K& $5 B8 % (424,547)
Administrative expenses THRX (188,695)
Finance cost PSRN (46,027)
Research and development cost B85 {2 (74,423)
Loss before income tax PRETSIRATES 1B (49.210)
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5
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

()  Segment revenue (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

5 WARSEEN @

0  IEUA @
BHE200FNA3HLEE

Europe

North and other

China American overseas
market market markets Total

B Be LA
PEIT S IEETH BINTIS st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

THETT AT FTHET FTHET

External sales HIMYE 2,222,881 1,573,442 463,559 4,259,882
Cost of sales HE A (3,542,929)
Other income Htnr A 63,136
Net impairment losses of EHEENHERERE

financial assets (4,715)
Other losses, net HhEs18 - 358 (11,746)
Selling and distribution expenses 5 K 388 5 &2 (420,245)
Administrative expenses THRS (199,207)
Finance cost MR (38,941)
Research and development cost  iff 2% A 2% (67,366)
Profit before income tax BRPTIS A3 A& A 37,869
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RGBSR R

5  REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5 WARSEHER @
(i)  Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers i) ERARYAMS
(a)  Type of major products @) ZTEEREY
Revenue recognised at a point in time during the year is as follows: REANREEREMEDN
W
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TAT
Sales of health and household products ~ $HE BB MK EE @ 1,980,255 2,370,009
Sales of polyurethane foam EFXRabEK 1,171,705 1,889,873
Total Bt 3,151,960 4,259,882
(b)  Geographical markets b)) HEFHE
Information about the Group's revenue from external customers is REBRBIFEL WA
presented based on the location of the retail shops and concession MENNEZEERTE
counters or location of customers for wholesales. EEMEUEIHRERR
FREMEFUZ25 0
2022 2021
20224 20214F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TATT
China market HREITIS
—The PRC — 1,222,097 1,913,081
— Hong Kong, Macau and others — 5BV EPIRHE MM 248,649 309,800
North American market EEMH
—The US. —% 1,128,805 1,442,985
— Others —Hfh 85,422 130,457
Europe and other overseas markets BUN R EL A& SN 35 466,987 463,559
Total 85t 3,151,960 4,259,882
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5  REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5 WARSEER @
(i) Other segment information (i) Htt D EpER
(a)  Geographical information @ HHEH
Information about the Group's non-current assets (excluding other rEEBFERBEE (18
receivables and deferred tax assets) is presented based on the ¥ HLfth 78 W R 0B R MR FEAR
geographic location of the assets: BEE)NERNREE
MBI EF U275

2022 2021

2022 20214F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET TAT

The US. ESE] 461,943 493290

The PRC H 268,660 324616

Hong Kong 5% 16,877 12,296

Vietnam 2] 27,667 45,623

775,147 875,825

(b)  Information about major customer b EEEFHEH
Revenue from customer contributing over 10% of the total revenue to FARAERERLERA
the Group during the years is as follows: 10U EHNZERWT :

2022 2021

20224 20214

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET TATT

Customer A A 329,664 504,533
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5  REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5 WARSEER @
(iv) Liabilities related to contracts with customers v HERENERNEE
The Group has recognised the following liabilities related to contracts with FEEERIAUTHEEREY
customers: BRENERE:
2022 2021
20224 20214F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHTT
Receipt in advance from customers for the sales  TEUNE A RVEE MK B EMIBE N
of health and household products 11,993 14,837
The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised in the year was TRIITFARITEALESAL
related to carried forward contract liabilities. BEBHENBAEEE.
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET THTT
Sales of health and household products HERBEAREBESD 14,837 12,559
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OTHER INCOME 6  Hftwhz
2022 2021
20224 20214F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Interest income from bank deposits REIRITEIF BWA 1,862 305
Interest income from cash consideration receivables RERBIREREZHMEWRA 1,379 2,390
Imputed interest income from rental deposits HE#EE 2 R RIRA 1,420 1,335
Interest income from investment in subleases BEQEZFEWA 136 182
Government subsidies (note) R fa G (F5E) 11,975 12,634
Rental income HEWA 10,948 16,144
Scrap sales BERHHE 19,518 21,065
Others Hith 6,896 9,081
54,134 63,136

Note: MsE

The amount mainly represents government grants provided by PRC government related

to foreign capital injection, new material technology development projects which is in

cooperation with the local PRC government and salaries and wages subsidies received from

the government for the use of paying wages of employees due to COVID-19. (2021: The

amount mainly represents government grant provided by PRC government related to foreign

capital injection and new material technology development project which is in cooperation

with the local PRC government.)
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OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES) Hithszs~ (§548)
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TAT
(Loss)/gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment H &2~ BB K sk
0 (&518) ez (1,819) 166
Gain on early termination of right-of-use assets RELRILERAEEENNT 3l 463
Loss on early termination of sublease RERIEDHENEE - (225)
Net exchange differences ERER P 27,330 (12,150)
25,542 (11,746)
FINANCE COSTS MRk
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TATT
Interest on bank borrowings RITREMAE 23,736 21,074
Interest on lease liabilities HEaEHNE 18,180 16952
Interest and charges on factoring of trade receivables  IHIZE 5 EUNFIBREZ F E M E A 4,111 915
46,027 38941
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9 EXPENSES BY NATURE 9 BRUEHHINREX
2022 2021
20224 20214F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT TATT
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses BRARTNEENR 1,959,515 2,884,378
Employee benefits expenses (note 10) BERMEX (HEE0) 482,682 542,166
Amortisation of intangible assets B EERH 1,778 [,778
Auditor's remuneration ZEEEN &
— Audit service —BI%IRHE 3,000 2920
~ Non-audit service —IEB LR 876 880
Bank charges RITEA 10,030 10,688
Concessionaire commission for department store BELBRHEFTRERmE (M)
counters (note) 39,811 47071
Expenses relating to short-term or low value leases BIRHANEEERERRMAX 1,902 2261
Depreciation of investment properties (note 17) REMEINE (H:217) 2,039 2211
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (note 15) #)2 ~ BB KR EITE (f5E15)) 73,028 70,153
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (note 16) ERREENE (fti6) 91,657 86,084
Provision for inventories FaRE 4,741 12,971
Legal and professional fees AEREXER 18,680 18,176
Marketing expenses TIHEEE 115,604 91,430
Transportation expenses EnE 98,405 99,734
Others Hith 313,133 356,846
Total cost of sales, administrative expenses, selling and ~ #HE A {TEEY  HE R
distribution expenses and research and development 388 = Ko Fff 25 & F 4R %A
cost 3,216,881 4,229,747
Note: B st
Concessionaire commission for department store counters is generally calculated by applying @ BELIEEFFLEAE—HRUZ

SENEENEEREAEEAEA
stgo

pre-determined percentages to actual sales made through respective counters.
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e RRMEE

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES 10 ESEFREZ
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TAT
Wages and salaries (including directors emoluments) TERHE (BRFEEMS) (Hta)

(note a) 439,811 503,638
Retirement benefits costs (note c) RIREF A (5o 33,926 35,385
Other post-employment benefits HMBERET] 8,945 3,143

482,682 542,166

The employee benefits expenses amounting to HK$93,996,000 (2021:
HK$106,862,000) are recognised in selling and distribution expenses; HK$96,018,000
(2021: HK$89,366,000) in administrative expenses; HK$266,774,000 (2021:
HK$319,376,000) in cost of sales; and HK$25,894,000 (2021: HK$26,562,000) in
research and development cost in the consolidated statement of comprehensive

income.

(@)  Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group for the
year included four (2021: three) directors whose emoluments are reflected
in the analysis presented in note | . The emoluments paid and payable to the

remaining one individual (2021: two individuals) during the year are as follows:

BERAMAZ 25939960008 7T
(2021 £ 1 106,862,00058 7T) iR &
AR ERZHERDHEIPED
96,018,0007 7T(202 1 £ © 89,366,0007%
70) RATH R AR 5 266,774,000
BIT(20214 1 319,376,000 7T) 1*
HEM AP ; %25894,000/8 7T
(20214 26,562,000/ 7T) Th NI &
FAFRREER o

@ hBEEREFHMAL

FRAEBAURSHFMAL
BENE Q0IE: Z4) &S
BMEZHMPM 278
DHARB - FRENREM
BTF—2 AL Q0IF mEA
+) MBI T ¢

2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHETT

Basic salaries, housing allowances, BEAHE EREM 22l
other allowances and benefits in kind EbE 1,928 3,781
Retirement plan contributions RRETEIH ) 157
2,044 3938

BEEERBEMRAA 2002FERES
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10 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES (continued) 0 {EEEFHS @
(@)  Five highest paid individuals (continued) @ HEEEHMAL @
The emoluments for the one individual (2021: two individuals) fall within the Z—% (200F  ma) ATz
following bands: MEEEMT

2022 2021

20226 20214

Number of Number of

employees employees

BEAY BEA#

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 77T 22,000,000/ 7T = 2

HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7 7T 2,500,00078 75 -
During the year, no emoluments have been paid by the Group to the five FAXAEELED EXAIRA
highest paid individuals mentioned above as performance based bonus, an iREHFALINEAME
inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of ERABMRE-MATIKMA
office (2021: Nil). FEBFZRNNKEBLZ

HE Q0IE M) e

(b)  Senior management’s emoluments b EREEEEHMN
The emoluments for the four senior management (2021: four senior MLEREER Q02IF MeE
management) fall within the following bands: REBIERE) NFHMEBENT .
2022 2021
20224 20214
Number of senior Number of senior
management management

BREEBEAR SHREEEAK

HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000 500,001 78752 1,000,00078 75 2 |
HK$ 1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 7T E 1,500,000 7 2 3
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10 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES (continued)

(©)

Retirement benefit plans

The Group participates in Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“"MPF Scheme”)
for all qualified employees in Hong Kong under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in funds under the control of an independent trustee. Under
the rule of the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each required
to make contributions to the scheme at a rate of 5% specified in the rules, but
subject to a cap of HK$1,500 per month. The only obligation of the Group
with respect of MPF Scheme is to make the required contributions under the
scheme. No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the contribution payable

in the future years.

The employees employed in the PRC and Vietnam are members of the state-
managed retirement benefit schemes operated by the PRC and Vietnam
government, respectively. The PRC and Vietnam subsidiaries are required to
contribute a certain percentage of their basic payroll to the retirement benefit
schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to
the retirement benefit schemes is to make the required contributions under
the schemes. No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the contribution

payable in future years.

The Group maintains multiple qualified contributory saving plans as allowed
under Section 401 (k) of the Internal Revenue Code in the US. These plans
are defined contribution plans covering employees employed in the US and
provide for voluntary contributions by employees, subject to certain limits.
The contributions are made by both the employees and the employer: The
employees’ contributions are primarily based on specified dollar amounts or

percentages of employee compensation.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the total contributions charged to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
amounted to HK$33,926,000 (202 1: HK$35,385,000).

e RRMEE

0 {EEREFHS @

©

BEEBEERAA

BINERIETE

1R 5 58 1 1 A & & 5T B R A
rEBAFMBERARENRER
2HREtEAREHE (18R
EEE)) cRBEEHENEE
BAEEEBITTAZHT
NWETEENHEFA RIER
BEHERAF BEREEER
BRI GET AR5 %A 5t &
HPERELREA15008
ToAEBEEMBBEHEN
—RBAREBHEFLME
fH TR o b 42 WL AR ET A L
TR AR EFEEEAIHER

RAEKRERERENESE ST
] 2 i BT 0 )RR Y B 5K
EERAKEFNFEINHE P
BhEUEREARRZEER
TENET B LEARIKER
PRI UBENREHEER -
AEE B BRGNS I
—HH AR EFHFE M
R o b AR WA RUR] AR LA
BARKEE BB MR-

FEBRBEBERANRUUES
401 (EFMETREZEEER
HARBESE - ZEHE A
ERNZEZSEZEEZEEM
REtg R ETRETAH
BEBREER -BEEREEH
FEER - BEEERFTERE
BEEBMRBEERBHENEL
fEt o

BE02F12A3HLEFEH
GeBRkAEMEERERT
BRIt R 4R 28 433,926,000 7T
(2021 €E : 35,385,000 7T) ©
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[l BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS Il EENENRER

EERRETHASHE

(2) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments @

BZE2022F K2021F 12831 H
LtFEESBUEERESTHA

The remuneration of every director and chief executive for the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021 is set out below:

250

SNMEHINMT
Performance Share  Retirement
Salaries related based benefit
and incentive payment scheme
Fee allowances  payments expenses contributions Total
Y]
HER REAM AERCR BKER
e 2l BB Fx  sHEIf® st
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET
For the year ended #BE2002%128318
31 December 2022 JI:3: 5
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Lam Chi Fan (note i) MERLE () - 2,038 - - 18 2,056
Mr. Cheung Tung (note ii) sRARSCAE (FT5Ti) - 2,109 - - 8 2,127
Mr. Chen Feng BRAm ST - 2515 - - - 2515
Mr. Lam Kam Cheung MERIEELE - 1,605 250 - 18 1,873
Ms. Lam Fei Man MEZ/\E - L9 100 - 18 1,237
Independent non-executive ~ WILIFRITES
directors
Mr:Wong Chi Keung FERELE 240 - - - - 240
Professor Lam Sing Kwong, MR
Simon 240 — — — = 240
Mr. Zhang Hwo Jie RS 240 - - - = 240
Mr:Wu Tak Lung SERLLE 240 - - - - 240
960 9,386 350 = 72 10,768
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Il BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (continued) Il ERNENRER @
(a)  Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (continued) @ EERESTHASME @
Performance Share  Retirement
Salaries related based benefit
and incentive payment scheme
Fee  allowances payments expenses contributions Total
b il

ek RRAE RERGR BRAEH
wE =i SRR fixx SRR st
HK$000 ~ HK$000 ~ HK$O000 ~ HK$O000  HKPO00  HK$000
TAT  FTET  TExT  TEx  TERT  TER

For the year ended 3| HE2021F 128310

December 2021 ILEE
Executive directors BITEE
Mr. Lam Chi Fan (note i) MENLE (FizE) - 2,055 200 - 18 2273
Mr. Cheung Tung (note i) SRAESEE (T - 2,127 450 - I8 2,595
Mr. Chen Feng b - 2532 300 - - 2832
Mr. Lam Kam Cheung MR E - 1,603 350 - I8 1971
Ms. Lam Fei Man IR/ E - 1,133 250 - I8 1,401

Independent non-executive I IEHITEE

directors
Mr.Wong Chi Keung TEREE 240 - - - - 240
Professor Lam Sing Kwong, MEE R

Simon 240 - - - - 240
Mr. Zhang Hwo Jie REELE 240 - - - - 240
Mr.Wu Tak Lung RiERRE 240 - - - - 240

960 9,450 1,550 - 72 12,032
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR G MR MTEE

252

BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (continued)

(2) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (continued)

Notes:

0) Mr: Lam Chi Fan, an executive director of the Company, is also the Chairman of

the Board.

(i) Mr CheungTung an executive director of the Company, is also the President of

the Company.

(i) During the year, no emoluments have been paid by the Group to the directors
mentioned above as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as

compensation for loss of office (2021: Nil).

(b)  Directors’ retirement benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any retirement benefits during the

year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

(c)  Directors’ termination benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any termination benefits during
the year ended 3| December 2022 (2021: Nil).

Sinomax Group Limited 2022 Annual Report
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Il BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (continued)

(d)

(e)

Consideration provided to third parties for making available directors’

services

During the year ended 3| December 2022, the Company did not pay
consideration to any third parties for making available directors’ services (2021:
Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of
directors, controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities with such

directors

During the year ended 3| December 2022, there is no loans, quasi-loans and
other dealing arrangements in favour of the directors, or controlled body

corporates and connected entities of such directors (2021: Nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements or contracts

Save as disclosed in note 32, no other transactions, arrangements and contracts
of significance in relation to the Group's business to which the Company's
subsidiary was a party and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the years or at any

time during the years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR G MR MTEE

12 INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE 12 FRiSH G8%) BiX
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TATT
Current tax: BNERTR IS
Hong Kong profits tax (note i) HEAEM (H5T) 2,307 2,048
PRC enterprise income tax (“EIT") (note ii) PRI EFRER (MMPEI S EMRER)
(By&xii) 13,556 23986
PRC withholding tax on distributed profits from REFENEABERDREFH
PRC subsidiaries R 3,364 729
19,227 26,763
Over provision in prior years: BEFEEEER
Hong Kong Profits Tax BHENRE _ _
PRC EIT Bl XFSR (40) (98)
US income tax (note iii) ZEIFF1SHR (P ETi) = -
(40) (98)
Deferred taxation (note 19) FEIERRIE (HEE19) (31,212) (20231)
(12,025) 6,434
Notes: B st
() On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed The Inland Revenue () MR20I8FE3I[2IB EREUEEEE
(Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill") which introduces the two-tiered profits 2017E1% (BT (B75) RAEZE
tax rates regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted (TEZE)) » H3I ARG MRS - %
on the following day. Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 BZER0I8F3IAHEEER A E
million of profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above BZEREBBHERR - REFESHM
HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%, while only one entity nominated by a group of RE AEREEBRELERET
“connected entities” will be entitled to select the lower tax rate. The profits of group RANRERL25% MBE2EEH
entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be TR RF R 6.5%EH 1 MRBEA—
taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%. ATEREE RANEESAREE

RiENHE FHANBRAEHE
1569 92 B R G AR 6 5080
B-TE R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE (continued)

Notes: (continued)

0

(i

(ii)

(continued)

Accordingly, the Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 million
of the estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits

above HK$2 million.

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law") and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, PRC EIT is calculated based on
the statutory rate of 25% of the assessable profit of those subsidiaries established in
the PRC for both years, except for certain PRC subsidiaries being approved as High
and New Technology Enterprise by the relevant government authorities which are
subject to a preferential tax rate of 5% for a 3-year period which expired in 2021

and 2022 (2021: which expired in 2021 and will expire in 2022, respectively).

The US corporate tax rate is 21% for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 202 |
in accordance with the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017.The US income tax includes (a)
federal income tax calculated at a fixed rate of 21% for the years ended 31 December
2022 and 2021 on the estimated US federal taxable income and (b) state income tax
calculated at various state income tax rates for both periods on the estimated state
taxable income for the respective states. The income subject to tax in a specific state
(i.e. state taxable income) is calculated based on the federal taxable income with state
tax adjustments, which is then allocated or apportioned to the respective states (i.e.
percentage of taxable income that should be apportioned or specially allocated to the
respective states in which the Group operates) based on the apportionment factors

provided from the state tax returns in the previous year.

e RRMEE

FriSiiR (&

)

(0)

(i)

BEEBEERAA

Rt EBFERHEELEEET
2t EERIEF 28.25%:t 5 i
BEEBTZBA ARG EER
B Z165%5tE o

BEPEAREMECERERE
(TE#EmBRE) REEMERZE
BHEAN mEFENTREEEMSE
MIERABERIZ ZEWBAR
ERMEN 2 205% 2 ZEMRHE
e AR RA B AT AR RE L& A B B 1
E2ETHEAMBARDRIE02F
F20NFEFANZFHNTZRZ 5%
MEEMRE (2021F  ER02IERE
W W02 E ) o

REBITERRERE LR HE
200FR20IENAIBIEFEZE
ErEREAI% ZEFEREE
(a)Fh b er E BB A BRI A ZE
ENEF20IENAIHLEEEZ
B EMRE2 %5t B2 B FBAERK(b)
018 HA S PO L I B0 15 5T 00 FE R AR U
A BABRMAEREFEHMAE
Mo RFEM MBI ERRUA (BTN E
FRBA) ZRAELMNARIERE (H
BAEIZLEA D RESING) B9
AR U A (B2 LA 2 R4 51
NEEAEELSHEARMNONE
FHRIWAB D) B LFEEHM
RMRBHODEREM BB
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR G MR MTEE

12 INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE 12

Notes: (continued)

(iv)  Under the laws of Vietnam on Corporate Income Tax (the “Vietnam CIT"), Vietnam
CIT is calculated based on the statutory rate of 20% of the assessable profit of those
subsidiaries established in Vietnam and these companies had no assessable profit

during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

FrFHR (&)

Wik : ()

(v) REEEECEMSESR (HELERS
B 5 HECERSRDLEREE
MUz ZEWBAT 2 ERREN
W02 EEREFE MZELTR
HEWNER0IENAEIBILEEE

b % FE SR AR A o
The income tax (credit)/expense for the year can be reconciled to the (loss)/ FRFER (E%) /568 $ ? i=Fiy
profit before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other REMEEERRERPBRRE (58
comprehensive income as follows: wAEERINT .
2022 2021
20226 20214
HK$°000 HK$'000

FHET FHET
(Loss)/profit before income tax BRPTISRAT (B518) &7 (49,210) 37,869
Tax at the Hong Kong profits tax rate REBFSHRREFBENRE (8,120) 6,248
Effect on different tax rates of subsidiaries operatingin  TEEM B AR EZNIB AR

other jurisdictions NGk A (8,031) 3,385
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purposes ] 177§l 2 (VAR 75 52 22 12,200 14,084
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purposes BEHRNBANRBEE (17,377) (17,301)
Over provision in prior years BREEEBEER (40) (98)
Tax effect of tax loss not recognised FAEDRBEBNRBEE 7814 1,992
Utilisation of tax loss previously not recognised BABERERRBEE = (4,250)
Withholding tax on undistributed earnings of PRC HREINT B AR R D IRBFIHEINR
subsidiaries 1,694 2,539

Income tax on concessionary rate REBEREFENMER (165) (165)
Income tax (credit)/expense Frisi (&%) /B (12,025) 6,434
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RGBSR R

DIVIDENDS 13 KE

Subsequent to the end of the Reporting Period, no final dividend in respect of the year MEHKRE HEREZE2002F128
ended 31 December 2022 is proposed (2021: a final dividend of HK$0.4 cents per SIHEEERZIRERAKRE (2021
share). F I ERFREKRE04HEW)

During 2022, a subsidiary of the Company declared dividend amounting to P0NE > KA —FK B AT [
HK$16,767,000 and paid dividend amounting to HK$13,962,000 to non-controlling FEREZTIKIEE 6,767,000 7T
interests (2021: declared dividend amounting to HK$5,835,000 and paid dividend WK EERG E 13,962,000 7T (20214 &
amounting to HK$4,861,000 to non-controlling interests). BIEEREZ T IR 258350008

700 WK PG 24,861,0005 7T) ©

(LOSSES)/EARNINGS PER SHARE 14 S (558 &
The calculation of the basic and diluted (losses)/earnings per share attributable to the AANBEENELERERALEE
owners of the Company is based on the following data: (B18) /BRI REMTEEE .
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#T FHTT
(Losses)/earnings for the purpose of basic and HESRELREE (5518 /B
diluted (losses)/earnings per share: 2 (518 /&'F
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to owners EREER NBIEREE
of the Company (&518) /& F (35,970) 15,305
Number of shares for the purpose of basic and SHESREARBEHEERNEE
diluted loss per share: ('000) (F8)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the SAEEREAREERN 2 EBK

purpose of basic and diluted earnings per share T8 1,750,002 1,750,002
Basic and diluted (losses)/earnings per share (HK cents) SEIRERREE (518) /&7 (Bl (2.06) 0.87
The computation of diluted (losses)/earnings per share for the years ended 3l SEHEZ200FER20021FI12B31H1E
December 2022 and 2021 does not assume the exercise of the share options as the FENSRKRES (B8 /B I EK
exercise prices of those share options are higher than the average market price of HERREAGE FREEZSERE
shares and they are antidilutive during the years ended 3| December 2022 and 2021. NAEEERNRONREZINER

2021 FE A3 HIEEENFEHEHER
ItEER#BERE-

BEEERBEMRAA 2002FERES
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AT IR R MIEE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

15 #¥%E -BERRE

Leasehold
improvements,
Freehold furniture Construction
land and Plant and and Motor in
buildings machinery fixtures vehicles progress Total
RENE
AR 3 AT
ITHRET BERKS RRE AE ERIR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAR TAR TAR TER TER TER
Cost s
At | January 202 P02 IB1H 145,363 511415 231,877 13,051 18813 920519
Additions NE - 9472 7758 407 31,000 48,637
Disposals HE - (13029) (5775) (1,653) - (20457)
Transfer from construction in progress & B7EE T12 - 18,440 11,878 211 (30,529) -
Transfer to investment properties BRERENE (304) - - - - (304)
Exchange differences EREE 4311 6,608 1689 X)) 86 13,026
At 31 December 2021 0214128318 149,370 532906 247427 12,348 19,370 961421
Additions "E - 17,069 30442 421 3112 51,044
Disposals HE - (7,859) (2915) (257) (1423) (12,454)
Transfer from construction in progress #3 BTEET12 - 202 ) - (244) -
Exchange differences EREE (11,265) (18,003) (4,908) (884) (318) (35378)
At 31 December 2022 120224128318 138,105 524315 270,088 11,628 20497 964,633
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

4= A
777 g |

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
TSR R MIE

15 ¥%E- -BERRE (@

Leasehold
improvements,
Freehold furniture Construction
land and Plant and and Motor in
buildings machinery fixtures vehicles progress Total
EME
kAR RE R
ITHREF HERRES REE AE HBRIR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THAT TAT TAT TAT TAT TAT
Depreciation and impairment ERAE
At | January 2021 021 IB1H 62415 206,251 113,402 9,498 - 391,566
Depreciation for the year (note a) S RITE (f3E a) 7,007 39872 22,180 1,094 - 70,153
Disposals HE - (8049) (5,583) (1,550) - (15182)
Exchange differences EREE 2223 3381 [I13 265 - 6982
At 31 December 202 12021128318 71,645 241455 131,112 9307 - 453519
Depreciation for the year (note a) ~ FRINE (fizk a) 6812 41927 3172 LI17 - 73,028
Disposals HE - (3917) (1392) 4 - (5550)
Exchange differences EREE (5955) 9272) (3296) (703) - (19226)
At 31 December 2022 2025 128318 72,502 270,193 149,596 9,480 - 501,771
Carrying amount REE
At 31 December 2022 R0NE2A3IH 65,603 254122 120492 2,148 20497 462,862
At 31 December 2021 R20214 128318 77,725 291451 116315 3,041 19,370 507902

BEEBEERAA

WINEFEERSE
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AT IR R MIEE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

@

(b)

Depreciation of approximately HK$771,000 (2021: HK$1,385,000) is included in
selling and distribution expenses; and HK$7,406,000 (2021: HK$12,623,000) in
administrative expenses; HK$63,770,000 (202 1: HK$54,989,000) in cost of sales;
and HK$1,081,000 (2021: HK$1,156,000) in research and development cost in

the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Impairment assessment of the property, plant and equipment and right-of-

use assets

As a result of the unfavourable performance of certain subsidiaries
incorporated/established in the US, Hong Kong and the PRC (the "Under-
Performing Subsidiaries”) which are operating retail shops during the
year ended 3| December 2022, the management conducted impairment
assessments of the property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets of the
Under-Performing Subsidiaries. The Under-Performing Subsidiaries are separated
into three cash generating units (‘CGU") for the purpose of the impairment
assessment which are US CGU, HK CGU and PRC CGU. A CGU is considered
to be impaired when its recoverable amount declines below its carrying amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of value in use and fair value less costs of

disposal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

I5 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

(b)

Impairment assessment of the property, plant and equipment and right-of-

use assets (continued)

The management conducted impairment assessments of the property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets of the US CGU as at 3| December 2022.The
recoverable amounts of the US CGU was determined based on value in use
calculations and certain key assumptions.Value in use calculations used cash flow
projections based on financial budgets approved by the management covering
a five-year period. The model assumes an average growth rate of 17% (2021:
I'1%) for the five-year period, a pre-tax discount rates of 17.1% (2021: 15.9%).
Cash flows beyond the five-year period were extrapolated using growth rate of
2% (2021: same). Management estimates the pre-tax discount rate that reflects
market assessment of the time value of money and specific risk relating to the

industry.

Based on the value in use calculations, there are no impairment recognised as
the recoverable amount of the CGU was higher than its carrying value. If the
average growth rate used in the value-in-use calculation had been 1% lower
than management’s estimates at 31 December 2022, the Group would have had

to recognise an impairment amounting to HK$61,819,000.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR G MR MTEE

16 LEASES le FE
(@)  Amount recognised in the consolidated balance sheet @ REAEESREREINEE
Leased land Leasehold
use right properties Machinery Total
HEL
fErmE HEME Has st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

THT THT THAT THT

Right-of-use assets EREEE
At | January 2021 20211 B 18 19,992 175,383 2703 198,078
Additions hE - 198,472 3,506 201978
Disposals HE - (1,123) - (1,123)
Depreciation (note i) E (ki) (385) (83,841) (1,858) (86,084)
Exchange differences ERER 578 [,570 - 2,148
At 31 December 2021 1202112831 20,185 290461 4351 314997
Additions B - 22,537 6,787 29,324
Disposals HE - (8) (299) (307)
Depreciation (note i) e (ki) (578) (89,532) (1,547) (91,657)
Exchange differences EREE (37) (4,386) (17) (4,440)
At 31 December 2022 120202F 12831 19,570 219,072 9275 247917
As at 31 December 2021 20215128318
Cost (D7 28,104 470,651 6996 505,751
Accumulated depreciation and ~ REHTEKFE

impairment (7919) (180,190) (2,645) (190,754)
Net book amount REVRE 20,185 290,46 | 4351 314997
As at 31 December 2022 20224128318
Cost (DS 27470 401,544 11,603 440,617
Accumulated depreciation and ~ REHTEKBE

impairment (7.900) (182,472) (2,328) (192,700)
Net book amount REEE 19,570 219,072 9275 247917
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16  LEASES (continued)

@

Amount recognised in the consolidated balance sheet (continued)

()

A subsidiary has entered into sub-lease agreements regarding a leased
property. The portion of right-of-use assets that associated with the

sublease agreement has been derecongised accordingly.

Depreciation expenses of HK$66,497,000 (2021: HK$57,434,000) has
been charged in cost of sales, HK$6,213,000 (2021: HK$6,270,000)
charged in administrative expenses and HK$18,947,000 (2021:
HK$22,380,000) in selling and distribution expenses respectively.

6 FAE®

@

e RRMEE

REEAEERRRMEINEE (@

()

—XNBAEM—EHEE
MESTUDARE BD
MR D A E
BECHABK LRS-

I E R 66,497,000% 7T
(20214 : 57,434,000
7T) BEEHER AR
6,213,0008 7T (20214 :
6,270,0007 7) B1TE
S MBR K 18,947,000%8 7T
(20214 : 22,380,000
7t) BIERDHERALZIN
(53
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR G MR MTEE

16  LEASES (continued) 6 FHE®
(@)  Amount recognised in the consolidated balance sheet (continued) @ RESEELRREINEE @
Leasehold
properties Machinery Total
HEYME Has st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FTAET TET
Lease liabilities HEaE
At | January 2021 1202151818 235382 2,842 238224
Additions NE 196,744 3,506 200,250
Disposals HE (1,586) - (1,586)
Payments (NE: (96,462) (2,053) (98515)
Interest expenses FERZ 16811 141 16952
Exchange differences EREE 1271 - 1271
At 3| December 2021 20214128318 352,160 4436 356,596
Additions NE 27817 6,788 34,605
Disposals HE - (338) (338)
Payments RN (103912) (1,724) (105,636)
Interest expenses FEREX 17,953 227 18,180
Exchange differences EREE (3,648) (18) (3,666)
At 3| December 2022 1220224128318 290,370 9,371 299,741
As at 3| December 2021 2021128318
Current EnHA 82,871 1,268 84,139
Non-current JEENEA 269,289 3,168 272,457
Total 5t 352,160 4436 356,596
As at 31 December 2022 2024128318
Representing; 15 .
Current AR 61,403 2,110 63513
Non-current = 228967 7,261 236228
Total WBEt 290370 9,371 299,741
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e RRMEE

LEASES (continued) 6 FHE®
(b)  Amounts recognised in the consolidated income statement: b RESHREREINEE !
2022 2021
20224 20214F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TAT
Interest on lease liabilities (note 8) HEsBHNFE (Hs) 18,180 16,952
Expense relating in short-term or low-valued SIS EEETRERMNES
leases (note 9) (Bi5E9) 1,902 2261
Concessionaire commission for department store B & /A B EBF K= HE
counters (note 9) GEX) 39,811 47,071
59,893 66,284
(c)  During the year ended 3| December 2022, the total cash outflow for leases © ®ZE2022F128B31BLHE
were HK$147,349,000 (2021: HK$147,847,000). E - HENRERLEER
147,349,000/ 7T (20214 :
147,847,000 7T) ©
(d)  The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security @ FHEEBZLAMMEREEAR
interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor: Leased assets may not ENHEEETHNERERIU
be used as security for borrowing purposes. Details of the lease maturity analysis SNEMRN -HEBEELRT
of lease liabilities are set out in notes 3.1ii). BEERER - HEGENTHE
EE B i 89 5% 1B & AS MY E
3.0 (i) e
(e)  See note I5 (b) for further details of impairment assessment on right-of-use © FEHRTEHAEBEERBETENE
assets. LB B2RWEISb)

BEEERBEMRAA 2002FERES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR G MR MTEE

266

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES REME
2022 2021
20224 20214F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHB7T
As at | January ®IAIH 32,508 33,479
Depreciation for the year FRITE (2,039) (2211
Transfer from property, plant and equipments BEEVE BRERERE - 304
Exchange differences FERER (2,396) 936
As at 31 December RI2B31H 28,073 32,508

As at 31 December 2022, the fair values of the Group's investment properties were
HK$ 166,447,000 (2021: HK$182,230,000). The fair values have been arrived at based
on a valuation carried out by Asset Appraisal Limited, an independent valuer not

connected with the Group.

The fair values of the investment properties were determined based on the market
comparable approach which is categorised within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.
The inputs used in the fair value measurements mainly include the market unit sale rate
of comparable properties of similar size, nature and location. The calculation assumes
HK$2,517 (2021: HK$2,758) gross unit rate per square meter. There has been no
change from the valuation technique used in the prior year and there were no transfers

into or out of Level 3 during the year.

In estimating the fair value of the investment properties, the highest and best use of the
properties is their current use. The above investment properties are depreciated on a

straight-line basis over the term of the lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RGBSR R

18 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18 WEEE
Customer
Brand name relationship Total
mhs %t ERR% Mt
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000
FET FET FET
At | January 2021 202151818

Cost B AR 85483 62,769 148,252
Accumulated amortisation and impairment R EH 3 KR E (74,117) (59,402) (133,519)
Net book amount REDEE 11,366 3367 14,733

Year ended 3| December 2021 HE021FE2831HLEEE
Opening net book amount BYRmEE 11,366 3367 14,733
Amortisation charges HiHER (1,137) (641 (1,778)
Closing net book amount HRERERE 10,229 2,726 12,955

At 3| December 2021 and | January 2022 }420215F 128318 K

200251818

Cost B A 85,483 62,769 148252
Accumulated amortisation and impairment R 5T 3 KR E (75,254) (60,043) (135,297)
Net book amount REVEE 10229 2726 12,955
Year ended 3| December 2022 HE002F1NA3IHLEEE
Opening net book amount BYERmEE 10,229 2726 12,955
Amortisation charges HiHE R (1,137) (641) (1,778)
Closing net book amount HARERERE 9,092 2,085 1,177
At 31 December 2022 20224128318
Cost AR 85,483 62,769 148252
Accumulated amortisation and impairment & 5t KRB (76,391) (60,684) (137,075)
Net book amount REFE 9,092 2,085 11,177
Amortisation of intangible assets of HK$641,000 (2021: HK$641,000) is included in EREE#BH641,00087T(2021F ¢
selling and distribution expenses and HK$ 1,137,000 (202 1: HK$1,137,000) is included 641,000 7) st AGRE2EWRER
in administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. HAYSEE R D8RS 0 1,137,00058 70

(20214 © 1,137,000587%) 5t AfTELRE

Lo
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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268

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Impairment assessment on intangible assets

Management monitors and reviews the business performance at the cash-generating
units ("CGU") level. In 2016, the Group acquired 51% equity interest in Dormeo
North America, LLC (“Dormeo”). The Group recognised intangible assets of brand
name and customer relationship in relation to such acquisition and allocated to the

Dormeo CGU at the acquisition date.

The recoverable amount of the CGU s determined based on value-in-use calculation.
These calculations use pre-tax cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by management covering a five-year period. The model assumes an average
growth rate of 9% (2021: 9%) for the five-year period, a pre-tax discount rate of 19.5%
(2021: 19.3%). Cash flows beyond the five years period are extrapolated using the
estimated growth rates of 2% (2021: 2%). Management estimates the pre-tax discount
rate that reflects market assessment of the time value of money and specific risk

relating to the industry.

As a result of the impairment assessment, there are no impairment of brand name and
customer relationship resulted (2021: nil). There were no reasonably possible changes
in any of the key assumptions that would have resulted in an impairment write-down in
this CGU.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RGBSR R

DEFERRED TAXATION 19 IRREARIE
The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial reporting NTARPBFRESEHNRIERIBLE
purposes: ki
2022 2021
20224 20214F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT TATT
Deferred tax assets FIERIEEE 62,599 29,616
Deferred tax liabilities RERIEEE (19,227 (18,106)
43,372 1,510
The following are the major deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised and movements UFAREFERBEFEERIN
thereon during the current and prior years: EIRIERIBEE E/ (BB RES
g .
(a) Deferred tax assets @ IRERESE
Allowance for
Unrealised inventories
profit in Tax and credit
inventories losses losses Others Total
FEAN FEREEE
REREF REBEE BRER Hith st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TAT TAT TAT
At | January 2021 P02 11818 217 1,708 5403 675 8,003
Credited to profit or loss SEEFSEIUN 4341 17317 10 - 21,668
Exchange differences ERER - 221y 166 - (55)
At 31 December 2021 120215128318 4558 18,804 5579 675 29616
Credited to profit or loss BE@TA 3,288 22494 6,630 1,101 3513
Exchange differences EREE - 49) (481) - (530)
At 31 December 2022 R202%F 128318 7846 41,249 11,728 1776 62,599
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AT IR R MIEE

19 DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

(b)

Deferred tax liabilities

19 EIERRIE (8

b IEERERE

Undistributed Fair value

profits of adjustment

PRC on intangible
subsidiaries assets Total

I Ff BREE

YNCIPA S ZRF
S ikiEF ERE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
At | January 2021 7202141818 (13954) (3,094) (17,048)
(Charged)/credited to profit or loss B8 (0B /5t A (2,539) 373 (2,166)

Release upon payment of dividends to ~ FAZ (T % B B []48 54
profit or loss 729 - 729
Exchange differences ERER 379 - 379
At 31 December 202 20215128315 (15,385) Q721 (18,106)
(Charged)/credited to profit or loss B84 (08 5T A (6,012) 373 (5,639)
Release upon payment of dividends to ~ FASZ (8% B B [E]48 4

profit or loss 3,338 - 3,338
Exchange differences ERER 1,180 - 1,180
At 3| December 2022 120225128318 (16,879) (2,348) (19,227)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19 DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

(b)

Deferred tax liabilities (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, no deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of tax loss amounting to HK$292,955,000 (202 1: HK$269,749,000)
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in unrecognised
tax losses are losses of HK$168,327,000 (2021: HK$131,294,000) and
HK$56,039,000 (2021: HK$56,039,000) that will be expired from 2023 to 2027
and from 2037 to 2038, respectively. Other losses may be carried forward
indefinitely.

As at 31 December 2022, deferred tax assets have not been recognised in
respect of deductible temporary differences arising from allowance inventories
and credit loss amounting to HK$34,609,000 (2021: HK$56,189,000) as it is
not probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible

temporary differences can be utilised.

Under the PRC EIT Law, withholding tax is imposed on dividends declared
at 10% in respect of profits earned by PRC subsidiaries from | January 2008
onwards. Deferred taxation has not been provided for in the consolidated
financial statements in respect of temporary differences attributable to the
undistributed profit of certain PRC subsidiaries as at 31 December 2022
amounting to HK$142,561,000 (2021: HK$477,208,000), as the Group is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable

that the temporary differences will not be reversed in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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20  INVENTORIES 0 #FE
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TATT
Raw materials Rkt 229,077 328,201
Work in progress TEG 93,115 99,846
Finished goods SUAY 233,079 2757231
555,271 703278
The cost of inventories is recognised as expenses and included in cost of sales BRAAIUFTAHEREZFEMN
amounted to HK$1,959,515,000 (202 1: HK$2,884,378,000). KEEEA195951500058 7T (20214 :

2,884,378,00078 7T) °
As at 31 December 2022, the inventories of the Group are stated after a provision for P2002F 12B3IH REBNGFEER

impairment on inventories of approximately HK$65,131,000 (202 I: HK$62,746,000). SHEF B R EEFEL6S,131,0008 7T
(20214 @ 62,746,000 70) % 58K

272 Sinomax Group Limited 2022 Annual Report



21

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RGBSR R

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2 BRRHEMERRE

2022 2021
20224 20214F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHB7T
Trade receivables EZERE 468,257 685,510
Less: allowance for credit losses (note 3.1(ii)(b)) B EEBEBEE (IE3.1)0) (32,529) (26,801)
Trade receivables, net B 2 UGRS3 435,728 658,709
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables B& AT RRIE R HANRE WGRIE
Cash consideration receivables (note a) FEWRE B (Hista) 38,718 67,256
Prepayments for purchasing raw materials and BERMENBIRIEREEH
operating expenses 57,793 65,330
Rental and other deposits HEREMEE 43,500 39,491
Other tax recoverable HERIEIRIE 18,926 16,446
Net investment in sublease NEFRE 2,281 3,079
Advances to staff MTBEIBM 1,078 2,169
Others Hith 7,892 10951
170,188 204,722
Total trade and other receivables B 5 REMEN IR 605,916 863,431
Less: =
Non-current portion of other receivables HAFEWRIBRIE RN ERER 73 (54,043) (23,333)
Current portion BNHAER 7> 551,873 840,098
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AT IR R MIEE

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

@

The balance represents the consideration receivables in relation to the disposal
of 51% equity interest in Chengdu Xingang Sponge Co. Ltd. completed in 2019.
According to the sale and purchase agreement, the total cash consideration
of the disposal was agreed to be settled in four instalments. According to a
supplemental agreement between Z3 (1L) REFEHM R BRAE
(Sinomax (Zhejiang) Polyurethane Technology Limited*), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, and the purchaser of 51% equity interest in Chengdu
Xingang Sponge Co. Ltd dated || March 2022, the payment arrangement of the

fourth instalment (the “Fourth Instalment”) was revised as follows:

(i) RMB22,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$25,172,000) of the
Fourth Instalment shall be paid by |5 March 2022;

(i) RMBI0,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$I1,442,000) of the
Fourth Instalment shall be paid by 15 March 2023; and

(iify  the remaining balance of RMB25,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$28,605,000) of the Fourth Instalment shall be paid by 5 March
2024,

together with the payable interest which shall accrue from and including the
Second Payment Due Date (as defined in the sale and purchase agreement)
until and including the respective dates of actual payments as set out in (i), (ii)

and (iii) above, respectively, at the rate of 3% per annum.

For identification purpose only
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

During 2022, the Group received the payment as set out in (i) above amounting to

RMB22,000,000 (equivalent to HK$25,172,000).

Subsequent to the year ended 3| December 2022, the Group received the payment
as set out in (i) above amounting to RMB10,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$11,442,000).

The Group's retail sales are made through both its retail network comprising stand-
alone retail shops and concession counters in department stores, and internet sales.
The Group also sells health and household products directly to overseas wholesalers
and retailers, and the polyurethane foam to furniture manufacturers in the PRC. Sales
at self-operated retail shops and sales through retailers in the PRC and internet sales
are transacted either by cash or credit cards. For sales made at concession counters,
the department stores collect cash from the end customers and then repay the balance
after deducting the concessionaire commission to the Group. The credit period granted
to department stores ranges from 30 days to 20 days. For sales to wholesalers,
retailers and furniture manufacturers, the Group generally allows a credit period ranging

from 7 days to 90 days.

2
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21 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued) 2l BESREMEWRE @
The following is the aging analysis of trade receivables, net of allowance for credit losses, RN EEBBEENE S RIKRIE
presented based on invoice date. MERE DM (RBEZZEAHESN) M
e

2022 2021

20225 20214

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET TATT

Within 30 days 30BBLA 197,558 348,544

31 to 60 days 31E60H 149,556 210,121

61 to 90 days 61E90H 51,341 63,710

91 to 180 days 91Z180H 21,268 31,444

181 to 365 days I81ZE365H 16,005 4,890

435,728 658,709

() Fair value of trade receivables ) BrREREZATE
Due to the short-term nature of the current receivables, their carrying amount X BVHER & 5 FE R BV A2 B M
is considered to be the same as their fair value. B HFEAERIAEHERAT
B4R -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

21 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(ii)

Impairment and risk exposure

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measure expected
credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade
receivables. Information about the impairment of trade receivables and the

group's exposure to credit risk and foreign currency risk can be found in note

3.1ii)(b).

As at 31 December 2022, included in the Group's trade receivables balance
are debtors with aggregate net carrying amount of HK$118943,000 (2021:
HK$124,940,000) which are past due as at the reporting date. Out of the past
due balances, HK$23,039,000 (2021: HK$8,037,000) has been past due 90 days
or more and is not considered as in default by considering the background
of the trade receivables and historical payment arrangement of these trade

receivables. The Group does not hold any collateral over the balances.

e RRMEE
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22 BILL RECEIVABLES 2 EKEE
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TATT
Bill receivables eI 4% 77,444 94,644
Less: allowance for credit losses o EEEEEE (5,234) -
72,210 94,644
The amount represents bill receivables which are not yet due at the end of the ZEZEARBRESHARERARNE
reporting periods. The following is the aging analysis of bill receivables based on their WEE - UTANERSHRZE D
time to maturities as at the end of reporting periods: KB 25N E B RER 2
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FH7 FBR
Within 30 days 30H A 9,136 19,717
31 to 60 days 31E60H 13,254 18,633
61 to 90 days 61Z90H 15,951 12,825
91 to 180 days 91Z180H 33,496 42,807
181 to 365 days I81Z2365H 373 662
72,210 94,644
Included in the bill receivables above amounting to approximately HK$46,607,000 (31 5t L i B 1 I FE 45 4946,607,00078 7T
December 202 1: HK$82,717,000) had been endorsed for settling the trade payables (2021128318 82,717,000 7%)
for which the maturity dates of the bill receivables have not yet fallen due as at the end EEMERNBNEZRANE B
of the Reporting Period. All bill receivables of the Group are with a maturity period of PRKZENIHERREAREER
less than one year. A AEBNME RIREENEIH

BRI DI — o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TRADE RECEIVABLES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Trade receivables from certain customers of the Group, whose contractual cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest, were factored to reputable financial
institutions under non-recourse factoring arrangement. The Group's business model is
therefore achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows and selling of these assets.
Such trade receivables was therefore classified as financial assets carried at fair value

through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI").

As at 31 December 2022, the effective interest rates of the factored trade receivables
at FVOCI ranged from 5.07% to 6.57% per annum (2021: 1.07% to 2.57% per
annum). Details of the valuation techniques and key inputs adopted for their fair value
measurements are disclosed in note 3.3. As at 3| December 2022 and 2021, the fair
value changes on trade receivables at FVOCI are insignificant and accordingly, no fair

value changes are recognised in equity as FVOCI reserve.

23
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24  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY % EEREISNERTR
2022 2021
20228 IoE:S
Financial Financial
assets at fair assets at fair
Financial ~ value through Financial  value through
assets at other assets at other
amortised comprehensive amortised comprehensive
cost income cost income
ERHEM BiBHAM
2EKE e G
mEHEm A BATE REERE BATE
SR SR FIERZ SRz
EWMEE ERMEE EMEE EHEE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FET THET THT

Financial assets TREE
Trade receivables B S U RIE 435,728 = 658,709 -
Bill receivables eSS 72210 - 94,644 -
Deposits and other receivables BmE R EMERZIE 93,469 = 122946 -
Cash and cash equivalents RERFEEEY 168,955 - 228,532 -
Trade receivables at fair value through B E A2 E U &=
other comprehensive income BATEYRZ
B 7 B YR IA - 22,962 - 39,833
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RGBSR R

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued) 24 FEREINERTA (@
2022 202
20226 2021
Financial Financial
liabilities at liabilities at
amortised amortised
cost cost
RIS PR A TR EE AL A
SRz HERZ
A= TREE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET

Financial liabilities ERaE

Trade and other payables B o EMHIE 414,611 713,850
Bill payables FE(T 4% 5,233 35,729
Bank borrowings RITIER 522,259 588,273
Lease liabilities HEaE 299,741 356,596

Note: The fair values of the financial assets at amortised cost approximate their carrying

amounts.

ek REERAS B EREEZATE
HHEREERE-
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25

282

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

RERFAEEBYURBIRFRITER

2022 2021
20224F 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Cash at bank and on hand IRTKFERE 168,955 228532
Cash and cash equivalents BEkREEEY 168,955 228532
Pledged bank deposits (note) BIRRIRITER (M) = 1174
168,955 229,706
Denominated in: LIRS E#ssHE .

— HK$ —B7T 12,950 36,676
—RMB - AR 87216 112,965
—US$ —%7T 59,41 | 55,986
—~VND —HmEE 9,378 23,000
— Canadian Dollars -7 - 935
— Others —HAth - 144
168,955 229,706

Note: BT -

As at 31 December 2022, there is no pledged bank deposit with original maturities more
than three months. As at 31 December 2021, pledged bank deposits with original maturities
more than three months carried fixed interest rates of 0.3% to 1.55% per annum. Such bank
deposits had been pledged to secure the Group's general banking facilities and were classified
as current assets. The pledged bank deposits have been released upon the settlement of

relevant bills payables.

For the year ended 3| December 2022, the Group performed impairment assessment on
bank balances and concluded that the probability of defaults of the counterparty banks are
insignificant and accordingly, no allowance for credit losses is provided (for the year ended 31
December 2021, the Group performed impairment assessment on pledged bank deposits and
bank balances, and concluded that the probability of defaults of the counterparty banks are

insignificant and accordingly, no allowance for credit losses is provided.)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RGBSR R

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

% BRRHEMEMREA

2022 2021

20224 20214F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHT FHB7T

Trade payables B REIIE 310,205 598717

Accrued operating expenses PR ERE 61,780 66,433

Accrued salaries st 35,868 43927

Other taxes payable HMEMARZ 30,304 33,374

Accrued royalties fEstHEEREE 19,581 14,281

Refundable deposits received BWARERE 7,106 9,527

Amount due to non-controlling shareholders (note) INEF e SN () 6,543 7517

Deferred government grant EEBUT FEBh 1,724 3,930

Dividend payable EARE 3,779 974

Others Hith 3,893 12,471

170,578 192,434

Total trade and other payables B 5 R B RIB4REE 480,783 791,151

Less: P

Non-current portion of deferred government grant RTS8 2 FERNEREE 73 (1,325) (1,863)

Current portion BRERER 73 479,458 789,288
Note: The amount was unsecured, non-trade nature, interest-free and repayable on demand. Mz ZRBAREOE -FEZHEE -RE

BERREREE-

Included in trade and other payables above amounting to HK$46,607,000 (2021:
HK$82,717,000) had been settled by endorsed bills for which the maturity dates of the

bills receivables are not yet fallen due as at the end of the Reporting Period (note 22).

SALRBE S R HEME TR
46,607,000 7T (20214 : 82,717,0007
T HUERERREN HEKRER

EREIE AR RS AR REE (K

£92) o

BEEBEERAA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e RRMEE

26 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued) % BHREMEMNTRIE @
The credit period of trade payables ranged from 30 to 60 days. The following is the BSEMRENEEBRNF30E60
aging analysis of trade payables based on invoice date. H> MEEZEHRLINEZRMAR
IERERE DT ¢
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TFHTT
Within 30 days 30BBLA 181,775 335,104
31 to 60 days 31E60H 63,255 150515
61 to 90 days 61E90H 24,331 43,499
91 to 180 days 91ZE180H 26,355 51,281
Over 180 days B 180H 14,489 18318
310,205 598,717
27  BILL PAYABLES 7 EAEE

The following is the aging analysis of bill payables at the end of the Reporting Periods

presented based on bills issue dates:

UFAREHARERHAAHRZES
BN EERE D

2022 2021

20224 202145

HK$°000 HK$'000

F#ET FHB7T

Within 30 days 30BUA 5,233 6,182
31 to 60 days 31E60H - 6,181
61 to 90 days 61290H - 8,530
91 to 180 days 91E180H - 14,836
5,233 35,729

Bill payables were secured by pledged bank deposits of HK$I,174,000 as at 3|

December 2021 and guaranteed by the Company and certain of its subsidiaries.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RGBSR R

UNSECURED BANK BORROWINGS 28 EIKIPIRITRERR
2022 2021
20224 20216
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TFAT
Trade financing BEmE 335,106 401,557
Revolving borrowings BIRE™M 119,900 100,400
Term borrowings TEHET 67,253 86,316
522,259 588,273

All bank borrowings carry a variable-rate interest with reference to Hong Kong
Interbank Offered Rate, London Interbank Offered Rates and Hong Kong Prime Rate

plus a specific margin of the relevant banks.

The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also equal to contracted interest rates)

on the Group's borrowings, are as follows:

BB RRTERREERTE
ERE RIBETRERFERETER
BERAEERBTHREN BR
I%\o

FEENERBERM X (HTEER
STHIRIZ) BEIM T

2022 2021
20224F 2021

Effective interest rates (per annum): BEAX (8F)
Variable-rate borrowings FEIFEER

1.23%-7.71% 1.23%-4.90%

The Group’s borrowings that are denominated in currencies other than HK$ are set

AEELUBTUINEBSIERER

out below: HHWMT
2022 2021
20224F 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
EUR Bl 7T = 764
Us$ Eiv 93,551 75,002

BEEBEERAA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR G MR MTEE

28  UNSECURED BANK BORROWINGS (continued) 28 EIKIPIRITER (@
The Group's banking facilities are secured by the corporate guarantees given by REBZRTHEUEAB RAAF]
the Company and certain subsidiaries of the Company except for a guarantee at ETHBRABMRERHRZ AEERAIR
RMB 3,200,000 (2021: RMBI,320,000) the bank facilities granted to a subsidiary of the #o AR 132000007 (20215 :
Group was provided by a non-controlling shareholder of this subsidiary of the Group. AE51,320,0007T) BVHERERIN » 3B

Ry BAASEE BN E QB IFER
BRRAEEEZMEARERTHIR

TRIEMmRE M
29 SHARE CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY 29 EATRRAE
Number of
shares Amount
RiIZ&E &%
'000 HK$'000
T FET
Ordinary shares of HK$0. each SREE0IBTHNEER
Authorised: EE
At | January 2021, 31 December 2021 and 20211 BIE 2021 ENRB3IBE
31 December 2022 20224128318 10,000,000 1,000,000
Number of
shares
e E
'000 HK$'000
T FEx
Issued and fully paid: BRTRER
At | January 2021, 31 December 2021 and P020FEIBIE 2021 ENRA3IBR
31 December 2022 20224128313 1,750,002 175,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

On 4 March 2014, a share option scheme was adopted by the shareholders of the
Company (the "Post-IPO Share Option Scheme"). The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
becomes valid and effective on [0 July 2014 and will expire on the business day
preceding the tenth anniversary thereof. Subject to the rules of the Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme, grantees may exercise the share options granted under the Post-IPO
Share Option Scheme at any time during the period commencing from the date of

grant and up to such expiry date as determined by the Board.

The purpose of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme is to provide incentive or reward
to the eligible participants with an opportunity to acquire the equity interests in the
Company, for their contributions to, and continuing efforts to promote the interest of
the Group or for such other purposes as the board of directors of the Company may
approve from time to time, linking their interests with the interests of the Group and
thereby attracting and encouraging those parties to work better for the interests of the

Group.

The eligible participants include any full-time or part-time employees, executives or
officers (including executive, non-executive and independent non-executive directors)
of the Company or any of its subsidiaries and any suppliers, customers, consultants,
agents and advisers who, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, will contribute

or have contributed to the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RRMEE

30

288

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (continued)

The subscription price of a share of the Company in respect of any particular share
option granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme shall be such price as the
directors of the Company in its absolute discretion shall determine, save that such
price shall at least be the higher of (i) the closing price of the shares of the Company
as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheet on the date of grant, which
must be a day on which the Stock Exchange is open for the business of dealing in
securities; (i) the average of the closing prices of the shares of the Company as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the five business days immediately

preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s share.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which share options may be granted
under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme and under any other share option schemes
of the Group must not in aggregate exceed 0% of the total number of shares of the
Company in issue at the Listing Date (without taking into account any shares that may
be issued upon the full exercise of the options granted pursuant to the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme), being 165,000,000 shares of the company (“Option Limit"). Options
which have lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
(or any other share option schemes of the Company) will not be counted for the
purpose of calculating the Option Limit. Subject to the approval of the shareholders of
the Company, the Company may refresh the Option Limit at any time provided that (i)
the Option Limit as refreshed does not exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in
issue as at the date of the approval by the shareholders of the Company; and (i) the
options previously granted (including those outstanding, cancelled, lapsed in accordance
with the provisions of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme or exercised options) will
not be counted for the purpose of calculating the Option Limit as refreshed. The
Company may also, with the approval of the shareholders of the Company, grant
share options in respect of shares of the Company in excess of the Option Limit
(as refreshed from time to time) to eligible participants specifically identified by the

Company before such approval is sought.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (continued)

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding share options granted and vet to be exercised under the Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Group at any time shall not
exceed 30% of the issued shares of the Company from time to time. No share options
shall be granted under any schemes of the Company (including the Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme) if this will result in the 30% limit being exceeded.

The total number of shares issued and which fall to be issued upon exercise of the
share options granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Group (including both exercised and outstanding options) to
each grantee in any |2-month period up to the date of offer to grant shall not exceed
19 of the shares of the Company in issue as at the date of offer to grant. Any further
grant of share options in excess of this 1% limit shall be subject to shareholders'

approval in a general meeting.

In addition, any grant of share options to a director; chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company or any of their respective associates is required to be
approved by the independent non-executive directors (excluding any independent
non-executive director who is proposed to be an option holder) of the Company.
If the Company proposes to grant share options to a substantial shareholder or any
independent non-executive director of the Company or their respective associates
which will result in the number of shares of the Company issued and to be issued
upon exercise of share options granted and to be granted (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) to such person in the 12-month period up to and including
the date of offer of such grant representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares of
the Company in issue; and having an aggregate value in excess of HK$5 million, based
on the closing price of the Company's shares at the date of offer of each grant, such
further grant of share options will be subject to, in addition to the approval of the
independent non-executive directors, the approval of shareholders of the Company in

general meeting.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR G MR MTEE

30 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 0 BRETE @

The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (continued) BRAREERBRESS (@

TRERERFERES SMEERE
REEFENAAGDEREZE

The below table discloses movements of the Company's share options held by the

Group's directors, senior management and employees:

290

Outstanding Outstanding
Outstanding Lapsed at Lapsed at
at during 3| December during 3| December
Options Vesting period Exercise period | January 2021 the year 2021 the year 2022
120215 120215 12008
IAIB 12A318 12A318
Bk BRH Tfesm HATE REAKE  EHRTE  RERKRY ERITE
(Note) (Note)
(H3) (H3)
Directors
EZ
Tranche | 2601.2017-2601.2018  2601.2018 - 25.01.2023 3,600,000 - 3,600,000 - 3,600,000
s WI7EIBUEE WIBFIFWAE
2018%F 1 A26H 2023F 18250
Tranche 2 26012017-26012019 26012019 - 25012024 3,600,000 - 3,600,000 - 3,600,000
e WITEIBWAE WIEIBWAE
2019%1 8268 202418258
7,200,000 - 7,200,000 - 7,200,000
Senior management
BREERE
Tranche | 26012017-26012018 26012018 -25.01.2023 950,000 - 950,000 (250,000) 700,000
s WI7EIABEE WIBFIABAE
2018F 15268 2023F 15250
Tranche 2 26012017-26012019 26012019 - 25012024 950,000 - 950,000 (250,000) 700,000
BT WI7EIBUEE WIYEIFUEE
20191 B26H 200451 B25H
1,900,000 - 1,900,000 (500,000) 1,400,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (continued)

e RRMEE

0 FERESE (8

BRAREERBRIESS (8

Outstanding Outstanding
Outstanding Lapsed at Lapsed at
at during 31 December during 31 December
Options Vesting period Exercise period | January 2021 the year 2021 the year 2022
Ll I3 g
IAIA 128318 128318
faliE BRH TR HATHE RERKH  EHRTE RERRE HXITE
(Note) (Note)
(Hiz) (Hiz)
Employee
&5
Tranche | 2601.2017-2601.2018  2601.2018 - 2501.2023 5,700,000 (150,000) 5,550,000 (300,000) 5,250,000
Eoii” WI7EIABEE WI8FIAHE
2018%F 1 B26H 2003% 1A 25H
Tranche 2 26012017 -26012019 26012019 - 25012024 5,700,000 (150,000) 5,550,000 (300,000) 5,250,000
ETH WI7EIFUEE WIYEIFUEE
019F 1 A26H 202451 A25H
1,400,000 (300,000) 1,100,000 (600,000) 10,500,000
20,500,000 (300,000) 20,200,000 (1,100,000) 19,100,000
Exercisable at the end of the reporting period 20,500,000 20,200,000 19,100,000
RREARTFIE
Note: Three (2021: one) eligible participants, who have been granted share options under Mg 34 (20214 18) IREE AR

the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme have ceased to be eligible participants upon
termination of employment and the said share options have automatically lapsed. The
lapsed share options amounting to HK$223,000 (2021: HK$61,000) are transferred

from share options reserve to retained profits.

BEEBEERAA

ERBREHERBRENSER
SHRERBIIBEBGRTIEAS
Eif28E M InERECBEHE
o %% A #223,0008 7 (2021 4F
61,0008 7) ZBRMERECHER
ERESRZREEN -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e RRMEE

30 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 30

The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (continued)

Details of the share options granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme are as

follows:

fERetEstE ()

BRAREERBRIESS (8

REERAREERBREFERY
MEBRESENT

Number of Fair value

share options Exercise per share

Date of grant granted Exercise period price option

&

" PRt

REBH MBRERE 1T T1EE ZATE

HKS HKS

BT BT

Tranche | — Directors 26012017 3,750,000 26.01.2018-25.01.2023 0.69 0.2022
E—H-E= 201751 8268 201851 H26HE
20231 B25H

Tranche | — Senior management ~ 26.01.2017 950,000 26.01.2018-25.01.2023 0.69 0.2041
F-H-BREER 201751 8268 201851 H26HE
20231 B25H

Tranche | — Employee 26012017 10,700,000 26.01.2018-25.01.2023 0.69 0.2041
E—H—EE 201741 8268 201851 H26HE
20231 B25H

Tranche 2 — Directors 26012017 3,750,000 26.01.2019-25.01.2024 0.69 0.2002
EH-B= 201751 8268 20191 F26AE
202491 B25H

Tranche 2 — Senior management ~ 26.01.2017 950,000 26.01.2019-25.01.2024 0.69 0.2027
FIHM-BREER 201751 8268 20191 H26BE
202491 B25H

Tranche 2 — Employee 26012017 10,700,000 26.01.2019-25.01.2024 0.69 0.2027
E_H—EE 201741 8268 20191 F26AE

202451 B25H

For share options outstanding at the end of the reporting period, the weighted average

remaining contractual lives is 0.57 years (2021: 1.57 years).

The fair value of the share options at the grant date, calculated using the Binomial
Model was approximately HK$6,249,000. The Group did not recognise any expense
(2021: Nil) for the year ended 31 December 2022 in relation to the share options
under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme granted by the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RGBSR R

31 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

@

3 WEELERE

Reconciliation of (loss)/profit before taxation to net cash generated from @ PRRAT (551 RFECEELER
operations: ERENHER
2022 2021
2022 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TATT
(Loss)/profit before income tax BRFTSIAT (B518) /& (49,210) 37,869
Adjustments for: RT5IRIERE
Amortisation of intangible assets B EEHH 1,778 1,778
Depreciation of investment properties REMERE 2,039 2211
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  ¥)Z B KRB ITE 73,028 70,153
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEENE 91,657 86,084
Finance costs MR 46,027 38941
Impairment losses under expected credit loss ~ TAERE BESERNIET 2R ERIE
model 17,938 4715
Interest income FIEBA (4,797) (4212)
Gain on change in fair value of trade BEHMEEWGEEATETIRY
receivables at fair value through other B 5 RINEIE 2 A EEE RS
comprehensive income (294) (105)
Gain on early termination of right-of-use assets e RAX ILFRAREEZ W@ (31) (463)
Loss on early termination of sublease RERIEDHAZEBE - 225
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property plant and HEME -BERREZ
equipment (#518) /Wi z 1,819 (166)
Provision for inventories GERE 4,741 12971

BEEBEERAA

WINEFEERSE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR G MR MTEE

31 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS (continued) 3 REEYRE B
(@)  Reconciliation of (loss)/profit before taxation to net cash generated from @ PRRAT (551 RFECEELER
operations: (continued) EFEHER . (@
2022 2021
2022F 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FHT
Operating profit before working capital changes =18 B &2 85| 2 &= 5 184,695 250,001
Changes in working capital: EEESE .
Changes in inventories FEEE) 126,814 (131,580)
Changes in trade and other receivables B 5 REMENIEES) 182,621 (18,863)
Changes in trade receivables at fair value BPBREMEPERGERATEIIERZ
through other comprehensive income B2 RGeS 17,165 (15,656)
Changes in bill receivables N REEE 16,123 (15716)
Changes in trade and other payables B 5 REMENTIERE) (280,555) 120,827
Changes in contract liabilities BHEEES) (2,530) 2411
Changes in bill payables FE (T 4R 8D (28,195) (8,116)
Changes in net investment in sublease DR EFEEE 798 828
Changes in deferred government grant RIEBUN 1 Bh 8 (2,040) (354)
Net cash generated from operations KEELREPE 214,896 183,782
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS (continued)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment

3l

e RRMEE

REEERE B

b HEME-BERREZFISRE

In the consolidated cash flow statements, proceeds from disposal of property, RiaREREXRT HEY
plant and equipment comprise: X BERRBEZMERELS
&
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TAT
Net book amount: BREFE -
Property, plant and equipment (note |5) I R Rkt (5E15) 6,904 5275
(Loss)/gain on disposal of property, plant and HEME -BERREZ
equipment (note 7) (&518) Mz (H5E7) (1,819) 166
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and HEME BREREEZ
equipment PiG IS 5,085 5441
BEEERRAE 2002F5EHS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= A =
in e TS ERRMIEE
31 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS (continued) 3 KEEYRE @
() Net debt reconciliation © IFEEHE
Unsecured
bank Lease Dividend
borrowings liabilities payable Total
it
RITE™M HE&R FEfTiR R =L
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Net debt as at | January 2021 73202151 B 1HHY
FER (547.224) (238,224) - (785,448)
Financing cash flows METHER (30,567) 81,563 486 55,857
Non-cash changes: FEREEH)
Finance costs b IB®N - (16952) - (16,952)
Net movement of leases HEZEFHE - (181,712) - (181712)
Dividends declared to BERTIFERERZZEE
non-controlling interests - - (5,835) (5,835)
Foreign exchange translation SMEEHATE (10,482) (1,271) - (11,753)
Net debt as at 1202151283188
31 December 2021 Faf (588,273) (356,596) (974) (945,843)
Financing cash flows MERER 82,757 105,636 20962 209,355
Non-cash changes: RS &)
Finance costs AR - (18,180) - (18,180)
Net movement of leases HEEHFEE - (34,267) - (34,267)
Dividends declared to EERTREZRE
shareholders - - (7,000) (7,000)
Dividends declared to EERTIFZERER
non-controlling interests ZRE - - (16,767) (16,767)
Foreign exchange translation SMERE (16,743) 3,666 - (13,077)
Net debt as at R2002E 12 A31BE
31 December 2022 FEE (522,259) (299,741) (3.779) (825,779)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 32

Other than as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, the

Group has the following transactions and balances with related parties:

e RRMEE

g INE

BRREFEREHMBRRAMBOPIKE
S AEBBERER 25 RERT
T

Relationship Nature of transactions/balances 2022 2021
S X5/ GERNE 20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TAT
Fellow subsidiary Interest expenses on lease liabilities incurred
during the year 695 359
BEGIEAG FRFFEEHEEREZFERAX
Fellow subsidiary Lease liabilities as at year end - 18,050
FRKEAT FRZHEEEE

In addition, certain trademarks owned by fellow subsidiaries of the Company were

used by the Group free of charge during both years.

Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors and other member of key management during the

reporting period was as follows:

5 *EERMEEERNRE R
ETARARZNBLADEENE

R

TEEEASNMHE

EERHEMTEEEEMENRRSH
ByFFENED T

2022 2021

20225 20214

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Salaries and allowances e RoRak 13,290 13,307
Performance related incentive payments RIERAREI T 1,024 3,000
Retirement benefit schemes contributions BIREFFHEI 152 158
14,466 16,465

BEEERBEMRAA 2002FERES
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33 COMMITMENTS UNDER OPERATING LEASES B EEHERTZEE
The Group as lessor FEBBHHEA
Property rental income earned during the year was HK$10,948,000 (2021: RERBRZWERSTKRAS
HK$16,144,000) and all of the properties held for rental purpose have committed 10,948,0005 7C (20214F & 16,144,0007
lessees for the next few months to eighteen years (2021: few months to nineteen 7T) R BB ZME
years). MERKRBBE+/N\F (20215 :

BAE+NE) HEEAGEABEA

Minimum lease payments receivable on leases are as follows: HEERKNREEEREBENT
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$000 HK$'000
FAET TBT
Within one year —FR 2,660 15314
In the second year FTF 2,660 12,652
In the third year B 2,661 2,283
In the fourth year ErNF 194 209
In the fifth year ERF 194 210
After five years HEMNE 1,149 1,355
9,518 32,023
34  CAPITAL COMMITMENTS M BPEE
Significant capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the Reporting Periods but RBSHRETNELREIAEE
not recognised as liabilities is as follows: NWEAERFEZNT :
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET TBT

Capital expenditure in respect of acquisition of property, FLUTEYIZE BB MREETL
plant and equipment contracted for but not provided BRI G R T EHE
in the consolidated financial statements RN 3,143 7,887
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35

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

Particulars of the Company's principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Issued and fully
paid share capital/

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e RRMEE

3B FARTEMRBARFE
/NS YNSIEE

Proportion of share capital/

registered capital/

Place of registered capital/ charter capital/quota capital

incorporation/ charter capital/ and voting power held

operations/ quota capital by the Company

establishment BETRBERS, FARFEREEMERS
Name of subsidiary ML AMEL/HHEL S KBS BEEL  Principal activities
MEAEHE BE /R BREEF R RIERLLH TEEH

At 3| December
1®12A318
2022 2021
200F 20216

Directly owned
ERRE
Treasure Range Holdings Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$27 100% 100%  Investment holding

& EBRLBT REER
Indlirectly owned
BEEE
Ascension International Development Limited The BVI Ordinary shares US$| 100% 100% Investment holding
BEERERERAT KERUEE EBERER REER
Fullelite Limited The BVI Ordinary shares US$10 100% 100%  Investment holding
BEBRAT EBRERHEE  EBERIOET REER
Year Prosper Limited The BVI Ordinary shares US$10 100% 100% Investment holding
RERRRT EERUEE  EBRIOET REER
Wonderful Health Limited The BVI Ordinary shares US$10 100% 100% Investment holding

RERUESE  EBRIET REER
Trade Sincere Limited The BVI Ordinary shares US$100 85% 85% Investment holding
BHARAT EBELHEE  EBBRIOET REER
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35  PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY 35 EATNTEMBATFE @

(continued)

Issued and fully Proportion of share capital/
paid share capital/ registered capital/
Place of registered capital/ charter capital/quota capital
incorporation/ charter capital/ and voting power held
operations/ quota capital by the Company
establishment BRTRBERE,/ FARFEREEfERS
Name of subsidiary ML AfMEL/HHEESS RFER BEEX  Principal activities
MEAEHE gE/mIhE REES R RIERLLH TEEH
At 3| December
1*12A318
2022 2021
200F 20214
Sinomax International Investment Limited The BVI Ordinary shares US$10 100% 100% Investment holding and
DR AERKRERRRAE HEBEZHEE  EERIET provision of treasury
management services
REERREHENE
EERE
Sinomax Health & Household Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% 100% Retail and wholesale of health
Products Limited B HK$ 1,000,000 and household products
DRERERXERRBRAT E 3B 1,000,000 7T TERMERERE
Em
Sinomax International Trading Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% 100% Trading of health and
DR REREZERAE B HK$10,000 household products
E AR 100007 BRERREEREE
Dongguan Sinohome Limited* (note ) The PRC Registered capital 100% 100% Manufacture and sale of
REBERXERRERAR M) & HK$32,000000 health and household
HMEA products
32,000,000%7% NERBERBRRRE
Em
Shandong Sinomax Household The PRC Registered capital 100% 100%  Processing, manufacturing and
Products and Technology Limited*® e RMB30,000,000 sales of polyurethane foam
(note ) AMERARE NI RERFERRE
\REERERRBRAT () 30,000,0007T 2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

Issued and fully
paid share capital/

e RRMEE

3 FATTEMBARFE @

Proportion of share capital/

registered capital/

Place of registered capital/ charter capital/quota capital
incorporation/ charter capital/ and voting power held
operations/ quota capital by the Company
establishment BRIRBERE,/ FARFEREEfERS
Name of subsidiary ML AfMEL/HHEESS RFER BEEX  Principal activities
MEAEHE gE/mIhE REES RIRRHMNLLH TEEH
At 3| December
1*12A318
2022 2021
200F 20214
Shanghai Luen Tai Polyurethane The PRC Registered capital 100% 100% Sales of polyurethane foam
Co, Ltd* (note 1) H RMB20,000,000 HERRRBK
LEBREHRERAE (M) AMERARE
20,000,0007T
Sinohome Household Products The PRC Registered capital 100% 100% Retail and wholesale of health
(Shenzhen) Limited* (note 1) e HK$1,000,000 and household products
BERERAR (R BRAR AfMER TERMERERE
(P5ED) 1,000,000 7T Em
Sinomax (Zhejiang) Polyurethane The PRC Registered capital 100% 100% Manufacture and sale of
Technology Limited * (note ) H US$52,000,000 health and household
i (D ZREFMHERL AMER products
(B5ED) 5200000057 RERBERRRRE
Em
Sinomax Kuka (Zhejiang) Foam Co. The PRC Registered capital 51% 51% Manufacture and sale of
Limited* (note 2) (“Sinomax Kuka") H US$2,100,000 polyurethane foam
HIRERERERBRAR AMER MERFEERAELA
(f5E2) (MEEBRER)) 2,100000% 7T

BEEERBEMRAA 2002FERES



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR G MR MTEE

35

302

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

Issued and fully
paid share capital/

3 FATTEMBARFE @

Proportion of share capital/

registered capital/

Place of registered capital/ charter capital/quota capital
incorporation/ charter capital/ and voting power held
operations/ quota capital by the Company
establishment BRIRBERE,/ ERAREREFMELS/
Name of subsidiary ML AfMEL/HHEESS RFER BEEX  Principal activities
MEAR M KE /RN BREEE RIRRHMNLLH TELH
At 3| December
1128318
2022 2021
200F 20215
Sinomax Macao Commercial Macau Quota capital N/A [00% Wholesale of health and
Offshore Limited (note 3) il MOP100,000 FEH household products
PR EREERAT FEERME HERRRREER
(P5E3) 100,0007¢
Sinomax USA, Inc. The US 100 shares of common stock 100% 100% Wholesale of health and
EE] of no par value household products
IR EREEEBR HERELREER
Sinomax East, Inc. The US | share of common stock 100% 100% Manufacture of health and
EE] with no par value household products
IREREESBR NERERREER
Dormeo North America, LLC The US Issued and fully paid share 51.31% 51.31% Investment holding
(“Dormeo’) ES5] capital US$50,481,560 RERR
("Dormeo ] ) BETRARERAR

50481,560% 7T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

Issued and fully
paid share capital/

e RRMEE

3 FATTEMBARFE @

Proportion of share capital/
registered capital/

Place of registered capital/ charter capital/quota capital
incorporation/ charter capital/ and voting power held
operations/ quota capital by the Company
establishment BRTRBERE,/ FARREREHRES/
Name of subsidiary ML AfMEL/HHEESS RFER BEEX  Principal activities
MEAEHE gE/mIhE REES R RIERLLH TEEH
At 3| December
1*12A318
2022 2021
200F 20214
Dormeo Canada Limited Canada 1,000 shares of common 51.31% 51.31% Retall and wholesale of health
(previously known as MEKX stock of no par value and household products
TSTV Canada Limited) I 0008 EEE BB ZERMERERR
Dormeo Canada Limited Em
(RIFBTSTV Canada Limited)
Sinomax (Vietnam) Polyurethane Vietnam Charter capital 100% 100% Manufacture and sale of
Technology Limited (note 1) HiE US$1,100,000 polyurethane foam
Sinomax (Vietnam) Polyurethane B ER RERHERDEDE
Technology Limited (3 1) 1,100,000% ¢
Sinomax (Vietnam) Household Vietnam Charter capital 100% 100% Manufacture and sale of
Products Limited (note |) [ US$1,500,000 health and household
Sinomax (Vietnam) Household HTEA products
Products Limited (1) | 500,000% 7T RERHERRRRE
Em
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PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

Notes:

(1) The companies are registered in the form of wholly foreign owned enterprise.

(2)  The companies are registered in the form of sino-foreign equity joint venture.

(3)  The company ceased business on 30 November 2021.
All the principal subsidiaries operate predominantly in their respective places of incorporation/
establishment. None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of or any

time during the reporting periods.

* English translated name is for identification purpose only.

Sinomax Group Limited 2022 Annual Report

35

FARTEMBARFE @

() ZEFERIUIEBECETL M-

Q) ZERAUFHEELERAEM.

Q) ZABR02EIIB0REFEE.

FMETENBARTENEZBEMMAL/

MIMELE - HERREADNRSHRA
P EmERETEREERSo



36

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Place of establishment

and principal place

e RRMEE

3% JEERRfEL

Proportion of ownership

interests and voting rights held  Profit/(loss) allocated to  Accumulated non-controlling

Name of subsidiary of business by non-controlling interests ~ non-controlling interests interests
Bl 3L 3t B Re FREERIERFIR R NEEFEREDZ
MEARRE TEERME R RIRFEEN LS i®H, (8518) RetFrmiRigs
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
20224 20214 20224 20214 20224 20215
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET
Sinomax Kuka The PRC 49% 49% 16,278 24,392 50,857 55,759
PHEABRK a3
Dormeo usS 48.69% 48.69% (17,159) (8,244) (50,405) (33,246)
ES
Individually immaterial subsidiary with (334) (18) (8,713) (8,714)
non-controlling interests
FAEIFERED @R
FERWEAR
(1,215) 16,130 (8,261) 13,799
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iR G MR MTEE

36 NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued) 36 FEIEREE (@)
(a)  Sinomax Kuka @ EEERAREX
Summarised financial information in respect of each of Group’s subsidiaries that EMAEEEREARFTRRE
had material non-controlling interests is set out below. The summarised financial i B & B B 2 B 89 B 75 B LR
information below represents amounts before the elimination of intragroup TEHIMT o UT B BE R
transactions. TIEREEERAR BRI 228
At 3| December
128318
2022 2021
20224 20214F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHTT
Current assets MENEE 158,365 215,499
Non-current assets FERBEE 19,331 28,505
Current liabilities ViEII=E (73.906) (130,209)
Net assets BEFE 103,790 113,795
Total equity attributable to MR AT G iRRE
— owners of the Company VI UNCIE = DN 52,933 58036
— non-controlling interests —JEERER 50,857 55,759
103,790 113,795
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36

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued)

@

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RGBSR R

Sinomax Kuka (continued)

36

JEsERR R ()

@ EEEERE@

Year ended 31 December

BENAIHLEEE

2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHBT
Revenue WA 417,594 646932
Expenses 553 (384,373) (597,152)
Profit for the year FREF] 33,221 49,780
Profit for the year attributable to TN LG E AT
— owners of the Company . YNCIEZZ=DN 16,943 25,388
— non-controlling interests —JEERER 16,278 24,392
33,221 49,780
Other comprehensive (expense)/income TATEEFREMEE
for the year attributable to (FIx2) /W
— owners of the Company e VNCIEZ 2SN (4,593) 1,866
— non-controlling interests —IEPER R (4,413) 1,793
(9,006) 3,659
Total comprehensive income for the year THALTEREFENEER G
attributable to
— owners of the Company o VNCIE 2= DN 12,350 27,254
— non-controlling interests —JEER S 11,865 26,185
24,215 53439
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests IRNTFIEERERZRE 16,767 5,835
Net cash inflow from operating activities BEEHZIRERAEHE 42,230 45,387
Net cash outflow from investing activities BRERHZRERLEE (4,074) (6,617)
Net cash outflow from financing activities MEEBzREMEEE (48,112) (14,320)
Net cash (outflow)/inflow Be (Rd) /AP (9,956) 24,450

BEEBEERAA

WINEFEERSE
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iR G MR MTEE

36 NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued)

(b) Dormeo

36

JEsERR R ()

() Dormeo

At 31 December

128318

2022 2021

20224 2021 €

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHET FHEIT

Current assets MEEE 83,705 87,000
Non-current assets FERBEE 118,807 120,531
Current liabilities MENEE (262,347) (231,750)
Non-current liabilities FEREEE (43,688) (44.061)
Net assets BEEZE (103,523) (68,280)

Total equity attributable to MR ARG R

— owners of the Company —RREHEB A (53,118) (35,034)

— non-controlling interests —JEERER (50,405) (33,246)
(103,523) (68,280)
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36 NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued) 36 JEHERIED (B
(b) Dormeo (continued) )  Domeo (48)

Year ended 31 December

BENAIHLEEE

2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHBT
Revenue LON 244,798 216469
Expenses 553 (278,637) (233,401)
Loss for the year FREE (33,839) (16,932)
Loss for the year attributable to THA LG EREE
— owners of the Company —RREHEB A (17,363) (8,688)
— non-controlling interests —JEERER (16,476) (8,244)
(33,839) (16932)
Total comprehensive expense for the year THATEEFRE AR L5
attributable to
— owners of the Company e VNCIE/ 2SN (18,085) (8,688)
— non-controlling interests — RS (17,159) (8,244)
(35,244) (16932)
Net cash outflow from operating activities REEH AR 2 (4,615) (36,687)
Net cash inflow from investing activities REZHNZIBERAFEE 18,135 (2,388)
Net cash outflow from financing activities MEEHZIRERHEE (13,987) 37,820
Net cash outflow REMEFEE (467) (1,255)
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e RRMEE

37
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION AND RESERVES OF

THE COMPANY

FATNMBER R fRERE

2022 2021
20226 2021 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FAET

Non-current asset ERBEE
Interests in subsidiaries N EPANGIEoL 5 779,389 779,389

Current assets TMENEE
Other receivables HAthREWRIE 563 565
Bank balances and cash RGBS 113 285
676 850
Current liabilities mEaE

Other payables HARETRIE 458 95
Amounts due to subsidiaries S B ATIE 77414 67,234
77,872 67,329
Net current liabilities mERERE (77,196) (66,479)
Total assets less current liabilities MEERRSAE 702,193 712910

Capital and reserves BARRH#E
Share capital & 175,000 175,000
Reserves HE 527,193 537910
Total equity B 702,193 712910

Sinomax Group Limited 2022 Annual Report
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4= A
777 g |

TSR R MIE

37  STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION AND RESERVES OF 37 FRARNHBENRERRE (@
THE COMPANY (continued)
Movements in the Company’s reserves TNEEEEE)
Share
Share Capital options Retained
premium reserve reserve profits Total
fERR1E
RITVEE REGHE #E  REE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET THET TET FTBT
At | January 2021 R2020%F 1 A18 404,520 (5) 4598 132,542 541,655
Loss and total comprehensive FRNBEREE
expense for the year P 48%R - - - (3,745) (3,745)
Lapse of share options g PR - - (61 6l -
At 31 December 202 0215128318 404,520 () 4,537 128,858 537910
Loss and total comprehensive FANBEREE
expense for the year P 48%E - - - (3.717) (3717)
Dividend paid BURE - - - (7,000) (7,000)
Lapse of share options IR - - (223) 223 -
At 31 December 2022 120225128318 404,520 5) 4314 118,364 527,193

BEEBEERAA

WINEFEERSE
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

hEMBREE

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial

FEERBELEAMREREZRZEURE

years, as extracted from the audited consolidated financial statements is set out below: ERGERE (BRaKBERESHHER
=) BAOT
RESULTS E
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
20226 20214 20204 20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHET FATT FATT FHATT
Revenue WA 3,151,960 459,882 3,231,701 2997321 4263322
(Loss)/profit before tax PRiRAD (B518) H&E A (49,210) 37,869 69,002 (146,002) 27,586
Income tax credit/(expenses) PRSIk (FZ) 12,025 (6,434) (7,948) (66,000) (22,744)
(Loss)/profit for the year TR (B18) ad) (37,185) 31,435 61,054 (212,002) 4842
Attributable to: T AT
Owners of the Company RREHEB A (35,970) 15,305 58,523 (216,509) (5,801)
Non-controlling interest FEER R (1,215) 16,130 2,53 4,507 10,643
(37,185) 31,435 61,054 (212,002) 4842
ASSET AND LIABILITIES BERERE
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
20024 202145 20205 20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET TR R FHET
Total assets BEEE 2,237,942 2,828,870 2514210 2,406,763 2903219
Total liabilities BREE (1,351,002) (1,822,252) (1,557,751 (1,541,755) (1,677,376)
Total equity T 4R%E 886,940 1,006,618 956,459 865,008 1,225,843
Attributable to: TN
Owners of the Company RREHEBA 895,201 992,819 95451 | 854962 1,079,429
Non-controlling interest Bl el (8,261) 13,799 1,948 10,046 146,414
886,940 1,006,618 956,459 865,008 1,225,843
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